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The following table presents the summarized consolidated results of the Group for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the financial positions as of December 31, 2004 and 2003.The 2003
amounts have been restated following the adoption of a new accounting standard in 2004. Certain
prior-year balances have also been reclassified to conform to the 2004 presentation.

Consolidated operating statements
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross written premiums and policy fees 49,304 48,805 1%

Business operating profit 3,143 2,316 36%

Net income 2,587 2,009 29%

Consolidated balance sheets
in USD millions, as of December 31

Total Group investments 191,100 175,967 9%

Insurance reserves, gross 246,162 223,418 10%

Total shareholders’ equity 22,181 18,934 17%

General Insurance key performance indicators
for the years ended December 31

Business operating profit (in USD millions) 1,380 2,146 (36%)

Combined ratio 101.6% 97.9% (3.7 pts)

Life Insurance key performance indicators
for the years ended December 31

Business operating profit (in USD millions) 1,063 856 24%

New business profit margin (as % of APE) 11.4% 9.0% 2.4 pts

Embedded value operating return, after tax 10.8% 10.5% 0.3 pts

Return on common stockholder equity
for the years ended December 31

Return on equity 13.3% 12.1% 1.2 pts

Business operating profit (after tax) return on equity 11.5% 9.8% 1.7 pts

Per share data
for the years ended December 31

Diluted earnings per share (in CHF) 22.18 18.86 18%
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Investor Inquiries
Investor Relations, Zurich Financial Services, Switzerland
Telephone: +41 (0) 1 625 22 99
E-mail: investor.relations@zurich.com

Share Register Services, Zurich Financial Services,
Switzerland
Telephone: +41 (0)1 625 22 55
E-mail: shareholder.services@zurich.com

Media Inquiries
Corporate Communications, 
Media and Public Relations
Zurich Financial Services, Switzerland
Telephone: +41 (0)1 625 21 00
E-mail: media@zurich.com

For more information, see our Web site at
www.zurich.com.

Zurich’s key market positions

2nd largest in general corporate business worldwide1

4th largest general insurer in the US2

4th largest general insurer in Europe3

North America – market positions

2nd largest writer of property and casualty commercial 
multi-peril insurance1

2nd largest product liability insurer2

3rd largest personal lines insurer1

Europe – market positions

2nd largest general insurer in Switzerland1

3rd largest life insurer in Switzerland1

2nd largest insurer of unit-linked products in Germany2

4th largest general and life insurer in Germany3

3rd largest general insurer in the UK4

4th largest home insurer in the UK5

4th largest motor insurer in the UK5

Market leader in international program business 6

We aspire to become the leading global insurance

group in our chosen general and life insurance

markets, consistently delivering top-tier results for

our shareholders.

By so doing, we will create strong relationships

with customers, agents and brokers and rewarding

opportunities for employees.

February 19

For 2003, Zurich reports a net income of USD 2.1

billion (since restated to USD 2.0 billion) after a loss

of USD 3.4 billion (including special provisions of

USD 3.5 billion after tax) in 2002.

March 11

Zurich appoints four banks to lead a USD 3 billion

revolving credit facility. Market interest is strong and

the facility is over-subscribed.

April 2

Zurich reinforces its strategic direction designed

to generate sustained and profitable growth.

With primary focus on General Insurance and Life

Insurance, Zurich has a diversified portfolio of

businesses across global corporate, commercial and

personal customer segments and geographical

regions.

April 16

Zurich’s Annual General Meeting approves a

nominal value reduction of its shares, resulting in

a payment to shareholders of CHF 2.50 per

registered share.

May 19

Zurich reports net income of USD 702 million (since

restated to USD 730 million) for the first three

months of 2004.

July 26

Zurich signs an agreement to outsource its global IT

applications in the US, UK, Switzerland and Germany

to Computer Sciences Corporation (CSC).

August 13

Hurricane Charley hits Florida, heralding the start

of six weeks of battering by Hurricanes Frances, Ivan

and Jeanne in the US and the Caribbean.

August 19

At half year 2004, Zurich reports a near doubling of

net income to USD1,448 million.

September 3

Zurich announces its intention to raise fixed rate

senior debt in the Euro market for refinancing

and general corporate purposes. The transaction

raises EUR 1 billion and is more than three

times over-subscribed.

November 17

Strong growth in net income for the first nine

months of 2004 to USD1,902 million is reported,

despite the impact of the most severe hurricane

season in more than a century.

December 26

As a result of a powerful earthquake in the Indian

Ocean, a disastrous tsunami sweeps through South

Asia, killing an estimated 300,000 people. Zurich

sets up a program to donate USD1million to

countries affected by the catastrophe and to match

up to USD1million in charitable contributions made

by thousands of our employees.

Rating agency Financial strength rating Rating outlook

A.M. Best A (excellent) Stable

Fitch Ratings A Positive

Moody’s A2 Positive

Standard & Poor’s A+ Stable

For additional information, see our Web site at www.zurich.com under the link Investor Relations.

A financial strength rating is a third-party assessment
of an insurance company’s financial security, based on

its ability to meet policyholder claims. As of
December 31, 2004, Zurich had the following ratings:

Business Year 2004

Our Aspiration Key Market Positions

Financial Strength Ratings

Contacts

1 based on gross written premiums 2003
Source: Zurich’s internal research and analysis

2 including Farmers Exchanges*, based on net written premiums 2003
Source: A.M. Best

3 based on gross written premiums 2003
Source: Peer company data

1 including Farmers Exchanges*, based on direct written premiums 2003
Source: A.M. Best

2 including Farmers Exchanges*, based on net written premiums 2003
Source: A.M. Best

*“Farmers Exchanges” refers to three reciprocal insurers, their
subsidiaries and affiliates operating mainly under the Farmers brand,
to which we provide management services but do not own.

1 based on direct written premiums 2003 
Source: Federal Office of Private Insurance

2 based on new business premiums 2003 
Source: Tillinghast

3 based on gross written premiums 2003 
Source: Kölner Institut für Versicherungsinformation

4 based on net earned premiums 2003 
Source: Moody’s Insurance Statistical Supplement

5 based on gross earned premiums 2003 
Source: Datamonitor UK Insurance Reports 2003

6 Source: Zurich’s internal research and analysis



Investor Inquiries
Investor Relations, Zurich Financial Services, Switzerland
Telephone: +41 (0) 1 625 22 99
E-mail: investor.relations@zurich.com

Share Register Services, Zurich Financial Services,
Switzerland
Telephone: +41 (0)1 625 22 55
E-mail: shareholder.services@zurich.com

Media Inquiries
Corporate Communications, 
Media and Public Relations
Zurich Financial Services, Switzerland
Telephone: +41 (0)1 625 21 00
E-mail: media@zurich.com

For more information, see our Web site at
www.zurich.com.

Zurich’s key market positions

2nd largest in general corporate business worldwide1

4th largest general insurer in the US2

4th largest general insurer in Europe3

North America – market positions

2nd largest writer of property and casualty commercial 
multi-peril insurance1

2nd largest product liability insurer2

3rd largest personal lines insurer1

Europe – market positions

2nd largest general insurer in Switzerland1

3rd largest life insurer in Switzerland1

2nd largest insurer of unit-linked products in Germany2

4th largest general and life insurer in Germany3

3rd largest general insurer in the UK4

4th largest home insurer in the UK5

4th largest motor insurer in the UK5

Market leader in international program business 6

We aspire to become the leading global insurance

group in our chosen general and life insurance

markets, consistently delivering top-tier results for

our shareholders.

By so doing, we will create strong relationships

with customers, agents and brokers and rewarding

opportunities for employees.

February 19

For 2003, Zurich reports a net income of USD 2.1

billion (since restated to USD 2.0 billion) after a loss

of USD 3.4 billion (including special provisions of

USD 3.5 billion after tax) in 2002.

March 11

Zurich appoints four banks to lead a USD 3 billion

revolving credit facility. Market interest is strong and

the facility is over-subscribed.

April 2

Zurich reinforces its strategic direction designed

to generate sustained and profitable growth.

With primary focus on General Insurance and Life

Insurance, Zurich has a diversified portfolio of

businesses across global corporate, commercial and

personal customer segments and geographical

regions.

April 16

Zurich’s Annual General Meeting approves a

nominal value reduction of its shares, resulting in

a payment to shareholders of CHF 2.50 per

registered share.

May 19

Zurich reports net income of USD 702 million (since

restated to USD 730 million) for the first three

months of 2004.

July 26

Zurich signs an agreement to outsource its global IT

applications in the US, UK, Switzerland and Germany

to Computer Sciences Corporation (CSC).

August 13

Hurricane Charley hits Florida, heralding the start

of six weeks of battering by Hurricanes Frances, Ivan

and Jeanne in the US and the Caribbean.

August 19

At half year 2004, Zurich reports a near doubling of

net income to USD1,448 million.

September 3

Zurich announces its intention to raise fixed rate

senior debt in the Euro market for refinancing

and general corporate purposes. The transaction

raises EUR 1 billion and is more than three

times over-subscribed.

November 17

Strong growth in net income for the first nine

months of 2004 to USD1,902 million is reported,

despite the impact of the most severe hurricane

season in more than a century.

December 26

As a result of a powerful earthquake in the Indian

Ocean, a disastrous tsunami sweeps through South

Asia, killing an estimated 300,000 people. Zurich

sets up a program to donate USD1million to

countries affected by the catastrophe and to match

up to USD1million in charitable contributions made

by thousands of our employees.

Rating agency Financial strength rating Rating outlook

A.M. Best A (excellent) Stable

Fitch Ratings A Positive

Moody’s A2 Positive

Standard & Poor’s A+ Stable

For additional information, see our Web site at www.zurich.com under the link Investor Relations.

A financial strength rating is a third-party assessment
of an insurance company’s financial security, based on

its ability to meet policyholder claims. As of
December 31, 2004, Zurich had the following ratings:

Business Year 2004

Our Aspiration Key Market Positions

Financial Strength Ratings

Contacts

1 based on gross written premiums 2003
Source: Zurich’s internal research and analysis

2 including Farmers Exchanges*, based on net written premiums 2003
Source: A.M. Best

3 based on gross written premiums 2003
Source: Peer company data

1 including Farmers Exchanges*, based on direct written premiums 2003
Source: A.M. Best

2 including Farmers Exchanges*, based on net written premiums 2003
Source: A.M. Best

*“Farmers Exchanges” refers to three reciprocal insurers, their
subsidiaries and affiliates operating mainly under the Farmers brand,
to which we provide management services but do not own.

1 based on direct written premiums 2003 
Source: Federal Office of Private Insurance

2 based on new business premiums 2003 
Source: Tillinghast

3 based on gross written premiums 2003 
Source: Kölner Institut für Versicherungsinformation

4 based on net earned premiums 2003 
Source: Moody’s Insurance Statistical Supplement

5 based on gross earned premiums 2003 
Source: Datamonitor UK Insurance Reports 2003

6 Source: Zurich’s internal research and analysis



Zurich Financial Services Group . Annual Report 2004 1

Cover Flap
Financial Highlights

Key Performance Indicators

Our Aspiration

Financial Strength Ratings

Business Year 2004

Key Market Positions

Contacts

2 Letter to Shareholders

6 The Way Forward

13 One Team. One Zurich.

26 Risk Management

31 Corporate Responsibility

33 Group Financial Review

45 Segmental Financial Analysis

63 Consolidated Financial Statements
63 Consolidated operating statements

64 Consolidated balance sheets

66 Consolidated statements of cash flows

68 Consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity

70 Notes to the consolidated financial statements

109 Significant subsidiaries

111 Report of the Group auditors

112 Embedded Value Results – Life Insurance

116 Corporate Governance Report

130 Remuneration Report

135 Zurich Financial Services Holding Company –
Financial Statements

142 Shareholder Information
142 Zurich Financial Services registered share data

143 Financial calendar and contacts



2 Zurich Financial Services Group . Annual Report 2004

Letter to Shareholders

Lodewijk C. van Wachem 
Chairman of the 
Board of Directors 

The Group continued to strengthen its capital

base and reserve position. Shareholders’ equity

grew by 17 percent to USD 22.2 billion and

total financial capital in support of our

operations increased by 18 percent to

USD 28.1 billion. We strengthened our net

insurance loss reserves by USD 2.0 billion.

Reserve strengthening of USD 2.6 billion in

North America Corporate was mitigated by

reserve releases in other regions without depart-

ing from our overall conservative stance.

Total net insurance loss reserves are now

USD 43.5 billion compared with

USD 37.0 billion at the end of 2003. These

actions contributed to a significant strengthen-

ing of the Group’s balance sheet. 

Our business operating profit increased

36 percent over last year, generating a business

operating profit return on equity after tax of

11.5 percent, up 1.7 percentage points from

2003 and approaching our medium-term

performance target of 12 percent. We recorded

excellent underwriting results in Continental

Europe, the United Kingdom and International

Businesses. These mitigated the impact of two

factors on our commercial business in North

America – extraordinary catastrophes in 2004

and the impact of the poor underwriting record

in the years 1997 to 2001. 

Our response was swift and determined. We

improved our performance by focusing on the

fundamentals of our business. We are committed

to perform in the industry’s top tier, based on

our underwriting performance and competitive

advantage as a major provider of general and

life insurance services with a well-diversified mix of

business, both by line of business and geography. 

Dear shareholders

In 2004, we continued to make substantial

progress in improving our Group’s profitability.

We strengthened our balance sheet and posi-

tioned Zurich for sustained profitable growth.

Net income grew by 29 percent to

USD 2.6 billion. This generated a return on

equity of 13.3 percent, an increase of

1.2 percentage points compared with 2003.

Our result was based on strong underlying

improvements both in our General Insurance

and Life Insurance businesses, record earnings

contribution from Farmers Management

Services and an excellent investment perform-

ance. It was a challenging year, but we demon-

strated our ability to absorb earnings shortfalls in

some areas while dealing with extraordinary

events.

The year 2004 marked the end of an unprece-

dented two-year period characterized by

the absence of large catastrophes. In August and

September, four hurricanes struck the US and

Caribbean leading to record insurance industry

losses of more than USD 22 billion. And just

before the end of the year, a powerful tsunami

destroyed vast coastal areas from Indonesia

to East Africa, leaving a tragic toll of death and

destruction. In the wake of these unparalleled

events, Zurich recognized claims payments net

of reinsurance and taxes of USD 585 million. 

Letter to Shareholders
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James J. Schiro 
Chief Executive Officer

Last year, the insurance industry, including

Zurich, came under heightened scrutiny by pub-

lic authorities and regulators concentrating

primarily on certain business practices involving

insurance carriers and brokers, the use of non-

traditional products and reinsurance. We pro-

actively performed our own reviews and have

taken remedial actions where necessary. In par-

ticular, we completed our response to the

information requests relating to certain business

practices involving insurance brokers and insur-

ance carriers. We continue to strengthen our

processes and are committed to comply with

laws, regulations and ethical standards as

embodied in Zurich Basics, our internal core

values and basic principles.

In the last two years, Zurich has laid a firm

foundation for sustained profitability. Financial

and operational discipline has been instilled

throughout the organization, and we are oper-

ating from a position of improved financial

strength. Once again, we would like to extend

our thanks to our employees who made this

possible. Their dedication to our customers and

their hard work and commitment contributed to

the Group’s performance. We would also like to

thank our customers for their continuing loyalty

and our shareholders for the support they have

shown us in 2004.

In line with our strategic goal to become the

leading insurer in our chosen markets, we are

committed to operational excellence and focus-

ing on the most attractive sectors in general and

life insurance. To ensure that operational

improvements are ingrained in our culture and

replicated across different units around the

world, we are implementing one consistent and

uniform Zurich Way of doing business. Using

common methodologies to govern processes in

underwriting, claims management, distribution,

finance and talent management, we are driving

the Zurich organization toward excellence.

The Zurich Way has become an integral part of

our planning and is designed to generate opera-

tional improvements in 2005 and subsequent

years, with the anticipated benefit in the first

year amounting to USD 500 million after tax. 

In 2004, we made two appointments to the

Group Executive Committee. Geoff Riddell

leads our Global Corporate business and Dieter

Wemmer heads Europe General Insurance. After

34 years with Farmers and the Zurich Group,

Martin D. Feinstein will retire effective March

31, 2005 as Chief Executive Officer of Farmers

Group, Inc. (FGI) and from the GEC. We thank

him for his dedicated service and welcome his

successor Paul N. Hopkins as a member of the

GEC effective April 1, 2005. 

orihcS.JsemaJmehcaWnav.CkjiwedoL

reciffO evitucexE feihCdraoB eht fo namriahC
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Board of Directors

Lodewijk C. van Wachem

Chairman of the Board, chairman of the

Nominations Committee and member of

the Remuneration Committee

Philippe O. Pidoux

Vice-Chairman of the Board, member

of the Nominations Committee and of the

Audit Committee

Thomas K. Escher

Director, member of the Audit Committee

Rosalind E.J. Gilmore

Director, member of the Remuneration

Committee and of the Audit Committee

Dana G. Mead

Director, chairman of the Remuneration

Committee and member of the Nominations

Committee

Armin Meyer

Director, member of the Nominations

Committee and of the Remuneration

Committee

Vernon L. Sankey

Director, member of the Nominations

Committee and of the Remuneration

Committee

Gerhard H. Schulmeyer

Director, chairman of the Audit Committee

and member of the Remuneration Committee

Rolf U. Watter

Director, member of the Audit Committee

As of December 31, 2004

Pictured from left to right: R. Watter, G. Schulmeyer, P. Pidoux, T. Escher, L. van Wachem, D. Mead, V. Sankey, R. Gilmore, A. Meyer
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Group Executive Committee

James J. Schiro

Chief Executive Officer

Peter Eckert

Chief Operating Officer

Patrick H. O’Sullivan

Group Finance Director

David L. Wasserman

Chief Investment Officer 

Head of Group Strategic Planning

Paul van de Geijn

Chief Executive Officer 

Global Life Insurance

John J. Amore

Chief Executive Officer 

General Insurance

Martin D. Feinstein

Chief Executive Officer 

Farmers Group, Inc.

Axel P. Lehmann

Chief Executive Officer 

North America Commercial

Geoff Riddell

Chief Executive Officer 

Global Corporate

Dieter Wemmer

Chief Executive Officer 

Europe General Insurance

As of December 31, 2004

Pictured from left to right: J. Amore, M. Feinstein, P. O’Sullivan, P. van de Geijn, J. Schiro, G. Riddell, P. Eckert, D. Wasserman, A. Lehmann, D. Wemmer
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The Way Forward
The Farmers Exchanges, which we manage but

do not own, have embarked on a major program

to improve surplus by USD 1 billion by 2006.

This strengthened capital base will support

continued premium growth at Farmers, which in

turn will be the source of growing management

fee income for Zurich.

In Life Insurance, we aim to transform the

business with a sales excellence program to

improve productivity across the Group, a new

business model in the UK, and by capitalizing

on the strength of our agency networks in

the US and Continental Europe.

Well-diversified business worldwide

Our newly-formed International Businesses

division includes our General Insurance and Life

Insurance businesses in Latin America, Asia

Pacific and southern Africa. We consider these

attractive markets to have considerable long-

term potential, and our goal is to develop our

capacity to serve them better. For example,

we have expanded our presence in China, one

of the most dynamic emerging markets, by

strengthening the local management team

representing the Group and by increasing our

share in New China Life Insurance Company

Ltd from 10 percent to 19 percent.

Focus on operational excellence

Operational excellence is paramount for Zurich.

It is a fundamental requirement in our aspiration

to become the leading global insurance company

in our chosen general and life insurance markets.

To drive excellence forward, a critical factor

will be the dedication and professionalism of our

people – characteristics demonstrated by them

every day of the week.

An equally essential element will be The Zurich

Way, which we see as a vital aid in transforming

the way we do business, both operationally

and culturally. We are convinced it will help us

to perform in the top tier of our industry,

delivering sustainable value to shareholders

and giving our customers consistent, distinctive

and predictable service wherever they are.

Our aspiration

The core of our business is General Insurance

and Life Insurance. Our culture is centered on

helping our customers manage their risks and

savings. We provide innovative solutions to

customers from large global corporations to

small businesses as well as differentiated services

to personal lines customers. Our capital alloca-

tion is geared towards improving earnings by

focusing on the most attractive sectors.

In General Insurance, our primary geographic

focus is on North America and Europe. In the

US, small businesses are underwritten through

the Zurich units in North America and the

Farmers Exchanges. Our General Insurance

business in Europe covers commercial and

personal lines. For our large corporate customers

we are providing an integrated global platform.

The Way Forward

To drive excellence
forward, a critical
factor will be the
dedication and
professionalism of
our people –
characteristics
demonstrated by
them every day of
the week.
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We are changing the culture and raising the bar

for all our employees. An important part of

The Zurich Way talent management initiative is

that our top 200 senior executives have been

assessed by external consultants. We have taken

an inventory of our talent and where we have

found gaps, we will fill them. We will continue

to do so, and to upgrade our talent.

The Zurich Way

Underpinning all of our thinking is The Zurich

Way. During 2004, we identified and developed

common methodologies, standards and

business tools to help us achieve best practices

in our operations and core processes. Seven

major project initiatives, or workstreams, led by

and composed of some of our best operational

experts, were charged with developing blue-

prints for achieving consistent and sustained

performance improvements.These workstreams

include personal lines underwriting, corporate

and commercial underwriting, claims manage-

ment, distribution, life operations, finance, and

talent management.

Across the world, our well-diversified business

portfolio – both by geography and nature of risk

exposure – is a strong competitive advantage.

So is our focus on our globally driven corporate

customer business. In the end, however, the

success of our market strategy will depend on

operational excellence. Only companies able

to excel in all activities will be consistent, 

long-term winners. Over the past two years, we

have demonstrated the ability to deliver such

excellence, and we are committed to continuing

on that path.

Operational efficiency and professional integrity

are inseparable, and our principles for doing

business are firmly anchored in our core values,

as expressed in Zurich Basics.These values

guide us to do not only the right things, but also

in the right way.The success of our business

depends as much on the trust of our customers

as on our ability to provide value. We will

continue to work hard to keep that trust by

serving our customers with fairness and integrity.

Our people 

Clearly, having the right people with the

right skills in the right place at the right time

is critical to our success. One element of

The Zurich Way has been to create a common

set of talent guidelines that our units around the

globe will eventually adopt. This includes the

areas of leadership assessment, employee recruit-

ment, compensation and incentives, perform-

ance management, and career development.

The success of our
business depends as
much on the trust
of our customers as
on our ability to
provide value.
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underwriter acumen by changing the culture.

Once again, common business processes are at

the forefront of our thinking.The most

tangible measures have come from file reviews

that helped us identify and quantify the greatest

opportunities for improvement. Our first initia-

tive began in the UK and looked at the pricing

of motor fleet risks, employers’ liability, and

property insurance. 

Since then, our business units in eight European

countries have pooled their knowledge and

experience to identify areas for further improve-

ment in motor claims.Thousands of closed

files were examined to see how we could have

dealt with claims and other issues more

efficiently.The business units also analyzed our

claims and studied practices on the more

serious personal injury claims. As a result,

our motor claims teams are introducing changes

that are benefiting our customers and our

business, with a central project office ensuring

rigorous implementation.

The finance workstream helped the Group

enhance financial discipline during the 2005

planning and budgeting process. Each of

the other six workstreams performed at least

two pilot tests of process improvements

designed to implement The Zurich Way. Based

on the lessons learned from these pilots, more

than 100 projects will run through 2005, each

carefully monitored and with monthly reviews.

Because this type of disciplined monitoring

has contributed to profit improvement programs

in the past three years, we believe that targeted

2005 improvements of USD 500 million after

tax are within reach.

Far from being simple cost savings, most of

the improvements will come from better

processes firmly anchored in shared Zurich

values. For example, we have identified

underwriting measures that will consistently

improve our ability to get the right price

for the risks we accept. A wide range of actions

will improve the efficiency of our claims

handling processes and ensure that claims are

settled speedily, fairly and at the right price.

In Life Insurance, initiatives based on a program

to develop sales excellence showed a high rate

of success in the pilot phase.

Building on our strengths 

in General Insurance

Our General Insurance businesses in the US and

Europe are at the forefront of implementing

The Zurich Way underwriting initiatives.

Our twin aims are to develop new procedures

and tools to produce a better and more

consistent underwriting result, and to improve

The Way Forward

Far from being simple
cost savings, most
of the improvements
will come from better
processes firmly
anchored in shared
Zurich values.
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Commitment to commercial enterprises

and small businesses

We pay equal attention to commercial enter-

prises of all sizes. We offer our commercial

customers a comprehensive range of general

insurance products, including automobile,

workers’ compensation, multi-peril, liability

and property products, as well as fidelity and

surety bonds and a range of speciality cover-

ages. One example is Zurich’s provision of

insurance cover for the ambitious restoration

and renovation project at La Scala Theater in

Milan, which began in July 2002 and continued

until late 2004. We also insured other major

public works in Italy, including the construction

of the Salerno-Reggio Calabria highway and

high-speed rail links between Novara and Turin.

In the UK, our small business proposition

now offers 24-hour Internet access for brokers.

Demand for this service has expanded rapidly,

and more than half of new business was written

in this way in 2004. Zurich is now among

the top three players in this sector in the UK.

In the US, Zurich and the Farmers Exchanges

are among the largest insurance providers

in the small business market.To enhance our

service, a free Web-based service known as

Virtual Consulting helps insurance agents and

their customers to identify causes of loss, and

recommends solutions for minimizing them.

Personal customers experience

the difference

In the US, the Farmers Exchanges are typical

of our determination to provide the best possible

customer service.The personal touch is para-

mount, as in the case of Richard and Esther

Shapiro, who lost their home in Sawpit Canyon,

California, in a wildfire. Mrs. Shapiro wrote:

“Our family was devastated, but before the

last embers of that fire died, Farmers contacted

us. We have never been so impressed with

an insurance company and the high caliber of

personnel as we were through this experience.

Most of our neighbors have had pretty

negative experiences with their carriers, and

many may not be able to rebuild their

homes.We have spread the word about our

confidence in Farmers.”

In Europe, we can build on a strong network

of 40,000 agents, brokers and financial

advisers, offering both general and life insurance

products and services. We also offer complete

cover through direct contact in all our major

European markets. We work with brokers and

intermediaries, and have powerful wholesale

partnerships with customer organizations.These

include Deutsche Bank across our major

European businesses, the motoring organization

ADAC in Germany, EasyGroup and Alliance

and Leicester in the UK, and Halifax Bank in

Spain.

Personal customers can deal with us in a variety

of ways, either through brokers or agents, direct

by telephone or on the Internet. In Germany, we

are the market leader with 42 percent market

share in motor direct business. A quarter of new

business is generated via the Internet.

In Europe, we can
build on a strong
network of 40,000
agents, brokers and
financial advisers,
offering both general
and life insurance
products and services.
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relationships with major corporations.The active

management of this network allows us to serve

global customers in more than 120 countries. It

also helps us to ensure a uniform standard of

service and expertise as we continuously move

towards one Zurich.

We have the flexibility to provide solutions in

the way our customers want. One of our more

unusual assignments came when McDonald’s

Corporation asked us to write a comprehensive

property and liability program. McDonald’s

firmly believes that its major business partners

should understand its philosophy and be

familiar with day-to-day sales operations.

Several of our employees spent time in the main

branch of McDonald’s in Zurich, serving

customers and learning the business

requirements at first hand. We have since written

a multiline program for McDonald’s

Corporation corporate locations in the US.

In another case, Nestlé was looking for a

centrally managed program for its global motor

fleet. Zurich experts in the US and Europe

worked together to produce a multi-national

insurance solution that offered consistent overall

protection but with local service for Nestlé’s

operations delivered through the Zurich

network.The program now provides insurance

protection to some 12,000 of Nestlé’s motor

vehicles in central and eastern Europe, Asia, and

North and South America.

Hundreds of small businesses in Florida

were grateful for our swift response when four

hurricanes swept through the US and the

Caribbean in the late summer and fall of 2004.

We worked with customers such as citrus

growers, healthcare facilities and manufacturing

plants to help them get back into operation as

quickly as possible. In the immediate aftermath

of Hurricane Charley in mid-August, we

sent 200 claims professionals to the state. After

Hurricanes Frances, Ivan and Jeanne followed

in swift succession, we sent a further 600 claims

representatives. An emergency field operation

was set up in Tampa, Florida, and our claims

center in Colorado stayed open 24 hours a day

to process claims.These were then passed

to our Catastrophe Center near Chicago,

which grew from 14 people to more than 80 to

respond to the emergency.

Global teamwork supports international

companies 

As the second largest insurer in general corporate

business worldwide, we are building on a

proven record of giving our customers and

potential customers what they need. Our

Global Corporate business division emphasizes

our commitment to this market, and draws

on the strength of our established international

network to develop deeper and stronger

The Way Forward

As the second largest
insurer in general
corporate business
worldwide, we are
building on a proven
record of giving
our customers and
potential customers
what they need.
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and mortgage products, as well as general insur-

ance products.To help the new business grow,

we are drawing on the expertise that Farmers has

built up in the US in developing and retaining

a highly effective tied sales force. The UK’s

extensive distribution network gives us a strong

position in the life market.

The other part of the UK life operation will

comprise two business areas. One will manu-

facture competitive products for Openwork

and existing independent financial advisers,

and will look for new outlets.The second will

be a specialist manager of important books of

business where we no longer market the

products, but where we need to give customers

the priority they deserve. By reorganizing our

businesses in this way, with focused management

teams, we can concentrate on the different

issues that each faces.

In the US, Farmers’ share of the life market has

grown further through cross-selling of products

to general insurance customers of the Farmers

Exchanges. In Continental Europe, we see great

market potential and opportunities through our

Our International Program System enables

us to provide major customers with information

about their worldwide operations that would be

almost impossible to gather manually.This

includes underwriting, premium, claims and

accounting data.

Developing the Global Life Insurance

business

Our Global Life Insurance business is benefiting

from The Zurich Way throughout the organiza-

tion. We are introducing a sales excellence

program to improve the productivity of our tied

sales force across the Group, based on our best

practices in all major countries as well as from

other industries. A pilot is running in Switzer-

land and will be expanded to key countries

in Europe.

In Germany, we took full advantage of a

unique sales opportunity provided by a pending

change in the tax laws that enabled us to

increase savings policy sales.The Deutsche Bank

distribution channel performed particularly

strongly. We have also introduced a new range

of pension products to take full advantage of

the changed tax laws.

In the UK, we are introducing a new model

that will allow the different parts of our

life business to develop separately. Our Zurich

Advice Network of franchisees will become

a retail distribution company called Openwork,

a key business partner for Zurich that will

sell third-party products as well as our own.

These will include life, pensions, investment

We are introducing a
sales excellence
program to improve
the productivity of
our tied sales force
across the Group,
based on our best
practices in all major
countries as well as
from other industries.
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and Resorts Worldwide, observed: “Doing

business with Zurich Risk Engineering has been

an outstanding experience, oftentimes exceeding

my expectations.”

To ensure we keep in touch with customers’

needs, we have organized risk management

councils of customers whom we meet several

times a year in the US and Europe. We also

organize unique risk engineering workshops

for customers and brokers, to provide a

comprehensive view of the hazards that can

affect an organization. Our International

Risk Engineering training course is accredited

by the Institute of Risk Management in

the UK, an internationally recognized body.

Committed to excellence

We live in times of intense competition, but

we are confident that our key differentiating

factor is our unwavering commitment to

operational and financial discipline in producing

successful results, keeping our promises, and

meeting our customers’ needs. We want our

customers – wherever they are, however large or

small their business or their needs may be –

to know that when they deal with Zurich, they

are dealing with professionals. 57,000 people.

One team. One Zurich.

relationship with Deutsche Bank, which uses

Zurich as its exclusive supplier of life insurance

products. We have more than 10,000 agents in

our major general insurance markets of

Germany, Switzerland, Italy and Spain, who

can work closely with our colleagues in the Life

Insurance business to exploit cross-selling

opportunities.

Expert advice from risk engineers

A critical part of the risk management process

is to advise customers about the hazards they

face, and help them minimize potential losses.

Across the world, 800 risk engineers serve

multinational companies and small family busi-

nesses alike. Recruited locally, they understand

the local safety culture and regulations, and

can conduct risk assessments and service calls

in the local language. Working to the same

standards and procedures globally, they provide

expert advice and services tailored to individual

needs, including property protection, environ-

mental and strategic risks, fleet management,

business continuity, and health and safety.

This approach has proved to be popular and

effective. Taiwan-based Powerchip

Semiconductor Corporation, one of the world’s

leading manufacturers of high-tech dynamic

random access memory, or DRAM, said:

“Zurich is our trusted strategic partner, and we

are sticking with them because they have

provided quality and innovative services to us.”

Another customer, Tony Rodolakis, vice presi-

dent, Risk Management for Starwood Hotels

The Way Forward

A critical part of the
risk management
process is to advise
customers about
the hazards they face,
and help them
minimize potential
losses.
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The ingredients for success are all there. We

have the will, the skills and the people. We are

now focusing on bringing them together in

a way that builds on many of the best practices

already in place. We want The Zurich Way

to be a way of life, with a common approach

to business firmly embedded in our business

units everywhere.

In the following pages, you will meet members

of our worldwide Zurich team. While their

individual job assignments and responsibilities

differ, all of them share the same commitment

to our customers, their communities, their

families, and the core values of the Zurich

organization that give substance to The Zurich

Way. Through the commitment and character

of these people, and the thousands of others

like them who make up the Zurich organization

worldwide, you will see how we are imple-

menting – and in many cases already living –

the fundamental principles of The Zurich Way.

People are at the heart of our business, whether

customers, shareholders or employees. We

know that our success depends on fulfilling the

trust that is placed in us and providing value

to the market.

We offer quality products and services from

standard car or household insurance to

sophisticated solutions for some of the world’s

best-known international companies. In every

case, our aim is the same: to ensure that all

our customers, wherever they are and whatever

their needs, receive the same level of service

and expertise.That’s why we are transforming

the way we do business, both operationally

and culturally.

The Zurich Way builds on the things we already

do well, and aims to instill common values

and principles. It promotes the highest opera-

tional standards and ensures a consistent

approach to our core activities, including

underwriting and claims. It encourages our

employees continually to build their skills

and to share their knowledge and best practices.

This will help us in our ambition to become

the leading global general and life insurer

in our chosen markets.The Zurich Way will be

instrumental to our success and will move us

even closer to being one Zurich. With common

business processes, shared values and a shared

culture, we are confident we can serve our cus-

tomers better and generate sustainable growth

and profit for our shareholders.

One Team. One Zurich.

One Team. One Zurich.
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underwriting workstream, he helped define the

common processes, language, metrics and

improvement approach that are essential for our

business.

Gary recently worked closely with several of

Zurich’s in-house change and project experts to

teach sponsors and project managers how to be

change agents. The success of that early program

resulted in it being opened up to employees

from Europe.

The result was rewarding for Gary since, as a

coach on and off the soccer field, he believes that

his job is really about helping people discover

the best in themselves. “Everything we do

depends on our people. Reinforcing our culture

by coaching and mentoring others is one of

the best parts of my job.”

Gary’s belief in the value of coaching and

mentoring is shared by managers and employees

throughout the Zurich organization – which is

one of the reasons The Zurich Way will come to

represent a new standard of risk management

excellence worldwide.

Gary Kaplan knows what it takes to be a

winning coach. Reinforcing positive attitudes

and behaviors in others is a talent he puts

to good use in coaching his three sons and their

soccer teammates in his hometown of

Naperville, Illinois. Gary believes that the lasting

value of coaching is teaching people that a

committed team effort can achieve any goal.

“It’s all about people, whether I’m coaching

a soccer team or leading a project team at

Zurich. The goal is to get people to believe in

their abilities enough to be willing to take

chances and try out new tools and skills.”

Throughout his career in insurance under-

writing, Gary has put this simple principle to

work. As the former underwriting program exec-

utive for North America’s Strategic Initiatives

Group (SIG), he led the effort to reduce under-

writing “leakage” in various lines of business.

His goal was to improve Zurich’s underwriting

performance and profitability through disci-

plined risk selection and technical pricing.

Now Chief Underwriting Officer for North

America Commercial, he has helped many

team leaders bring about change with

“rapid-results initiatives”, a technique that galva-

nizes teams to achieve a challenging objective

in a short space of time. And as the leader of

The Zurich Way large corporate and commercial

One Team. One Zurich.

Operational excellence is the key at Zurich



“A committed team effort can achieve 
any goal.”

Gary Kaplan, Exec. Vice President,

Chief Underwriting Officer, 

North America Commercial.
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“I didn’t set out to do it or dream about it in

advance, but once I had the opportunity, I was

really excited. I like that kind of challenge.”

Angela has been part of the team that has trans-

formed Small Business at Zurich over the past

several years and is instrumental in making our

small business strategy successful.

Home life, too, gives her plenty of opportunity

to make a difference. Her husband Greg is a

former professional football player who coaches

their children’s football and softball teams. As

“team mom”, she organizes team rosters and

practice dates and helps keep everyone on track.

“Balancing work and home can be a bit of a

challenge, but the Zurich environment is flexible

enough to let you take care of both aspects of

your life.”

That flexibility is only fair, since Angela’s

contribution to answering the needs of Zurich’s

customers has given legions of small business

owners the flexibility and peace of mind neces-

sary to achieve the same kind of balance in

their own lives.

For Angela Taylor, work-life balance is essential.

As the Chief Actuary for Zurich Small Business

in the US, and the mother of two active children

aged 10 and 13, she has many demands on her

time. But this busy life provides her with ideal

opportunities to do what she most enjoys –

helping others to help themselves. “People talk

about mentoring, she says, but it’s really more

the way you behave and interact with people in

your day-to-day life. Along the way you can

bring out the best in others. Most of the time,

I’m simply trying to help others to learn how to

do things for themselves.”

Angela believes this holds true at work and at

home. “I always say the best thing you can

do for yourself and the people around you is to

take time to listen to them and provide honest

feedback. That’s not always easy in professional

life, but sometimes even in a work environment,

you have to be able to listen to people’s personal

concerns in order to help them develop and be

productive. A team is most successful when you

recognize and leverage the strength of its

members.”

Angela chose her career because it allowed her

to develop and apply the technical and people

management skills needed to solve real business

problems. Managers recognized her leadership

abilities from the beginning, and by the age of

25, she was head actuary of a Zurich subsidiary.

One Team. One Zurich.

At Zurich we encourage everyone to contribute



“Along the way you can bring out 
the best in others.”

Angela Taylor, Sr. Vice President,

Chief Actuary for Small Business US.
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Peter brings the same constructive approach

to his favorite pastime, painting. “I like to use

bold colors and to show positive elements.

And I try to put something on canvas every

day.” A completely self-taught artist, he has been

painting now for 20 years and has held countless

exhibitions in hotels and restaurants throughout

Switzerland.

Every Christmas, the Zurich agency in Wetzikon

is transformed into an art gallery, open to an

appreciative public. With support from Zurich,

Peter exhibits his art work and views part of

his job as contributing to the cultural life of the

local area.

Mirroring his artistry with brush and palette,

Peter employs the same sense of perspective

and eye for detail in meeting the needs of his

customers – making his professional

commitment a self-portrait rendered in

The Zurich Way.

People always come first for Peter Jud, whether

as customers or as subjects of his paintings. He

sees his philosophy as an essential ingredient

of his success as a customer adviser in Zurich’s

general agency in Wetzikon, Switzerland, where

he offers all kinds of general and life insurance

geared to personal customer needs.

Peter knows that providing cover for the security

of individuals and families is firmly based on

trust, with customers sharing intimate financial

and private details in order to reach the best

solution. Particularly in the area of life insur-

ance, or similar long-term investments, 

in-person advice from a friendly and knowledge-

able adviser is paramount for many customers.

That’s why Zurich firmly believes in using its

agents and sales forces to explain products and

solutions first hand. Peter also realizes that

to every customer, he is the face of Zurich and

how he serves them will determine how

they view our organization.

As Peter says “I’ve always liked dealing with

people, and the personal touch is very important

to me. I make a point of always treating my

customers as equal partners in shaping a solution

to their needs.” It’s an outlook that has paid

dividends in hard business terms. In the past

year, he has achieved 250 percent of his target in

sales of retirement products and 120 percent

in general insurance sales.

One Team. One Zurich.

Zurich’s priority is to meet the needs and expectations of our customers



“The personal touch goes hand in hand 
with business success.”

Peter Jud, Customer Adviser,

Zurich General Agency in Wetzikon, Switzerland.
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The South Africa assignment was a pilot with

Oxfam, and follows a series of successful assign-

ments in India that Zurich employees have

undertaken in recent years. All offer opportuni-

ties for personal development, and help to foster

skills such as consultancy and coaching.

Back in London, Sarah draws on the experience

in her day-to-day work with Zurich Professional,

a business that specializes in professional indem-

nity cover for solicitors. “Those four weeks

gave me time to focus on self-management: you

have to be flexible and adaptable in your

personal as well as professional life. The assign-

ment exceeded my expectations, and it was a real

energizer. I now know there is a lot more I can

do, and it has given my confidence a real boost.”

While her experience working with women in

South Africa may have taught Sarah something

about herself, the depth of her commitment to

her professional role at Zurich and to the

humanitarian needs of a wider world are truly

a lesson in The Zurich Way.

One week Sarah Turley was working as a

claims solicitor with Zurich in London. The

next she was deep in discussion with a group of

women in South Africa. The two activities

may seem poles apart, but Sarah doesn’t see it

that way. We encourage people to support

their local communities – and sometimes even

communities half a world away. Sarah’s 

month-long assignment to an Oxfam project in

Pietermaritzburg was arranged through The

Zurich Community Trust, an initiative at

the heart of community involvement for our UK

employees. The aim was to help the women’s

group restructure so that they could be far more

effective in asserting their rights in the face of

a growing problem – domestic violence.

Sarah recalls: “Probably the greatest value

I brought to the assignment was the fact that

I was a neutral third party, and no one there had

any preconceptions about me. I think my

presence and my questions allowed the group

a period of reflection. They were able to focus on

issues that they would have found little time to

address in their busy schedules. I was a catalyst

to get things happening, and I learned a lot.”

One Team. One Zurich.

Zurich promotes continuous skill building



“You have to be flexible and adaptable 
in your personal as well as professional life.”

Sarah Turley, Claims Solicitor,

Zurich Professional UK.
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Such investment becomes increasingly important

as China moves from a planned economy to

a market-led one. And Steven is ideally placed

to understand the bigger picture, having had

the opportunity to learn about the insurance

industry on both sides of the world. He started

his career as a marine underwriter and claims

assessor with the state-run People’s Insurance

Company of China (PICC), and later won

a scholarship from the British Council which

enabled him to spend 18 months studying

insurance at university in Scotland.

Steven’s faith in the value of education to

his country is equaled only by Zurich’s belief

in calling upon individuals of his experience

and vision as ambassadors of The Zurich Way

in important, emerging markets.

Steven Zhang has his eye on the future in more

ways than one. As Zurich’s Chief Representative

in Beijing, he oversees our operations in an

exciting and rapidly developing market. He also

has a hands-on appreciation of risks, from his

previous career as chief officer of an ocean cargo

ship. This helped him to value teamwork in a

crew that drew its members from all parts of the

world. It also showed him how people from

many cultures can live and work together – a

quality highly valued at Zurich.

As a family man with a daughter at university,

he also takes a keen interest in education.

He shows his interest in practical terms by spon-

soring two young girls at school in a poor

region of China. Although education is free,

children often have to pay for books, pencils

and other materials – a heavy burden for

many families.

Steven’s involvement grew out of Project Hope, 

a non-governmental organization founded

14 years ago to finance schooling for poor rural

children as part of the China Youth

Development Foundation.

Steven has now been helping the two girls for

eight years. As he comments,“It’s great to know

that one individual can make a big difference.

We’re investing in the future of an entire genera-

tion and of our country. Education is the key to

lifting people out of poverty.”

One Team. One Zurich.

At Zurich we believe that growth should be sustainable



“We’re investing in the future of an entire 
generation and of our country.”

Steven Zhang, Zurich’s Chief
Representative in Beijing
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To better serve the needs of customers, Nancy

starts by asking herself how she would like to be

treated. Her definition of a delighted customer

is “Someone who understands and values the

relationship with us and will recommend us to

their family and friends. They also understand

the value of insurance and the role we play in

protecting them and their assets.”

In the continuing drive to improve service,

Nancy draws another parallel between the

business world and equestrianism. She came to

the sport in her late forties just for the fun

of it. Now it has become a passion with her, and

probably one of the toughest physical and

mental challenges she has ever faced. 

“You need that drive to succeed, plus a passion

to win and tenacity to keep on going no matter

what. So many times on a course, as in business,

something happens that you didn’t plan for.

As long as you are willing to accept the fact that

you do make mistakes, you can learn from

them and keep moving forward.”

Trust is all-important when Nancy Ballance is

facing a tough equestrian competition. “There

has to be a relationship of trust to draw on, espe-

cially if you or the horse aren’t at your peak. As

you come to that big jump, one of you has to say

‘This is a good idea’ and convince the other.”

Trust is also key in her thinking as Vice

President of Customer Advocacy with Farmers,

which provides insurance and financial services

for more than 10 million households in the US.

“It’s all about building trust and building that

stable relationship that carries you through some

of the tough times.”

Nancy’s team helps to look after the needs of

customers and the agents who serve them. For

agents, they have developed an information

technology tool, Farmers Agency Dashboard,

which gives them information about individual

customers. This is where Nancy’s IT back-

ground proves invaluable: she spent the first

11 of her 20 years with Farmers as an IBM

customer engineer, and later worked on a related

global project with colleagues from across

the Zurich Group.

One team. One Zurich.

Zurich is passionate about building value and trust



“Trust and a stable relationship carry you 
through the tough times.”

Nancy Ballance, Vice President.

of Customer Advocacy at Farmers.
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Risk Management
We also benefit from the cooperation of our

network of risk management and functional

specialists within each business as well as

at Corporate Center, where we have dedicated

managers for each type of risk.

In 2004, we enhanced our risk management

framework with the creation of Reporting

Area Management Audit, Risk and Control

committees.

Risk management policies, monitoring

and modeling

Group-wide risk management policies specify

risk tolerance boundaries and authorities,

reporting requirements, and procedures for

referring risk issues to senior management.

We regularly monitor our risks through

analyses and reports, and through relevant

risk modeling.

In addition to risk-specific monitoring and

modeling, we take a holistic view with risk-

based capital (RBC) modeling.This type

of modeling measures the difference between

what we expect in a normal business operating

environment and worst-case scenarios. We

define risk-based capital as the capital needed

to protect our policyholders against the 

worst-case loss (which we define as a one-in-2000

event occurring in one year). We have refined

and expanded our RBC model to incorporate

leading-edge methodologies and to give

us a better view of our entire risk landscape.

This modeling helps us make critical

business decisions, such as allocating capital

to lines of business.

As a major, global insurance carrier, Zurich

helps customers around the world cope with a

broad range of business and personal risks. In

turn, we face a number of risks ourselves.

Effectively managing these risks is critical if we

are to sustain the strength and resources to

be there for our customers when they need us.

We define risk management as an integrated,

Group-wide approach for identifying, under-

standing, measuring and managing our business

risks. These include:

• Insurance – risk transferred to us by

customers through the underwriting process

• Operational – risk associated with the

processes and internal control of the company

• Investment and credit – risk associated

with the Group’s investment portfolio,

reinsurance agreements and other counter-

party credit risk

• Financial risk – risk associated with currency

fluctuations and management of the relative

duration of our assets and liabilities.

The Board of Directors establishes Zurich’s

corporate risk management framework,

including a reporting system. In turn, the Audit

Committee of the Board assesses whether

management addresses risk and control issues

in a timely and appropriate manner.The Chief

Executive Officer, together with the Group

Executive Committee, oversees the Group’s

performance with regard to our risk manage-

ment policies as well as the further development

of these policies when required.The Chief Risk

Officer reports to the Chief Executive Officer.

The Audit Committee of the Board receives

regular reports regarding the Group’s risk profile,

and mitigation activities.

Risk Management
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property policies located in the most hazard prone

areas. We look at risk down to the policy level in

most cases, using state-of-the-art probabilistic

models developed by industry-leading providers

of natural catastrophe models.The models are

simulation tools that use a number of random

variables to arrive at an estimate of risk exposure.

These models principally address tornadoes,

hail, windstorms, earthquakes, and flooding. We

review our list of monitored regions and perils

annually for changes in exposure. We also keep

abreast of new developments or improvements

in catastrophe models that may allow us to

better estimate the risks we face.With these esti-

mates in hand, we review how we manage total

risk accumulations in the modeled areas. Actions

may include modifying our underwriting,

setting limits on exposure accumulations, and

adjusting our purchase of reinsurance.

Managing risks from man-made catastrophes 

Zurich’s experience in monitoring potential

exposures from natural catastrophes is also

applicable to threats posed by man-made catas-

trophes, particularly terrorism. Due to the

Insurance risk

Managing risk transfer

As an insurer, we absorb certain of our

customers’ risks, and therefore we must care-

fully manage that transfer of risk. We do so in

a variety of ways.These include setting limits

on underwriting authority and requiring specific

approvals for transactions involving

new products or exceeding established limits.

We take care to set appropriate pricing

guidelines. We also centralize the management

of reinsurance and closely monitor emerging

issues that may affect our overall risk exposures,

such as new areas of liability. Finally, we model

and estimate risk associated with natural and 

man-made catastrophes, allowing us to manage

these significant areas of insurance risk with a

high degree of sophistication.

Modeling natural catastrophes

Since 1997, we have used a stochastic modeling

process to quantify natural catastrophe risk across

the Zurich organization. In this annual exercise,

we assess the total risk represented by Zurich

Earthquake
Tornado / Hail
Windstorm
River flood

World map with peril regions assessed in 2004

Note: Map not to scale.
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Operational risk

A comprehensive approach for profiling risks

We regularly use our Total Risk Profiling process

to systematically surface a wide range of poten-

tial situations that could pose risks that warrant

management attention.This process has been

particularly effective for assessing operational

risks. We also use our risk profiling process

to assess, and then manage, potential risks

posed by major new projects, such as mergers,

divestments and acquisitions or the outsourcing

of specific operational functions.

Focusing on major operational concerns

Due to the importance of information tech-

nology (IT) to our business processes and the

very real external threats we face, IT is a top-

priority operational risk. We retain central con-

trol over a global network of resources devoted

to IT risk, including functions that are out-

sourced. We continuously strengthen controls

and adapt standard security methods to our

specific IT environment, so that we can prevent,

detect and swiftly respond to threats to our

systems and data. We have been able to operate

our systems without major disruption, despite

a trend of increasing external threats to IT

systems worldwide.

Managing business continuity

In order to support the continuity of our busi-

ness, we focus on keeping our business continu-

ity plans up-to-date.This includes analyzing

our most critical processes and setting priorities

for recovery in case of disruptions. We are

primarily concerned with being able to recover

from unexpected events, such as a natural

catastrophe. As an example, the unusual 2004

hurricane season led to several potential

high degree of uncertainty about what events

might actually occur, our accumulation

monitoring and analyses contain a number of

assumptions about the potential characteristics

of the threat. We review and aggregate workers’

injury and property exposures to identify

areas of significant concentration.The resulting

data allows our underwriters, particularly in

North America, to evaluate how insuring a

particular customer’s risk might affect Zurich’s

overall exposure.

Managing reinsurance assets

Our reinsurance assets at year end 2004 were

USD 23 billion, of which 44 percent was collat-

eralized. We rigorously manage this significant

asset. We have centralized the purchase of re-

insurance, and only conduct business with com-

panies authorized by our Corporate Reinsurance

Security Committee.This is the Group’s com-

mittee responsible for setting standards and

procedures to protect Zurich from credit losses

with reinsurers. We also limit our maximum

credit exposure by reinsurance group. Even as

the reinsurance market remained under

downward rating pressure, our tight credit risk

policy resulted in an A– average credit quality

of our reinsurance portfolio; the reinsurers that

compose our 10 largest reinsurance exposures

are rated A+ and above.

Risk Management

Reinsurance Assets Quality

 44% 41%

7%8%

1 Other = unrated, information not available at counterparty level, etc.

> A– < A– Other1 Collateralized
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holder obligations. We diversify portfolios and

asset managers and establish specific investment

guidelines for each portfolio.We also carefully

monitor investment exposures, compliance and

performance. Group investments are recorded

in a central database that allows us to evaluate

our position against objectives, such as return

and risk targets that include value at risk,

adequate capital, liquidity capacity and other

investment constraints.

The overall average rating of our debt portfolio

(including applicable loans) is AA+. We manage

accumulations in these investments by issuer,

industry and credit rating, and closely monitor

changes. Any investment in securities that

are below investment grade requires explicit

approval.The largest concentration in our debt

portfolio is in governments and supra-nationals,

at 55 percent.The next largest concentration is

in financial institutions, at 19 percent, of

which 50 percent is secured by government

guarantee or other collateral.

business disruptions. Nonetheless, we were able

to provide continuous service to our customers,

and even enhance some of our operations,

during very challenging conditions.

Evaluating internal controls

An effective system of internal controls is

critical to risk management and sound business

operations. In 2004 we launched a multi-year

initiative to strengthen the consistency and

documentation of our internal controls.

Although primarily focused on important con-

trols for financial reporting, this initiative also

applies to related operational controls.

Investment and credit risk

Modeling assets and liabilities

Our Asset/Liability Management and Invest-

ment Committee manages the Group’s overall

asset/liability matching exposure. It also over-

sees the activities of local asset/liability manage-

ment committees. We are improving our asset

and liability models to provide increased

sophistication in our measurement of the Group’s

exposure to our liabilities and to our assets such

as fixed income, real estate and other investment

categories across currencies and businesses.

While the setting of the model parameters and

the testing are managed centrally, local variations

take into account differences in specific product

types. We monitor relative duration on both a

business unit and Group level, and all exposures

are captured in our risk-based capital measure-

ment process.

Managing risks in investments

Our asset allocation policy takes into account

Group and business unit capital and policy-

Asset Allocation of Group Investments
as of year end 2004

8%

2%

5%

4%

9%

Debt securities
Equity securities* (For more information, see page 39)
Real estate held for investment
Mortgage loans
Policyholders’ collateral and other loans
Other Group investments
Cash and cash equivalents

65%

7%
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the likelihood that a default would occur. We use

this exposure aggregation information to detect

and manage risk concentrations. The Chief Risk

Officer regularly reports the five largest expo-

sures in every rating category to the Audit

Committee.

Financial risk

Managing our financial risks

Derivative financial instruments, such as interest

rate swaps, options, futures and forward

contracts are intended to limit risks in invest-

ments and financing. Zurich uses derivatives

mainly to hedge certain economic risks. We

address the risks posed by derivatives through a

stringent policy that requires approval of deriva-

tive programs before transactions are initiated.

Group Risk Management regularly monitors

open positions.The Chief Risk Officer and the

Chief Investment Officer approve derivative

programs related to the investment portfolio;

the Chief Risk Officer and the Group Finance

Director approve non-investment portfolio

derivative transactions.

As an international group, we are exposed to

currency risk. We minimize our foreign exchange

risk by matching the foreign exchange economic

exposure of our assets and liabilities on local

balance sheets, and by aligning the currency

composition of our available capital to our

internal capital requirements. We do not hedge

emerging surpluses.

Zurich’s risk management activities are designed

to protect the long-term sustainability and

strength of our company, which in turn, helps

secure the interests of our many stakeholders.

Risk Management

Managing exposure across multiple sources

of credit risk

Even when we have made sure that our exposure

to a counterparty is within set limits for each

individual source of risk, our combined credit-

related exposures could overexpose our capital to

that counterparty’s financial failure.Therefore,

we limit our accumulated exposure to families

of related counterparties across significant types

of credit risk. We add together the exposure

across such sources of credit risk as reinsurance

assets, various types of investments and certain

insurance products, derivatives and treasury

instruments. We use best estimates, based

on statistics and experience, to assign

loss-given-default percentages and factors for

Top 20 Credit Exposures by Industry

8%

12%

20%

4%

11%

 45%
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Government agencies
Special purpose companies (ABS/MBS etc)
Other industries (rest)
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employees regarding compliance and ethical

obligations generally. Inspired by Zurich Basics,

these initiatives include multimedia awareness

campaigns, specific training in detailed regula-

tory areas, and learning initiatives related to

areas such as conflicts of interest, business prac-

tices and ethical decision-making.

Corporate citizenship and overall

sustainability

Corporate citizenship to us means thinking

long-term and working to integrate social

and environmental considerations into how

we run our business and develop and market

our products. It also means reaching out to

contribute directly through time and financial

contributions where we can add value.

To improve the management of corporate

citizenship activities globally, we established in

2003 a Group-level Corporate Citizenship

Council. In the past year, the council worked

to bring strategic focus and identify areas

of priority such as helping the disadvantaged

and promoting employee involvement. It also

concentrated on increasing financial effective-

ness and speed of reaction in times of need.

An example was our swift response to relief

efforts after the devastating tsunami at the end

of 2004.The environment is another area of

focus. In 2004, a number of our units advanced

with their environmental goals, including

efforts aimed at energy usage efficiency and

reduction of commuting and business travel.

To be able to provide on-going and updated

information, we report on our specific progress

and activities in the environmental, social,

and other areas of corporate responsibility on

our Web site www.zurich.com.

We believe we serve best our shareholders’

and other stakeholders’ long-term interests

by pursuing our business with a focus on

performance and responsibility. In these efforts,

we are inspired and supported by Zurich

Basics, our core values and basic principles that

help guide our conduct and decisions. We

also have an overall corporate responsibility

strategy and framework, along with dedicated

functions, to help us execute on our com-

mitment and enhance the value we deliver to

our stakeholders and society at large.

We focus our corporate responsibility work

on compliance, ethics and corporate citizenship,

including overall sustainability. In 2004 we

worked to advance these areas through enhanced

communications, training and other initiatives.

The goal is to ensure that Zurich employees and

managers worldwide understand how much the

company’s ability to deliver sustainable financial

results also depends on how well we perform

in these important areas. Governance as

described in the Corporate Governance Report

on pages 116–129 completes our efforts.

Compliance and ethics

With regulation in most countries becoming

more complex and expensive, there can be a

business advantage for companies able to develop

the capabilities and structures to meet these

obligations more effectively and efficiently than

their competitors. Zurich’s compliance strategy

is based on this recognition, as well as on

our own values commitment to do what is right.

An important tool is our compliance perfor-

mance standards that apply to our business

units worldwide and help advance common

foundations and processes. We also work

to deepen the understanding of managers and

Zurich shares qualify
for various indexes
and funds that focus
on companies making
progress in corporate
responsibility and
long-term orientation,
including the Dow
Jones World and
STOXX Sustainability
and the FTSE4Good
Global and Europe
indexes.

Corporate Responsibility

Corporate Responsibility
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Group Highlights
Zurich Financial Services Group (the Group) recorded net income of USD 2,587 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004, an increase of 29% compared with USD 2,009 million in 2003. Business operating profit
improved by 36% over 2003 to USD 3,143 million for 2004.This result was built on the strong underlying
performance of our core businesses and the stabilized development of our Centre operations.

General Insurance showed significant improvements in both business operating profit and net income across
all key regions except for North America Corporate, which strengthened loss reserves for development in business
written during the soft market years of 1997 through 2001. In addition, General Insurance, which had enjoyed a
two-year period of benign catastrophe experience, was impacted by the four hurricanes in the US and the
Caribbean and the tragic tsunami in Asia. Life Insurance continued its turnaround with an improved underlying
performance, primarily in Europe, after consideration of divested businesses.This improvement is demonstrated
in the increase of the new business profit margin to 11.4%. Farmers Management Services increased substantially
its contribution to business operating profit and net income. Other Businesses also contributed strong results
based on the management actions taken in 2003.The results across all segments were supported by the
improved investment return and lower effective tax rate.

Diluted earnings per share rose 18% to CHF 22.18 compared with CHF18.86 in 2003. For 2004, the return on
equity based on net income was 13.3%, an increase of 1.2 percentage points over 2003. Our after-tax business
operating profit return on equity was 11.5%, an increase of 1.7 percentage points compared with the
2003 year return.

Performance highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross written premiums and policy fees 49,304 48,805 1%

Net investment income 9,114 8,395 9%

Net capital gains on investments and impairments 4,934 5,180 (5%)

Business operating profit 3,143 2,316 36%

Net income 2,587 2,009 29%

General Insurance combined ratio 101.6% 97.9% (3.7 pts)

Life Insurance new business profit margin (as % of APE) 11.4% 9.0% 2.4 pts

Return on equity 13.3% 12.1% 1.2 pts

Business operating profit (after tax) return on equity 11.5% 9.8% 1.7 pts

Diluted earnings per share (in CHF) 22.18 18.86 18%

Results for 2003 in this Group Financial Review are restated for the implementation of a new accounting
standard. Business operating profit figures for 2003 have been restated to conform with the current year
presentation. Details are set out in the sections “Basis of Current and Future Presentation and Comparability” and
“Investment Performance.”

Performance Overview
Gross written premiums of USD 49.3 billion in 2004 showed an increase of 1% while in local currency there
was a decrease of 4%. In General Insurance, premiums remained level after adjusting for the effects of exchange
rate movements and the effects of the sale of certain general insurance businesses. Premiums in Life Insurance
increased by 3% after eliminating the effects of the redesign of the group pension business model in Switzerland,
the sale of certain life operations and the effects of exchange rate movements.

Business operating profit increased by USD 827 million, or 36%, over 2003 to USD 3,143 million in 2004
driven by the improved performance in Life Insurance and Other Businesses and the continued consistent profit
contribution by Farmers Management Services, partially offset by a lower result in General Insurance. The total
expected claims costs, net of reinsurance and before tax, arising from the four hurricanes and the tsunami were
USD 700 million and USD 90 million, respectively.

• General Insurance business operating profit decreased by USD 766 million to USD 1.4 billion, as a result of
the USD 2.1 billion net strengthening of reserves related to prior accident years. In addition, General Insurance
incurred losses of USD 680 million related to the hurricanes and USD 82 million related to the December
tsunami.These factors have been partially compensated by improved underwriting results in the current year.

• Life Insurance increased business operating profit by USD 207 million to USD 1.1 billion.This improved
performance reflects the successful launching of profitable new products as well as reduced operating
expenses, particularly in Europe. We are progressively changing the business model to position this
segment in order to sustain future profitable growth.

Performance
highlights

Gross written
premiums

Business
operating profit

Group Financial Review
Group Financial Review
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• Farmers Management Services increased business operating profit by USD 107 million to USD 1.1 billion.
This continued improvement is driven by the increase in management fee income, which in turn is based on
higher premiums in the Farmers Exchanges, which we manage but do not own. Farmers Management Services
has also continued its focus on expense controls.

• Other Businesses recorded business operating profit of USD 137 million, an improvement of USD 1.1 billion
from the business operating loss in 2003. Centre significantly improved its results following the restructuring
actions taken in the prior year and the successful commutations in the current year. The wind-down of Zurich
Capital Markets continued in 2004 and also contributed to the improved result in this segment.

• Corporate Center, which supports the Group through funding and governance oversight, reduced its
net costs improving business operating profit by USD 184 million, based on stable gross headquarter expenses,
as well as an improved recovery for services rendered to other segments.

• Net investment income on Group investments was USD 7.4 billion, which contributes to the business
operating profit for each segment.This net investment income excludes income earned for unit-linked products
of USD1.7 billion, which is managed on behalf of the policyholders of these products.

• The after-tax business operating profit return on equity improved by 1.7 percentage points to 11.5% in
2004, compared with 9.8% in 2003.

Net income improved by USD 578 million, or 29%, to USD 2,587 million in 2004 compared with net income of
USD 2,009 million in 2003. In addition to the factors mentioned above, net income was affected by the following:
• Net capital gains on investments and impairments of Group investments increased by USD 137 million

to USD 948 million.This movement was primarily due to lower impairments as compared with the prior year. 
• The underlying investment return on our Group Investments in 2004 was 5.9% compared with 4.9% in

2003; the investment result is analyzed in the “Investment Performance” section.
• The Group lowered its effective income tax rate by12.5 percentage points to 28.9%.This improvement is

primarily due to the avoidance of large losses in low tax jurisdictions as incurred in the prior year. 

Our return on equity improved by 1.2 percentage points to 13.3% for 2004 compared with the 2003 return
of 12.1%.

Diluted earnings per share, reflecting the increase in net income, improved by 18% to CHF 22.18 in 2004
compared with CHF18.86 in 2003.

Balance sheet highlights
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003 Change

Group investments 191,100 175,967 9%

Investments for unit-linked products 60,059 49,780 21%

Total investments 251,159 225,747 11%

Gross insurance reserves 185,071 172,230 7%

Gross reserves for unit-linked products 61,091 51,188 19%

Total gross insurance reserves 246,162 223,418 10%

Total financial debt and shareholders’ equity 28,052 23,709 18%

• Group investments increased by USD 15.1 billion due to a positive operating cash flow, higher market
valuations and the effects of foreign currency translation, partially offset by the divestment of certain
operations in 2004, the redesign of the group pension business model in Switzerland and the restructuring
of Zurich Capital Markets.

• Gross insurance reserves increased by USD 12.8 billion, or 7%, in 2004. General Insurance reserves increased
by USD 9.3 billion to USD 69.3 billion following growth in gross written premiums, net reserve strengthening
and exchange rate movement partially offset by the sale of General Insurance businesses during 2004. Gross
Life Insurance reserves, excluding reserves for unit-linked products, increased by USD 6.2 billion to
USD 103.0 billion after the effects of the redesign of the group pension business model in Switzerland as
well as divestments of life businesses during 2004. Other Businesses reserves decreased by USD 3.6 billion.  

• Total financial debt and shareholders’ equity increased by USD 4.3 billion to USD 28.1 billion.
USD 3.2 billion arose from the increase in shareholders’ equity mainly as a result of our profit in the year and
favorable currency translation effects. A further USD 1.1 billion was attributable to the issuance of a 10-year
senior debt of EUR 1 billion (USD1.3 billion at December 31, 2004) partially offset by the repayment of a zero
coupon bond of CHF 539 million (USD 427 million) on its maturity.

• The increase in both investments and reserves for unit-linked products reflects exchange rate and market
movements and continued sales of these products.

Net income

Balance sheet
highlights

Group Financial Review
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Reinsurance
The Group completed a review of various reinsurance arrangements whereby certain risks were ceded by local
business units of the Group to third-party reinsurers, who in turn partly or fully retroceded such risks to other
business units of the Group.The scope of the review was to determine the impact, if any, for financial or regulatory
reporting.The review included in-force arrangements as well as arrangements that had existed previously
but had been commuted or otherwise terminated. As a result of this review, the Group determined, with the
concurrence of its external auditors, that it was not necessary to restate the comparative financial statements.

The Group nevertheless determined that certain changes should be made to the manner in which such
transactions were accounted for as a result of the way these arrangements developed over time. Accordingly, the
Group recorded a charge before tax of approximately USD140 million in 2004 in order to align the accounting
treatment of the transactions with Group accounting policy.

If these transactions were accounted for on the basis now viewed as appropriate in the years the transactions
were initially recorded, the Group estimates that its consolidated net income before income taxes and
minority interests would have been approximately USD165 million higher in 2003. Due to reductions in net
operating results that would have been incurred in prior years, the Group estimates that the related impact
on its consolidated shareholders’ equity as of December 31, 2003 would have been a reduction of approximately
USD190 million, and a reduction of approximately USD 330 million as of December 31, 2002.These estimates
are based on assumptions and judgments that the Group believes are reasonable.

The Group has reported these transactions to appropriate regulatory bodies and is cooperating with all
regulatory inquiries. In addition, the Group has strengthened processes in order to address the accounting for
and reporting of reinsurance arrangements appropriately on an ongoing basis.

Measuring Business Performance
We manage our business units on their underlying performance using the measure of business operating profit.
Business operating profit eliminates the impact of financial market volatility and other non-operational variables
enabling us to assess the underlying insurance performance of each business.

Business operating profit reflects adjustments for taxes, net capital gains on investments and impairments (except
for the capital markets and banking operations included in Other Businesses), policyholders’ share of investment
results for the life business, non-operational foreign exchange movements, and significant items arising from
special circumstances including gains and losses on divestments of businesses. Non-operational foreign exchange
movements arise from intercompany foreign currency hedging and the corporate financing of subsidiaries which
are not a reflection of local operating activities and are, therefore, not included in the calculation of business
operating profit. Business operating profit is not a substitute for net income as determined in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Reconciliation of net income to business operating profit
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003

Net income 2,587 2,009

Adjusted for:

Net capital (gains) on investments and impairments, excluding capital markets
and banking activities (4,771) (4,976)

Policyholder allocation of net capital gains on investments, including unit-linked products 4,493 4,254

Tax expense, adjusting for life policyholder tax 813 1,375

Net (gain) on divestments of businesses (88) (351)

Restructuring provisions 55 5

Implementation of Swiss “legal quote”1 54 –

Business operating profit 3,143 2,316
1 For details, refer to the section “Basis of Current and Future Presentation and Comparability.”

The Group has initiated several restructuring programs in 2004.The most significant of these relates to the
transformation of the United Kingdom life operations, where management has decided to implement a new
business model.This model has been designed to enable the UK life business to secure sustainable performance
in line with Group hurdle rates.

Business 
operating profit
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The table below indicates the utilization of and other changes in the restructuring provisions between January1
and December 31, 2004.

Restructuring provisions
in USD millions 2004

As of January1 (opening balance) 144

Utilized (95)

Increases, net 55

Foreign exchange translation 9

As of December 31 (closing balance) 113

In addition to business operating profit, we use embedded value to measure and manage our Life Insurance
operations on a stand-alone basis. Embedded value is discussed in more detail in the Life Insurance section of
the Segmental Financial Analysis.

Key Performance Indicators
Our stated goal in the medium term is to achieve a blended return on equity of 12% on an after-tax business
operating profit basis. A higher return on equity in one segment can compensate for lower returns in others
allowing the Group to meet the stated 12% overall target rate. Returns on equity generated by General
Insurance, Life Insurance and Farmers Management Services also compensate for certain headquarters expenses,
debt expenses and any net operating losses from other operations.

Our return on equity based on net income for 2004 was 13.3%, an increase of 1.2 percentage points over 2003.
Our business operating profit after-tax return on equity was 11.5%, an increase of 1.7 percentage points over
2003.This return, while improving, is below our medium term target of 12% due to the impact of the
catastrophes and reserve strengthening discussed above.

We consider the combined ratio and business operating profit to be the key performance indicators for our
General Insurance operations.

Overall, the combined ratio increased by 3.7 percentage points to 101.6% for 2004 reflecting net underwriting
losses of USD 469 million for 2004 compared with a profit of USD 578 million in 2003. The combined ratio
was impacted by the claims relating to the hurricanes of USD 680 million and to the tsunami of USD 82 million
as well as from the strengthening of loss reserves relating to prior years of USD 2.1 billion.The net underwriting
result of our North America Consumer, Continental Europe, UKISA and Rest of World regions, together posted
an increase of USD 1.1 billion to USD 1.5 billion in 2004. North America Corporate recorded a net underwriting
loss of USD 1.8 billion, a decrease of USD 1.9 billion in 2004.

Business operating profit was affected by these same factors and decreased by USD 766 million to
USD 1.4 billion in 2004. North America Consumer, Continental Europe, UKISA and Rest of the World regions
almost doubled business operating profit from USD1.3 billion in 2003 to USD 2.5 billion in 2004.

Embedded value

Return on equity
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Life Insurance

General Insurance

We consider new business profit margin, embedded value after-tax operating return, and business operating
profit to be the key performance indicators for our Life Insurance operations.

New business profit increased by USD 81 million from 192 million to USD 273 million in 2004, which is reflected
in the improvement of the new business profit margin by 2.4 percentage points from 9.0% to 11.4% in 2004.

Operating return on embedded value after tax and before currency effects was 10.8% for 2004,
0.3 percentage point above last year. The embedded value operating profit after tax was USD1.4 billion for 2004
compared with USD 928 million in 2003, an improvement of 56%.

Business operating profit for Life Insurance increased by 24% to USD1.1 billion in 2004 with improvements
in Continental Europe, UKISA and Rest of the World partially offset by a small reduction in North America
Consumer related to the divestment of life businesses in 2003.

Life Insurance – business operating profit
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

North America Consumer 235 245 (4%)

Continental Europe 355 294 21%

UKISA 402 271 48%

Rest of the World 71 46 54%

Total 1,063 856 24%

Foreign Currency Impact
The Group operates worldwide in multiple currencies. The Group seeks to match its foreign exchange exposures
on an economic basis. However, because the Group has chosen the US dollar as its reporting currency, differences
arise when local operating currencies are translated into the Group’s reporting currency. The general decline of
the US dollar as compared to the Swiss franc, the euro and British pound in 2004 had a positive impact on
shareholders’ equity of approximately USD 741 million. Net income in 2004 benefited from these translation
effects by approximately USD 176 million.

The tables below show the key financial highlights for the year ended December 31, 2004 translated at the same
average exchange rates as applied for the year ended December 31, 2003 to eliminate the foreign currency
impact when compared to the prior period. The principal exchange rates are set out in note 2 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

General Insurance – 
foreign currency impact on key financial highlights % change in % change
Variance over the prior period, for the year ended 2004 local currency in USD

Gross written premiums and policy fees (1%) 4%

Net investment result 7% 13%

Insurance benefits and losses 13% 18%
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Life Insurance –  
foreign currency impact on key financial highlights % change in % change
Variance over the prior period, for the year ended 2004 local currency in USD

Gross written premiums, policy fees and insurance deposits (13%) (4%)

Insurance deposits (12%) (3%)

Gross written premiums and policy fees (13%) (6%)

Net investment result (5%) 5%

Insurance benefits and losses (17%) (9%)

Premium Volume and Management Fees
Overall gross written premiums and policy fees rose 1% over 2003 (–4% in local currency) reaching
USD 49.3 billion. After taking into account the special factors explained below, premiums have remained flat
on a comparable basis.

Net earned premiums and policy fees increased 6% (unchanged in local currency) over 2003, to 
USD 41.8 billion. After adjusting for the factors explained below, net earned premiums grew by 4%.

General Insurance experienced growth in gross written premiums and policy fees of 4% (–1% in local
currency) to USD 37.6 billion in 2004. After adjusting for divestments of businesses as well as exchange rate
effects, premiums remained level. On a similar basis, net earned premiums increased by 7% still reflecting
the effect of rate increases in previous periods now being earned as revenue as well as higher premium retention
reflecting the reduction in our reinsurance program as our balance sheet has strengthened.

Gross written premiums and policy fees in Life Insurance decreased by 6% (–13% in local currency) to
USD11.0 billion in 2004 mainly resulting from the sale of life operations in the second half of 2003, particularly
Zurich Life US, Zurich Life UK and certain other European operations, and the redesign of the group pension
business model in Switzerland, which has been partially transferred to an external foundation. Excluding these
factors, as well as foreign exchange movements, premiums increased by 3%.

In 2004, our Farmers Management Services earned USD 2.0 billion in management fees and other related
revenue, an increase of 5% over the prior year.This increase is a result of higher gross premiums earned by
the Farmers Exchanges, which we manage but do not own, primarily in the Farmers Specialty, Commercial and
Fire lines of business.

Investment Performance
Total investments as shown in the Consolidated Balance Sheet include Group investments, where the Group bears
all or part of the investment risk, and investments for unit-linked products, where policyholders bear the entire
investment risk. The investments for unit-linked products and the related investment result have been reclassified
following the implementation of SOP 03-01.

Group Investments for
Net investment result and investments investments unit-linked products Total
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Net investment income 7,447 7,004 1,667 1,391 9,114 8,395

Net capital gains on investments 
and impairments 948 811 3,986 4,369 4,934 5,180

Net investment result 8,395 7,815 5,653 5,760 14,048 13,575

in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Investments 191,100 175,967 60,059 49,780 251,159 225,747

We manage our diversified Group investment portfolio to optimize benefits for both shareholders and
policyholders while ensuring compliance with local regulatory and business requirements under the guidance
of our Asset/Liability Management and Investment Committee. Investments for unit-linked products are
managed in accordance with the investment objectives of each unit-linked fund.

Life Insurance

Group

General Insurance

Life Insurance

Farmers
Management
Services

Investment result
and investments

Group Financial Review
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Investment 
performance

Group investments
breakdown

Investment performance of Group investments
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Net investment income 7,447 7,004 6%

Net capital gains on investments and impairments 948 811 17%

Net investment result 8,395 7,815 7%

Movements in unrealized gains on investments included in shareholders’ equity 2,059 151 nm

Average investments 183,534 169,877 8%

Total investment return1 5.9% 4.9% 1.0 pts
1 Before investment expenses.

Net investment income for Group investments increased by 6% to USD 7.4 billion from USD 7.0 billion in 2003.
This improvement was a result of higher short-term interest rates in the US and UK, the lengthening of bond
portfolio durations, partially offset by lower income due to the reduction in the asset base caused by the redesign
of the group pension business model in Switzerland.

Net capital gains on investments and impairments for Group investments increased from USD 811 million
in 2003 to USD 948 million in 2004. In both 2004 and 2003 we incurred impairments on investments, primarily
equities, of USD 175 million and USD1.1 billion, respectively. The reduction in the year reflects the improvements
in equity markets.The reduction in impairments was offset by lower net realized capital gains in 2004, particularly
in debt and equity securities. A substantial portion of the net capital gains on investments and impairments
relate to our Life Insurance segment. After taking into account the portion attributable to future policyholder
benefit reserves, net capital gains on investments and impairments which flowed through to net income were
USD 441 million and USD 926 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The total investment return for Group investments was 5.9% compared with 4.9% in 2003. This return
includes investment income, net capital gains on investments in the consolidated operating statement and
movements in unrealized gains recorded in shareholders’ equity. The total investment result was USD 10.5 billion,
after investment expenses of USD 289 million compared with USD 8.0 billion after investment expenses of
USD 330 million in 2003.

Equity securities include common stock and equity unit-trusts for which the Group bears the investment risk.
At year end 2004, we had reduced our holding in this category of equity securities to 4.9% of our investment
portfolio, down from 6.4% as of December 31, 2003.

Breakdown of Group investments
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 % of total 2003 % of total

Debt securities 124,298 65.1% 113,002 64.2%

Equity securities 16,939 8.8% 19,491 11.1%

Common stock, including equity unit-trusts 9,424 4.9% 11,319 6.4%

Unit-trusts (debt securities, real estate, short-term investments) 2,710 1.4% 2,270 1.4%

Common stock portfolios backing the participating with-profit 
policyholder contracts 2,032 1.0% 1,599 0.9%

Trading equity portfolios in capital markets and banking activities 2,773 1.5% 4,303 2.4%

Real estate held for investment 7,193 3.8% 7,462 4.2%

Mortgage loans 10,251 5.4% 11,283 6.4%

Policyholders’ collateral and other loans 14,902 7.8% 7,479 4.3%

Other Group investments 3,764 1.9% 3,714 2.2%

Cash and cash equivalents 13,753 7.2% 13,536 7.6%

Total 191,100 100% 175,967 100%

Divestments
During 2004, the Group continued to divest businesses in markets where we did not have a significant presence
or which were no longer part of our business strategy. We completed several transactions during the year that
generated cash proceeds of USD 2.5 billion compared with USD 2.7 billion in the prior year.

The transaction that generated most of the cash proceeds was the transfer of certain derivative transactions,
credit facilities and related assets of Zurich Capital Markets to BNP Paribas. Other significant transactions during
2004 include the sale of Turegum Insurance Company and the life and general insurance operations in Belgium
and Luxembourg.

Aggregate net gains on divestments in 2004, including post-completion adjustments such as deferred
consideration for certain transactions closed in 2003, were USD 88 million.
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Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

Development of reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses
in USD millions 2004 2003 Change

As of January1 (opening balance)

Gross reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses 51,068 45,306 13%

Reinsurance recoverable (14,055) (14,940) (6%)

Net reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses 37,013 30,366 22%

Net losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred

Current period 21,506 19,254 12%

Prior years 1,964 1,874 5%

Total 23,470 21,128 11%

Total net losses and loss adjustment expenses paid (17,515) (16,516) 6%

Divestments of companies and businesses (743) (291) 155%

Foreign currency translation effects 1,249 2,326 (46%)

As of December 31 (closing balance)

Net reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses 43,474 37,013 17%

Reinsurance recoverable 14,339 14,055 2%

Gross reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses 57,813 51,068 13%

We establish reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses for estimates of future payments of reported and
unreported claims for losses and related expenses with respect to insured events that have occurred. Reserving
is a complex process dealing with uncertainty and requiring the use of informed estimates and judgments.
Any changes in estimates are reflected in the results of operations in the period in which estimates are changed.

Of the total USD 43.5 billion net reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses, USD 41.1 billion related
to General Insurance and USD 2.2 billion to Other Businesses as of December 31, 2004.

In 2004, we refined our reserving process through a program of continuous and progressive review of different
lines of business. In aggregate, we have strengthened reserves because of adverse prior year development
by USD 2.0 billion which compares with USD1.9 billion in 2003. Strengthening of USD 2.6 billion in North
America Corporate was mitigated by reserve redundancies of approximately USD 600 million arising across all our
other regions including our Centre operations. These net reserve redundancies arise from both claims settlements
below the reserved amounts as well as from reassessment of reserving requirements for claims payable in the
future.

The prior-year adverse reserve development recorded in 2003 was primarily in North America Corporate, 
USD1.0 billion, and in Centre, USD 540 million.

Capitalization and Indebtedness

in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003 Change

Collateralized loans 4,135 4,701 (12%)

Debt related to capital markets and banking activities 3,880 5,961 (35%)

Obligation to repurchase securities 5,009 3,742 34%

Total operational debt 13,024 14,404 (10%)

Senior debt 3,355 2,360 42%

Subordinated debt 2,516 2,415 4%

Total financial debt 5,871 4,775 23%

Total minority interests 846 969 (13%)

Total shareholders’ equity 22,181 18,934 17%

Total financial debt and shareholders’ equity 28,052 23,709 18%

Group Financial Review
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Operational debt

Financial debt

Credit facility

Minority interests

Shareholders’ equity

Solvency

Indebtedness
As of December 31, 2004 total operational debt was USD 13.0 billion, a decrease of USD 1.4 billion since
December 31, 2003. As of December 31, 2004, we had USD 4.1 billion of collateralized loans, which were secured
by mortgage loans of the same amount given as collateral to the counterparties compared with USD 4.7 billion
as of December 31, 2003. Debt relating to capital markets and banking activities decreased by USD 2.1 billion
following the transfer of certain derivative transactions, credit facilities and related assets of Zurich Capital
Markets (ZCM) to BNP Paribas in accordance with an agreement signed in 2003 as part of the wind-down of
ZCM activities. This decrease was partially offset by an increase of USD 1.3 billion in our obligation to repurchase
securities to USD 5.0 billion, resulting from increased short-term activities in the Repo market in the normal
course of business as part of our investment and liquidity management.

The increase in total financial debt of USD 1.1 billion, or 23%, arose mainly from the issuance of EUR 1 billion
(USD1.3 billion) of 10-year senior debt by Zurich Finance (USA), under the “Euro Medium Term Note Programme”
for Zurich Insurance Company, partially offset by the repayment on maturity by the Zurich International
(Bermuda) Ltd of its zero coupon bond of CHF 539 million (USD 427 million) in July 2003.

On April 21, 2004, a new USD 3 billion syndicated revolving credit facility was signed to replace the USD1.5 billion
facility, which would have matured on May 28, 2004.The new syndicated credit facility consists of two equal
tranches maturing in 2007 and 2009. Zurich Group Holding, together with Zurich Insurance Company and
Farmers Group, Inc, are guarantors of the new facility, which allows for drawings of up to USD1.25 billion,
USD1.5 billion and USD 250 million, respectively, for themselves and a number of defined subsidiary borrowers.
No borrowings were outstanding as of December 31, 2004 under the new facility. Farmers Group, Inc. cancelled
an existing USD 250 million credit facility in April 2004, which would have expired in September 2004.

The reduction in minority interests of USD 123 million, or 13%, resulted primarily from ZCM which no longer
has any minority shareholder interests in its business.

Shareholders’ equity
in USD millions, for the year ended December 31, 2004

Balance as of December 31, 2003, as previously reported 19,384

Implementation of new accounting standard (SOP 03-01) (450)

Balance as of December 31, 2003, restated 18,934

Change in net unrealized gains on investments excluding translation adjustments 386

Transfer arising from initial application of the “legal quote” legislation in Switzerland (226)

Translation adjustments 741

Nominal value reduction of common stock (288)

Share-based payment transactions 19

Treasury stock transactions 66

Net income 2,587

Dividends on preferred securities (38)

Balance as of December 31, 2004 22,181

Shareholders’equity increased by USD 3.2 billion to USD 22.2 billion as of December 31, 2004.The increase
from our net income after tax of USD 2.6 billion in 2004 and favorable currency translation effects were
partially offset by the nominal value reduction of common stock and the initial application of the legislation
for the mandatory participation in profits for policyholders in Switzerland (“legal quote”).

Regulated entities of the Group are required to submit returns to their local regulators, usually on an annual
basis but in some countries more frequently.These returns show the compliance of the reporting entity with
local solvency requirements and include information on eligible funds and admissible assets.

On a consolidated basis, Zurich Financial Services, with headquarters in Zurich, Switzerland, is subject to
supervision by the Federal Office of Private Insurance (“FOPI“). Regulatory supervision of the Group for
its insurance activities and its remaining banking and other regulated financial services activities, including
supervision over consolidated solvency and capital adequacy at a Group level are coordinated between
FOPI and the Swiss Federal Banking Commission (based on the Decree on the Consolidated Supervision of
the Zurich Financial Services Group of April 23, 2001).
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Cash Flows

Summary of cash flows
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income 2,587 2,009

Adjustments for:

Net capital (gains) on investments and impairments (4,934) (5,180)

Net (gain) on divestments of businesses (88) (351)

Equity in income of investments in associates (86) (90)

Depreciation and amortization 695 793

Other non-cash items 21 905

Changes in operational assets and liabilities 10,135 15,094

Net cash provided by operating activities 8,330 13,180

Net cash used in investing activities (7,333) (6,413)

Net cash used by financing activities (398) (1,932)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 683 809

Change in cash and cash equivalents 1,282 5,644

Cash and cash equivalents as of January1 (opening balance) 15,677 10,033

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31 16,959 15,677

Our cash flow from operating activities consists of cash flow arising from our insurance businesses, after
payments to reinsurers (net premiums, policy fees and deposits received less net claims after recoveries from
reinsurers, benefit payments, policy surrenders and operating expenses) and investment income received
(dividends, interest and rents) less interest paid and tax payments.

Farmers Management Services receives management fees as well as investment income and pays operating
expenses and taxes. Surplus operating cash flows, plus the proceeds from the sale and maturity of investments as
well as divestments, are reinvested through our investing activities. Our investment funds may be used to fund
operating cash flow deficits.

Our financing activities result from our corporate funding and borrowing arrangements, capital raising and
repayment and payments to shareholders.

Cash and cash equivalents increased in 2004 by USD 1.3 billion compared with USD 5.6 billion in 2003. Cash flow
provided by operating activities reduced to USD 8.3 billion in 2004 from USD13.2 billion in 2003.Transfers to
investment activities and financing repayments were together USD 7.7 billion in 2004 compared with USD 8.3
billion in 2003.

Basis of Current and Future Presentation and Comparability
The Accounting Standards Executive Committee (AcSEC) of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (AICPA) issued Statement of Position 03-01 (“SOP 03-01”), Accounting and Reporting by Insurance
Enterprises for Certain Nontraditional Long-Duration Contracts and for Separate Accounts. SOP 03-01 has
resulted in three significant changes in the treatment of certain life contracts, which have been adopted
retrospectively, in accordance with IAS 8:
i) Recognition of additional liabilities for guaranteed minimum death benefits, guaranteed retirement income

benefits and benefits in respect of annuitization options on an accrual basis, primarily for life policies in the
United States. The recognition of guarantee liabilities resulted in a write-down of deferred policy acquisition
costs, due to a reduction in future estimated gross profits supporting these reserves.

ii) Clarification of the distinction between universal life insurance and investment products, resulting in certain
products in the life business in the United Kingdom now being treated as insurance.The classification as
insurance consequently resulted in the retrospective accrual of additional insurance reserves.

iii) “Investments held on account and at risk of life insurance policyholders”, which are not bankruptcy protected
from other creditors, and “Insurance reserves for life insurance where the investment risk is carried by
policyholders”were reclassified to total investments and insurance reserves in the amount of approximately
USD 50 billion.This change also resulted in the inclusion in the consolidated operating statements of
additional investment result arising from the reclassified investments and a substantially corresponding charge
in “Policyholder dividends and participation in profits.” As a result, there is no material net impact on the
Group’s operating results.

Changes to
accounting
policies 2004

Group Financial Review
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Swiss legal quote

Implementation of
new and amended
accounting
standards in 2005

Financial Reporting

In 2004, we have made the following restatement for the implementation of SOP 03-01 as published in the
Half Year Report 2004.

Adjustments to net income for the year ended December 31, 2003
in USD millions

Net income as published for 2003 2,120

Implementation of a new accounting standard in 2004 (111)

Net income, restated 2,009

Adjustments to business operating profit for the year ended December 31, 2003
in USD millions

Business operating profit as published for 2003 2,265

Implementation of a new accounting standard in 2004 (53)

Policyholder allocations 104

Business operating profit, restated 2,316

In Switzerland, the “legal quote” legislation was adopted on April 1, 2004. It relates to the regulated pension
business in Switzerland and provides for mandatory participation in profits by policyholders. A minimum
dividend rate of 90% of the calculated gross surplus must be allocated to policyholders as the surplus arises,
where previously such allocations occurred when bonuses were declared.

The Group accounted for the initial application of this legislation in the Consolidated Financial Statements as
of June 30, 2004, by transferring net unrealized gains on investments included in shareholders’ equity of
USD 226 million to insurance reserves as “Policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds”. In addition, the
Group recorded a pre-tax charge of USD 54 million during 2004.

The Group has been reporting under standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
since 1998. As set out in note1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we refer to accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (US GAAP) for guidance in particular on accounting for insurance.

In January 2005, a significant number of new and amended standards will become effective including the
International Financial Reporting Standard on “Insurance Contracts” (IFRS 4). We continue to evaluate the impact
on our financial statements and are closely monitoring developments as practical interpretations of IFRS 4 and
other changes emerge.The principal change to our financial statements will result from the re-classification
of certain life insurance products from insurance to investment and the consequent change in measurement and
accounting treatment as investment products. As IFRS 4 does not define the accounting treatment of insurance
products, we will continue to refer to US GAAP.

This and other changes will result in the restatement of shareholders’ equity, which could be significant,
and net income as well as reclassifications in both the consolidated balance sheets and consolidated operating
statements. However, we do not expect the changes will have any significant effect on the solvency positions of
our businesses, which are generally determined based on regulatory requirements and accounting policies in each
country in which we operate.

We continue to monitor developments in the interpretation of the changes to be implemented in 2005 and will
determine our position for reporting for the first three months of 2005. We are also working with the accounting
professionals and our peer group of insurance companies in Europe through the CFO Forum to assist the IASB in
developing a comprehensive standard for the accounting of insurance products.

Primary segments:
In 2005, the Group will continue to report segment information using the same primary segments as for 2004.
The segments are: General Insurance, Life Insurance, Farmers Management Services, Other Businesses and
Corporate Center.

Secondary segments:
In 2005 the Group’s secondary format for segment information will continue to be geographic. The geographical
segments will be North America, Europe, International Businesses and Centrally Managed Businesses.

Customer segments:
For 2004 General Insurance reporting a further breakdown of the segment into its customer segments
(Global Corporate, Commercial and Personal) is provided as part of the Financial Supplement which is published
on our Web site www.zurich.com. For 2005 General Insurance reporting our financial review will include
information for these customer segments.
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Quarterly Consolidated Financial Information

Summary of 2004 quarterly consolidated 
financial information
in USD millions, for the three months ended 12/31/04 09/30/04 06/30/04 03/31/041

Gross written premiums and policy fees 11,720 11,172 12,140 14,272

Net earned premiums and policy fees 10,968 10,189 10,118 10,529

Net investment results 5,442 3,073 2,524 3,009

Other revenues 1,205 881 907 833

Total revenues 17,615 14,143 13,549 14,371

Insurance benefits and losses 9,614 8,611 7,973 8,302

Other expenses 7,070 4,918 4,414 4,990

Total benefits, losses and expenses 16,684 13,529 12,387 13,292

Net income before income taxes and minority interests 931 614 1,162 1,079

Net income 685 454 718 730

Business operating profit 614 581 978 970
1 Restated for the introduction of SOP 03-01 in the half year 2004.

Summary of 2003 quarterly consolidated 
financial information
in USD millions, for the three months ended 12/31/03 09/30/03 06/30/03 03/31/03

Gross written premiums and policy fees 11,895 10,939 12,585 13,386

Net earned premiums and policy fees 10,630 9,166 10,223 9,578

Net investment results 4,743 3,377 6,182 (727)

Other revenues 955 1,264 932 885

Total revenues 16,328 13,807 17,337 9,736

Insurance benefits and losses 8,573 8,065 8,764 7,857

Other expenses 6,636 4,761 7,369 1,572

Total benefits, losses and expenses 15,209 12,826 16,133 9,429

Net income before income taxes and minority interests 1,119 981 1,204 307

Net income 599 658 634 118

Business operating profit 785 205 564 762

Group Financial Review



Zurich Financial Services Group . Annual Report 2004 45

Segmental Financial Analysis
Segmental Financial Analysis

In the following sections we discuss the results of operations for each of our segments. It should be noted that
results for 2003 in this Segmental Financial Analysis are restated for the implementation of a new accounting
standard. Business operating profit figures for 2003 have been restated to conform with the current year
presentation. Details are set out in the sections “Basis of Current and Future Presentation and Comparability”
and “Investment Performance” in the Group Financial Review. The analysis of the results for the year ended
December 31, 2004 is made against the restated results of the prior year period, unless otherwise stated.

Business Operating Profit and Net Income by Segment

Business operating profit and 
net income by segment Business operating profit Net income/(loss)
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change 2004 2003 Change

General Insurance 1,380 2,146 (36%) 1,427 1,779 (20%)

Life Insurance 1,063 856 24% 873 1,148 (24%)

Farmers Management Services 1,077 970 11% 686 604 14%

Other Businesses 137 (958) nm 96 (1,012) nm

Corporate Center (514) (698) nm (495) (510) nm

Total 3,143 2,316 36% 2,587 2,009 29%

Reconciliation of net income 
and business operating profit Farmers
by business segment for 2004 General Life Mgmt Other Corporate
in USD millions, for the year ended December 31, 2004 Insurance Insurance Services Businesses Center Total

Net income/(loss) 1,427 873 686 96 (495) 2,587

Adjusted for:

Net capital (gains) on investments 
and impairments, excluding capital markets 
and banking activities (87) (4,525) (1) (43) (115) (4,771)

Policyholder allocation 
of net capital gains – 4,429 – 64 – 4,493

Tax expense, adjusting for life policyholder tax 1 219 392 52 149 813

Net loss / (gain) on divestments of businesses 34 (37) – (32) (53) (88)

Restructuring provisions 5 50 – – – 55

Implementation of Swiss “legal quote” – 54 – – – 54

Business operating profit 1,380 1,063 1,077 137 (514) 3,143

Reconciliation of net income 
and business operating profit Farmers
by business segment for 2003 General Life Mgmt Other Corporate
in USD millions, for the year ended December 31, 2003 Insurance Insurance Services Businesses Center Total

Net income/(loss) 1,779 1,148 604 (1,012) (510) 2,009

Adjusted for:

Net capital (gains) on investments 
and impairments, excluding capital markets 
and banking activities (278) (4,380) – (138) (180) (4,976)

Policyholder allocation 
of net capital gains – 4,150 – 104 – 4,254

Tax expense/ (benefit),
adjusting for life policyholder tax 556 357 366 104 (8) 1,375

Net loss / (gain) on divestments of businesses 89 (427) – (13) – (351)

Restructuring provisions – 8 – (3) – 5

Business operating profit 2,146 856 970 (958) (698) 2,316
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Operational review

Financial review

General Insurance
Our 2004 result has shown significant improvements in both business operating profit and net income in
all regions other than in North America Corporate. Overall our business operating profit fell by USD 766 million to
USD 1.4 billion which was achieved after total hurricane and tsunami costs of USD 762 million and net
strengthening of reserves of USD 2.1 billion.

Our businesses have continued to take advantage of attractive, though competitive, rates. We have maintained
our disciplined underwriting approach and, where in some lines of business the rates were not adequate to meet
our technical price targets, we have continued to choose not to write that business. The benign catastrophe
experience of the last two years came to an end when the four hurricanes struck the US and the Caribbean in the
third quarter and this was followed by the tragic events of the tsunami in South Asia. These events brought out
the best in us in meeting the needs of our customers.

In 2004, we have introduced our new approach to reserving which involves rolling reviews, peer review, greater
oversight from the Corporate Center, use of consistent actuarial methodologies and processes and, when
necessary, the use of third-party actuaries. As a result there has been significant strengthening of our reserves in
North America Corporate relating to soft market years of 1997 through 2001 when cash flow underwriting
was prevalent and claims subsequently inflated. These reviews have also identified redundancies in reserves in UK,
Ireland and Continental Europe.

We have commenced many programs to further improve our operational excellence, some of which have evolved
from The Zurich Way initiatives to develop the highest operational standards using a consistent approach across
all our businesses. In underwriting, these include the targeting of key customer segments, the improvement of
workflow processes to improve productivity, re-underwriting and re-pricing of certain books of business. In
claims management, we seek ways to improve our effectiveness. Examples of this are our European motor claims
handling process, the introduction of a systematic fraud detection system using voice monitoring and reviews of
our claims handling legal expenses. We are also constantly seeking ways to reduce our cost base through sharing
of services, improvements in structure and improved procurement processes.

During 2004, we have put in place the management and structure to implement the geographical and line
of business focus that we announced in April. In 2005, we will report based on this organization which
geographically will consist of North America, Europe and International Businesses (consisting of Asia Pacific, Latin
America and Southern Africa). In addition, we will manage and report our results based on our customer
segments which are Global Corporate, Commercial and Personal.

These initiatives, our continued focus on our core disciplines of underwriting and claims management, our
diversified portfolio across geographies and lines of business and our new operational structure should enable
us to further develop our business in 2005.

General Insurance – highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross written premiums and policy fees 37,638 36,250 4%

Net earned premiums and policy fees 30,160 27,138 11%

Total benefits, losses and expenses 31,697 27,366 16%

Net underwriting result (469) 578 nm

Business operating profit 1,380 2,146 (36%)

Net income 1,427 1,779 (20%)

Loss ratio 77.6% 73.1% (4.5 pts)

Expense ratio1 24.0% 24.8% 0.8 pts

Combined ratio 101.6% 97.9% (3.7 pts)
1 Including policyholder dividends and participation in profits.

Business operating profit and 
net income/(loss) by geographic region Business operating profit Net income/(loss)
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change 2004 2003 Change

North America Corporate (1,165) 664 nm (506) 671 nm

North America Consumer 224 115 95% 200 98 104%

Continental Europe 1,004 603 67% 767 359 114%

UKISA 1,112 441 152% 761 286 166%

Rest of the World 180 150 20% 145 105 38%

Centrally Managed Businesses1 25 173 (86%) 60 260 (77%)

Total 1,380 2,146 (36%) 1,427 1,779 (20%)
1 Centrally Managed Businesses includes internal reinsurance and businesses in run-off.

Segmental Financial Analysis
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Business operating profit decreased by USD 766 million from USD 2.1 billion to USD1.4 billion for 2004.
Our strong underwriting performance in the North America Consumer, Continental Europe, UKISA and Rest of
the World regions as well as higher net investment income, were more than offset by large losses due to the
hurricanes that struck the US and the Caribbean, the December tsunami and further reserve strengthening in
North America Corporate relating to prior years.

Net income decreased by USD 352 million, or 20%, from USD1.8 billion for 2003 to USD1.4 billion for 2004.
Impacted by the same factors as business operating profit, net income benefited from lower tax expenses and
lower losses on divestments, partially offset by lower net capital gains on investments.

Gross written premiums and net Gross written premiums Net earned premiums 
earned premiums by geographic region and policy fees and policy fees
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change 2004 2003 Change

North America Corporate 15,709 15,476 2% 10,561 9,038 17%

North America Consumer 3,128 3,175 (1%) 3,063 3,184 (4%)

Continental Europe 10,712 10,052 7% 9,153 8,457 8%

UKISA 6,509 6,314 3% 5,674 4,821 18%

Rest of the World 2,201 2,140 3% 1,465 1,238 18%

Centrally Managed Businesses1 470 796 (41%) 244 400 (39%)

Eliminations (1,091) (1,703) nm – – nm

Total 37,638 36,250 4% 30,160 27,138 11%
1 Centrally Managed Businesses includes internal reinsurance and businesses in run-off.

Gross written premiums and policy fees increased by USD1.4 billion, or 4%, to USD 37.6 billion for 2004.
Taking into account the effects of divestments and exchange rate movements, premiums remained level in 2004.
Despite the slowing down of rate increases in certain markets, we still experienced higher overall average rates
in 2004 compared with the prior year. Volumes have decreased in certain competitive lines of business, as we
have chosen not to write business that does not meet our technical price targets.

Net earned premiums and policy fees increased by USD 3.0 billion, or 11% (6% in local currency), from
USD 27.1 billion for 2003 to USD 30.2 billion for 2004.This increase is the consequence of strong pricing in prior
periods now flowing into earnings and higher premium retentions reflecting the reduction in our reinsurance
program as our balance sheet has strengthened.

Net underwriting result and 
combined ratio by geographic region Net underwriting result Combined ratio
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change 2004 2003 Change

North America Corporate (1,832) 100 nm 117.3% 99.0% (18.3 pts)

North America Consumer 124 41 202% 95.9% 98.7% 2.8 pts

Continental Europe 550 140 293% 94.0% 98.3% 4.3 pts

UKISA 691 125 453% 87.8% 97.5% 9.7 pts

Rest of the World 95 82 16% 93.5% 93.4% (0.1 pts)

Centrally Managed Businesses 
and eliminations (97) 90 nm nm nm nm

Total (469) 578 nm 101.6% 97.9% (3.7 pts)

The Group’s diversified portfolio across geographies, segments and lines of businesses softened the impact
on the underwriting losses arising from the four hurricanes which struck the US and the Caribbean, the December
tsunami, and the adverse prior year reserve strengthening in North America Corporate.The strong operational
performance of our North America Consumer, Continental Europe, UKISA and other operations throughout
Rest of the World was mainly the result of our disciplined approach to underwriting and pricing, which partially
compensated for the losses in North America Corporate.The net underwriting result declined from a profit
of USD 578 million in 2003 to a loss of USD 469 million in 2004.The combined ratio was 101.6% in 2004, an
increase of 3.7 percentage points compared with 97.9% in 2003.The hurricanes and the tsunami caused
2.5 percentage points of this increase.

Loss ratio by significant geographic region
for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Total 77.6% 73.1% (4.5 pts)

North America Corporate 97.8% 78.2% (19.6 pts)

North America Consumer 55.0% 61.8% 6.8 pts

Continental Europe 71.1% 74.6% 3.5 pts

UKISA 65.2% 74.1% 8.9 pts

Rest of the World 57.4% 56.1% (1.3 pts)
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Overall, the loss ratio increased by 4.5 percentage points to 77.6 % for 2004. This development was mainly
due to increases in insurance benefits and losses of USD 3.5 billion, or 18% (13% in local currency), to
USD 23.4 billion for 2004. In 2004, USD 680 million of net hurricane losses, USD 82 million of December tsunami
losses and USD 2.1 billion of further reserve strengthening were recorded. Moreover, the Group has continued
to benefit from the positive effects of our profit improvement initiatives as well as from the favorable current year
loss development. 

Expense ratio by significant geographic region1

for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Total 24.0% 24.8% 0.8 pts

North America Corporate 19.5% 20.8% 1.3 pts

North America Consumer 40.9% 36.9% (4.0 pts)

Continental Europe 22.9% 23.7% 0.8 pts

UKISA 22.6% 23.4% 0.8 pts

Rest of the World 36.1% 37.3% 1.2 pts
1 Including policyholder dividends and participation in profits.

The expense ratio improved by 0.8 percentage point to 24.0% in 2004. Total net technical expenses
increased by USD 526 million, or 8%, from USD 6.7 billion for 2003 to USD 7.2 billion for 2004. This increase was
below the growth rate of net earned premiums, reflecting the reduction in commission expenses. Administration
expenses were lower due to expense management initiatives. 

General Insurance – North America Corporate

North America Corporate – highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross written premiums and policy fees 15,709 15,476 2%

Net earned premiums and policy fees 10,561 9,038 17%

Total benefits, losses and expenses 12,611 9,134 38%

Net underwriting result (1,832) 100 nm

Business operating profit (1,165) 664 nm

Net income/ (loss) (506) 671 nm

Loss ratio 97.8% 78.2% (19.6 pts)

Expense ratio1 19.5% 20.8% 1.3 pts

Combined ratio 117.3% 99.0% (18.3 pts)
1 Including policyholder dividends and participation in profits.

Business operating profit was impacted by the exceptional claims of USD 612 million in 2004, from the
hurricanes which struck the US and the Caribbean in the third quarter of 2004 and by the prior year development
reserve strengthening of USD 2.6 billion. Business operating profit decreased from a profit of USD 664 million in
2003 to a loss of USD 1.2 billion in 2004.The adverse underwriting result was partly offset by a 27% higher
net investment income reflecting strong net cash inflows in both 2003 and 2004.

Net income decreased by USD 1.2 billion to a loss of USD 506 million in 2004. In addition to the factors that
affected business operating profit, net income included tax benefits partially offset by a decline in net capital
gains on investments.

The growth of gross written premiums and policy fees of USD 233 million, or 2%, to USD 15.7 billion in
2004 arose from rate increases compared to 2003. Average rate increases were 2.6% in 2004 over 2003
compared with nearly 16% in 2003 over 2002. Volumes slightly decreased, as we have chosen not to write
business that does not meet our technical price targets.

The growth in net earned premiums of 17% to USD 10.6 billion in 2004 is mainly attributable to the reduction
of premiums ceded to reinsurers as well as earnings from premium growth in prior periods now being earned
as revenue.

The net underwriting result declined by USD 1.9 billion to a negative technical result of USD 1.8 billion for
2004 as a result of the hurricanes, the tsunami and the reserve strengthening. The combined ratio increased
by 18.3 percentage points to 117.3%, of which 5.8 percentage points is attributable to the hurricanes and
24.3 percentage points to the reserve strengthening. Overall, the loss ratio increased from 78.2% in 2003 to
97.8% in 2004. The improvement in the expense ratio was driven mainly by the results of initiatives to improve
expense and commission management. 

Segmental Financial Analysis
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General Insurance – North America Consumer

North America Consumer – highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross written premiums and policy fees 3,128 3,175 (1%)

Net earned premiums and policy fees 3,063 3,184 (4%)

Total benefits, losses and expenses 2,941 3,144 (6%)

Net underwriting result 124 41 202%

Business operating profit 224 115 95%

Net income 200 98 104%

Loss ratio 55.0% 61.8% 6.8 pts

Expense ratio1 40.9% 36.9% (4.0 pts)

Combined ratio 95.9% 98.7% 2.8 pts
1 Including policyholder dividends and participation in profits.

The amounts reported in our North America Consumer region represent the gross written premiums and related
financial results from quota share reinsurance treaties assumed from the Farmers Exchanges, which we manage
but do not own. The decline in net earned premiums and total benefits, losses and expenses relate to a reduction
in the premiums ceded in one of those treaties as compared with the prior year. The net underwriting result and
the combined ratio improvement resulted mainly from the underlying business performance assumed from the
Farmers Exchanges.

General Insurance – Continental Europe
Continental Europe is our second largest General Insurance region. Financial information is provided for our
four most significant markets, namely Switzerland, Germany, Spain and Italy as well as for Continental Europe
Corporate (CEC), which writes business for large corporate customers in Europe and is managed centrally.

Continental Europe – highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross written premiums and policy fees 10,712 10,052 7%

Net earned premiums and policy fees 9,153 8,457 8%

Total benefits, losses and expenses 9,058 8,691 4%

Net underwriting result 550 140 293%

Business operating profit 1,004 603 67%

Net income 767 359 114%

Loss ratio 71.1% 74.6% 3.5 pts

Expense ratio1 22.9% 23.7% 0.8 pts

Combined ratio 94.0% 98.3% 4.3 pts
1 Including policyholder dividends and participation in profits.

Business operating profit improved by 67% to USD 1.0 billion and net income increased by 114% to
USD 767 million for 2004 mainly due to the strong improvement in the net underwriting result as described
below.

Gross written premiums Net earned premiums 
Breakdown of premiums by largest markets and policy fees and policy fees
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change 2004 2003 Change

Total Continental Europe 10,712 10,052 7% 9,153 8,457 8%

Switzerland1 1,750 1,677 4% 1,655 1,614 3%

Germany1 2,887 2,682 8% 2,077 1,908 9%

Spain1 1,475 1,225 20% 881 885 0%

Italy1 1,661 1,410 18% 1,308 1,044 25%

CEC1 3,041 2,402 27% 1,879 1,610 17%
1 Before elimination of intra-region transactions.
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Gross written premiums and policy fees in Continental Europe grew by USD 660 million, or 7% (–2% in
local currency), to USD 10.7 billion. This region benefited from the appreciation of the euro (10%) and Swiss
franc (8%) against the US dollar, which was partially offset by the effects of several divestments closed in 2003.
Adjusted for these factors, Continental Europe, in total, showed a slight increase in premiums.

In Switzerland, gross written premiums and policy fees increased by 6% adjusted for exchange rate movements
and the intra-segment transfer of certain business in 2004. This increase was largely attributable to rate increases
in the health and automobile lines of business. In Germany, our largest market within Continental Europe,
gross written premiums and policy fees decreased by 2% in local currency, reflecting the reduction in new
business mainly in the automobile line of business following the tightening of our underwriting standards.
Spain experienced a 10% increase in gross written premiums and policy fees in local currency. The growth
was most significant in the automobile, third-party liability and fire lines of business. Gross written premiums and
policy fees in Italy increased by 7% in local currency driven by the growth in the automobile line of business.
Finally, CEC experienced a 8% increase in gross written premiums and policy fees in local currency and after
adjusting for intra-region transactions and divestments. 

The growth in net earned premiums of 8% to USD 9.2 billion slightly outpaced the increase in gross written
premiums and policy fees in this region, benefiting from the growth in net written premiums in 2003 earned as
revenue in 2004 and from a reduction in premiums ceded as reinsurance.

Net underwriting result and 
combined ratio by largest markets Net underwriting result Combined ratio
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change 2004 2003 Change

Total Continental Europe 550 140 293% 94.0% 98.3% 4.3 pts

Switzerland 46 (75) nm 97.2% 104.6% 7.4 pts

Germany 114 91 25% 94.5% 95.1% 0.6 pts

Spain 66 20 230% 92.5% 97.8% 5.3 pts

Italy 99 45 120% 92.5% 95.7% 3.2 pts

CEC 150 71 111% 92.0% 95.6% 3.6 pts

The net underwriting result for Continental Europe almost quadrupled to USD 550 million for the year 2004.
Each of our largest markets contributed to the improvement in the technical insurance result.The combined
ratio improved by 4.3 percentage points to 94.0%.

In Switzerland, the underwriting result improved from a loss of USD 75 million in 2003 to a positive technical
result of USD 46 million in 2004. We have benefited from the tightened underwriting standards associated with
the profit improvement initiatives, partially offset by losses from the large hailstorms in July and August 2004.
Germany’s net underwriting result increased by 25% mainly due to ongoing realization of cost saving initiatives
and lower frequency of claims. Spain benefited from the absence of large claims, lower frequency of claims
and lower average losses, as well as the positive prior year loss development resulting in a significant
improvement in the underwriting result.The positive development of Italy’s net underwriting result was mainly
the result of achieved cost savings. CEC’s net underwriting result more than doubled reflecting the improved losses
resulting from strict underwriting policy and favorable loss development.

Overall, the loss ratio improved by 3.5 percentage points to 71.1% for 2004 from 74.6% in the prior year.
Total net technical expenses increased by 5% to USD 2.1 billion, at a lower rate than net earned premiums,
reflecting the impact of the cost savings and profit improvement initiatives implemented across the region.
This resulted in an improvement in the expense ratio by 0.8 percentage point to 22.9%.

Segmental Financial Analysis
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General Insurance – UKISA

UKISA – highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross written premiums and policy fees 6,509 6,314 3%

Net earned premiums and policy fees 5,674 4,821 18%

Total benefits, losses and expenses 5,295 4,915 8%

Net underwriting result 691 125 453%

Business operating profit 1,112 441 152%

Net income 761 286 166%

Loss ratio 65.2% 74.1% 8.9 pts

Expense ratio1 22.6% 23.4% 0.8 pts

Combined ratio 87.8% 97.5% 9.7 pts
1 Including policyholder dividends and participation in profits.

Business operating profit more than doubled to USD1.1 billion in 2004 driven by the improved underwriting
result and an increase in net investment income following positive cash flow generation in both 2003 and 2004.

UKISA recorded an increase of USD 475 million in net income to USD 761 million in 2004 driven by the same
factors as business operating profit.

The region experienced a USD195 million, or 3%, increase in gross written premiums and policy fees to
USD 6.5 billion for 2004, benefiting from the appreciation of the British pound sterling (12%) in the UK, the euro
(10%) in Ireland and the rand (17%) in South Africa against the US dollar. Excluding exchange rate movements,
gross written premiums and policy fees decreased by 8%.The decrease predominantly reflects reductions
in fronted business although this has been partially offset by positive development in personal lines. Despite
increasing competition, the region experienced stable rates compared to 2003 reflecting our adherence to
rigorous underwriting standards.

Net earned premiums increased by USD 853 million, or 18%, to USD 5.7 billion for 2004. Excluding exchange
rate movements, the increase was 5%.The rate and volume increases in written premiums experienced in the
prior year have flowed through to earned premiums in 2004.

The net underwriting result increased by USD 566 million to USD 691 million in 2004, with the combined ratio
improving by 9.7 percentage points to 87.8%. Insurance benefits and losses increased by 4% (–7% in local
currency), or USD129 million, at a significantly lower growth rate than net earned premiums, to USD 3.7 billion
for 2004.This development reflected favorable loss experience and net prior year reserve redundancies resulting
in an improvement of the loss ratio to 65.2% for 2004.This region recorded USD 42 million of tsunami costs.
Net technical expenses also increased at a lower growth rate than net earned premiums due to a continued
focus on expense reduction resulting in an improvement in the expense ratio of 0.8 percentage point to 22.6%
in 2004.

General Insurance – Rest of the World

Rest of the World – highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross written premiums and policy fees 2,201 2,140 3%

Net earned premiums and policy fees 1,465 1,238 18%

Total benefits, losses and expenses 1,415 1,176 20%

Net underwriting result 95 82 16%

Business operating profit 180 150 20%

Net income 145 105 38%

Loss ratio 57.4% 56.1% (1.3 pts)

Expense ratio1 36.1% 37.3% 1.2 pts

Combined ratio 93.5% 93.4% (0.1 pts)
1 Including policyholder dividends and participation in profits.

The improvement in business operating profit by USD 30 million, or 20%, to USD 180 million in 2004 was
driven by the improved underwriting result and higher investment income.

Net income increased by 38% to USD145 million in 2004. Besides the factors that impacted business operating
profit, net income benefited from higher net capital gains on investments.
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Gross written premiums and policy fees increased by 3% to USD 2.2 billion in 2004.The largest increases
in gross written premiums and policy fees were experienced in Australia, Japan and Venezuela. In Venezuela, we
recorded strong growth in local currency benefiting particularly from sales in the automobile line of business.
The Australian dollar appreciated 13% and the Japanese yen 7% against the US dollar, which also contributed to
the overall reported growth in gross written premiums and policy fees expressed in US dollars.

The increase in net earned premiums to USD1.5 billion represented an improvement of USD 227 million,
or 18%, compared with USD1.2 billion in 2003.This development was significantly above the growth rate of
gross written premiums and was mainly driven by changes in our ceded reinsurance arrangements, which
led to higher retention of premiums particularly in Taiwan, Venezuela and Mexico.

The net underwriting result increased to USD 95 million for 2004 compared with USD 82 million in 2003
with positive contributions from most of our businesses in this region.The combined ratio increased slightly
by 0.1 percentage point to 93.5% for 2004.

Insurance benefits and losses increased by 21% to USD 842 million in 2004.The loss ratio increased
by 1.3 percentage points to 57.4% for 2004 mainly caused by the extraordinary typhoon losses in Japan and
the December tsunami costs partially offset by favorable claims experience elsewhere, particularly in
Australia and Taiwan.The expense ratio improved by 1.2 percentage points to 36.1% in 2004 reflecting the
strict financial discipline instilled in our businesses in this region.

General Insurance – Centrally Managed Businesses
The use of reinsurance, both internally and externally, is a key component of the Group’s risk mitigation and
capital management strategies. Our Centrally Managed Businesses region includes internal reinsurance programs
and businesses in run-off.

Centrally Managed Businesses – highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross written premiums and policy fees 470 796 (41%)

Net earned premiums and policy fees 244 400 (39%)

Total benefits, losses and expenses 474 315 50%

Net underwriting result (137) 92 nm

Business operating profit 25 173 (86%)

Net income 60 260 (77%)

Business operating profit declined from USD173 million in 2003 to USD 25 million in 2004 and net income
to USD 60 million for 2004 as compared with USD 260 million in 2003 substantially affected by our operations in
run-off.

The USD 326 million, or 41%, decrease in gross written premiums and policy fees to USD 470 million is
primarily the consequence of the gradual transfer, starting in 2003, of our intra-group reinsurance transactions
to the regions that wrote the underlying premiums as well as further optimization of our reinsurance purchasing.
This development was partially offset by businesses put into run-off during 2004, which were allocated to
Centrally Managed Businesses and were still earning residual premiums.

Segmental Financial Analysis
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Operational review

Financial review

Life Insurance
In 2004, we saw the first rewards from our continuing efforts to strengthen the Life Insurance result. We made
good progress in refocusing our business portfolio, redefining our business model, rebalancing our product
portfolio, de-risking our balance sheet and optimizing our expense base.These efforts are now being reflected in
our business results. Our business operating profit rose 24% to USD1.1 billion.The profitability of new business,
as measured by the new business profit margin, further improved to 11.4% in 2004, up from 9.0% for 2003.
The operating return on the embedded value of our life business was 10.8% within our target range of 10–12%.
And our refocused product range is gaining acceptance in the marketplace, with total new business measured
by annual premiums equivalent (APE) up by 15% after adjusting for divestments and discontinued business,
the redesign of the Swiss group pension business model by the partial transfer to an external foundation and
foreign exchange movements.

Since 2002, we have divested numerous life businesses to focus on profitable growth in our key markets. We
are making major changes to our business model in Switzerland and in the UK. In Switzerland we restructured
our group pension model, which started positively due to favorable capital markets in 2004. In the UK we
are consolidating our remaining life portfolios into a single entity, permitting further operating and commercial
synergies. We are reconstituting our distribution unit, now renamed Openwork, in partnership with
our franchisees. Openwork will sell products manufactured by Zurich and other selected partners, to take
full advantage of new flexibility permitted by UK regulation. The value realized by Openwork will be shared
between Zurich and its franchise partners, who have shown very strong support for the new model.

We made further progress in reducing expenses with administrative and other operating expenses declining 19%
over 2003 levels. In 2004, we committed to a wide range of initiatives impacting both revenues and expenses
designed to increase our business operating profit by USD 280 million, a target we exceeded by 25%. We have
refocused our product mix, concentrating on protection and lump sum savings, especially unit-linked business,
and de-emphasizing guaranteed products or those with low margins. Our new product range is gaining traction
in the marketplace. Our innovative products and service levels are being recognized with Germany, Ireland and
the UK all receiving awards in the closing months of 2004. We took full advantage of an opportunity in Germany,
where an impending tax change has led to exceptional demand for savings products. Our sales rose 54% (28%
in local currency) to USD 794 million APE, with especially strong growth through our Deutsche Bank channel. Our
IFA channel in the UK also grew strongly, and total new business premiums in the UK rose 38% (24% in local
currency) to USD 4.7 billion. We also had strong growth at Farmers New World Life and in Italy.

Our Zurich Way initiatives will enable us to build on this momentum. Our Zurich Way Sales Excellence program
aims to improve the productivity of our tied agents. Also under The Zurich Way, we are looking at further
opportunities for efficiencies and cost savings. And we will continue to develop innovative products focused in
market niches where we have competitive advantage. Despite the encouraging progress we face continuing
challenges in the future. Our markets are highly competitive with margins under pressure. Our lack of scale in
certain markets remains a concern as does increasing regulatory focus on our industry. Nonetheless we believe
we have laid solid foundations for the future.

The adoption of the new accounting standard (SOP 03-01), which affected mainly the Life Insurance business,
resulted in a restatement of 2003 comparative figures.The main impacts of this restatement were on
North America Consumer and UKISA.The impact of new accounting standards is set out in note 3 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements and in the Group Financial Review.

Life Insurance – highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross written premiums, policy fees and insurance deposits 19,272 20,163 (4%)

Gross written premiums and policy fees 10,979 11,625 (6%)

Net investment income 6,224 5,883 6%

Net capital gains on investments and impairments 4,525 4,380 3%

Net gain on divestments of businesses 37 427 (91%)

Total benefits, losses and expenses 20,556 20,969 (2%)

Business operating profit 1,063 856 24%

Net income 873 1,148 (24%)

Business operating profit and 
net income by geographic region Business operating profit Net income
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change 2004 2003 Change

North America Consumer 235 245 (4%) 159 56 184%

Continental Europe 355 294 21% 323 482 (33%)

UKISA 402 271 48% 337 564 (40%)

Rest of the World 71 46 54% 54 46 17%

Total 1,063 856 24% 873 1,148 (24%)
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Life Insurance achieved an increase in business operating profit of USD 207 million, or 24%, to USD 1.1 billion
compared with USD 856 million for 2003. UKISA and Continental Europe recorded the largest increase, partially
offset by lower business operating profit in North America Consumer.

Net income decreased by USD 275 million, or 24%, from USD 1.1 billion in 2003 to USD 873 million for 2004
mainly due to higher net gain on divestments of businesses in 2003. Excluding the after-tax gain on divestments,
net income increased by USD 123 million, or 17%.

Breakdown of premiums Gross written premiums Total GWP and 
by geographic region and policy fees (GWP) Insurance deposits insurance deposits
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

North America Consumer 568 1,029 547 1,405 1,115 2,434

Continental Europe 7,566 8,215 1,532 1,575 9,098 9,790

UKISA 2,224 1,684 5,640 4,887 7,864 6,571

Rest of the World 633 711 574 670 1,207 1,381

Eliminations (12) (14) – 1 (12) (13)

Total 10,979 11,625 8,293 8,538 19,272 20,163

Gross written premiums and policy fees decreased by USD 646 million, or 6% (–13% in local currency), from
USD11.6 billion for 2003 to USD11.0 billion in 2004.This decrease was due to the sale of certain life operations
in the second half of 2003, particularly Zurich Life US and Zurich Life UK, as well as the redesign of Switzerland’s
group pension business model which has been partially transferred to an external foundation. Excluding these
factors and exchange rate movements, premiums increased by 3%.

Insurance deposits decreased by USD 245 million, or 3% (–12% in local currency), from USD 8.5 billion
to USD 8.3 billion in 2004.This decrease arose from divestments in our North America Consumer operations
and the transfer of Kemper Investors Life Insurance Company (Kemper Investors) to the Other Businesses
segment. In UKISA, growth in insurance deposits was driven by an increase in investment bond product sales,
whereas the decrease in the Rest of the World region was mainly attributable to the discontinued sales of annuity
products in Japan.

Total benefits, losses and expenses decreased by USD 413 million, or 2% (–11% in local currency), from
USD 21.0 billion in 2003 to USD 20.6 billion in 2004.This decrease was driven by the reduction in insurance
benefits and losses in Switzerland related to the redesign of the group pension business model and to
the divestment of businesses in other parts of the world.This development was partially offset by increased
policyholder dividends and participation in profits mainly due to improved investment results.

Shareholders’ Intangibles and Recoverability
Although not a measure of current profitability, an important factor to consider when evaluating the sustainability
of Life Insurance earnings is the recoverability of deferred policy acquisition costs (DAC) and other intangibles
that have been capitalized.The following table sets out the amount of shareholders’ intangibles to be recovered.

Shareholders’ intangibles and recoverability
in USD billions, as of December 31 2004 2003

DAC asset included in Life Insurance segment balance sheet 11.0 9.6

Present value of future profits (linked to acquisitions) and other intangible assets 1.1 1.2

Deferred front-end fees liability (3.5) (3.0)

Investments, less reserves for Life Insurance where the investment risk is carried 
by the policyholders (1.1) (1.3)

Policyholders share of DAC and other intangibles (2.5) (2.1)

Tax deductions on intangibles (1.5) (1.3)

Net shareholders’ intangibles after tax to be recovered from future earnings 3.5 3.1

DAC consists of the costs of acquiring new business, including commissions, underwriting and policy issue
expenses, which vary with and are directly related to the production of new business.The present value
of future profits is the discounted value of the profit on acquired insurance contracts to be amortized over the
expected life of these contracts.These are defined in note 2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Some charges assessed against policyholders’ balances have been deferred as unearned revenue (“deferred 
front-end fees”) and will be recognized in income over the period for which benefits accrue, using similar
assumptions as those used to amortize DAC.

Segmental Financial Analysis
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Certain life insurance policies are established to meet specific investment objectives of policyholders who bear
the investment risk. In these cases, investment income and investment gains and losses accrue directly to those
policyholders. Under the Group’s IFRS accounting policies, the benefit of surrender charges cannot be reflected
in the liability for policyholder benefits and hence a mismatch arises between invested assets and reserves for
those life insurance contracts where the investment risk is carried by the policyholder.

Both of these amounts have been considered when assessing the recoverability of DAC and other intangible
assets.

Embedded Value Results
Embedded value highlights are set out below. Further details are set out in the Embedded Value section which
follows the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Embedded Value – highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross new business annual premiums equivalent (APE) 2,403 2,134 13%

New business profit, after tax 273 192 42%

New business profit margin (as % of APE) 11.4% 9.0% 2.4 pts

Embedded value total operating profit, after tax 1,117 1,059 5%

Embedded value operating return, after tax 10.8% 10.5% 0.3 pts

Embedded value profit, after tax 1,448 928 56%

Embedded value return, after tax 14.0% 9.2% 4.8 pts

Expected return 8.1% 8.1% –

Gross new business premiums, measured on an annual equivalent (APE) basis (new annual premiums plus
10% of single premiums) increased by USD 269 million to USD 2.4 billion. In local currency APE decreased by
2% compared with 2003, which was largely a result of certain life company divestments. Adjusted for businesses
divested and discontinued in 2003 and 2004, and the redesign of the group pension model in Switzerland, APE
increased by 15% in local currency. This improvement can be attributed to the effect of higher volumes in
Continental Europe and UKISA. 

New business profit, after tax, contributed USD 273 million to embedded value operating profit, after tax, an
increase of USD 81 million compared with 2003. In local currency the increase in new business profit was 27%,
predominantly due to higher sales and expense optimizations in our businesses in Germany. This improvement
corresponds to an increase of 2.4 percentage points in new business profit margin to 11.4% for the year 2004
from 9.0% for the year 2003.

Embedded value operating profit, after tax, was USD 1.1 billion corresponding to a 10.8% operating return
on embedded value in 2004.This was 2.7 percentage points above the expected return of 8.1% for the period
driven by the positive contribution from the value of the new business written. 

A positive economic variance of USD 331 million was experienced in 2004.This result was primarily due to a
better than expected investment performance, particularly in Switzerland. In addition clarification from
the Swiss regulator on certain aspects of the implementation of the legal quote legislation resulted in a less severe
shareholder impact than assumed in previous embedded value calculations. Overall, this resulted in a total
embedded value profit, after tax, of USD 1.4 billion which corresponded to a total embedded value return,
after tax, of 14.0% (5.9 percentage points above the expected return for 2004 of 8.1%).

Life Insurance – North America Consumer

North America Consumer – highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross written premiums, policy fees and insurance deposits 1,115 2,434 (54%)

Gross written premiums and policy fees 568 1,029 (45%)

Net investment income 359 584 (39%)

Net capital gains on investments and impairments 2 71 nm

Total benefits, losses and expenses 559 1,040 (46%)

Business operating profit 235 245 (4%)

Net income 159 56 184%

The divestment of Zurich Life US in the third quarter of 2003 affected the underlying performance of this
region which substantially explains all of the above variances. In addition, Kemper Investors is now included in
Other Businesses.
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Business operating profit decreased by USD10 million, or 4%, from USD 245 million in 2003 to USD 235 million
for 2004. Net income increased by USD 103 million, or 184%, from a profit of USD 56 million in 2003 to
USD159 million in 2004 due to the divestment of Zurich Life US which negatively influenced 2003 net income of
North America Consumer. Adjusting for the effect of the after-tax loss on divestment, net income remained
stable. Operating performance has been driven by stronger investment performance compared to 2003 as well as
growth in universal life and traditional business largely offset by higher amortization of deferred policy acquisition
costs.

Excluding the impact of divestment and reclassification, the region showed an increase in gross written
premiums and policy fees of USD 38 million.This favorable development was driven by increases in traditional
renewal products and in policy fees from universal life insurance. Insurance deposits experienced a decrease of
4% in 2004 on a comparable basis.This was primarily a result of lower fixed annuity sales due to the lower
interest rate environment.

Total benefits, losses and expenses decreased by USD 481 million, or 46%, from USD1.0 billion in 2003 to
USD 559 million in 2004 which is in line with the decrease in premiums following the divestment and
reclassification in 2003. Insurance benefits and losses, excluding the divestment and reclassification, remained
stable at USD 221 million. Underwriting and acquisition expenses were USD 30 million higher than in 2003
on a comparable basis due to higher gross margins in 2004 leading to correspondingly higher amortizations in
deferred policy acquisition costs.

North America Consumer – embedded value highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross new business annual premiums equivalent (APE) 120 229 (48%)

New business profit, after tax 74 71 4%

Embedded value total operating profit, after tax 330 318 4%

Embedded value operating return, after tax 15.0% 10.0% 5.0 pts

In North America Consumer sales dropped by 48% due primarily to the divestment of Zurich Life US which
contributed USD111 million to APE in 2003. Excluding the effect of the divestment, APE production for
2004 increased by 2% to USD120 million compared with 2003 following higher sales volume of level term
products.

The new business profit, after tax, was USD 74 million in 2004, an increase of USD 3 million over 2003.

Embedded value operating profit, after tax, for the year 2004 was USD 330 million resulting from the
strong contribution from new business profit, changes in assets to better match liabilities and favorable
mortality experience.The operating profit corresponds to an operating return on embedded value for
the period of 15.0%.

Life Insurance – Continental Europe
Continental Europe is our largest region in Life Insurance. Key financial information is provided for our most
significant markets, namely Germany, Switzerland, Italy and Spain.

Continental Europe – highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross written premiums, policy fees and insurance deposits 9,098 9,790 (7%)

Gross written premiums and policy fees 7,566 8,215 (8%)

Net investment income 2,830 2,834 0%

Net capital gains / (losses) on investments and impairments 171 (289) nm

Total benefits, losses and expenses 10,388 10,581 (2%)

Business operating profit 355 294 21%

Net income 323 482 (33%)

Business operating profit increased by USD 61million, or 21%, from USD 294 million in 2003 to USD 355 million
for 2004. Net income decreased by USD159 million, or 33%, from USD 482 million in 2003 to USD 323 million
in 2004.The improved result for our operations in Germany, Italy and Spain partially offset the decline of net income
in Switzerland. Additionally, in 2003 after-tax gains on divestments of USD113 million were realized relating to
the sale of certain life businesses.

Segmental Financial Analysis
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Breakdown of premiums Gross written premiums Total GWP and 
by market and policy fees (GWP) Insurance deposits insurance deposits
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Germany 3,762 3,746 703 640 4,465 4,386

Switzerland 2,796 3,360 20 29 2,816 3,389

Italy 516 428 474 417 990 845

Spain 210 196 303 296 513 492

Rest of Europe 282 485 32 193 314 678

Total 7,566 8,215 1,532 1,575 9,098 9,790

Continental Europe experienced a decrease in gross written premiums and policy fees of USD 649 million,
or 8% (16% in local currency), from USD 8.2 billion in 2003 to USD 7.6 billion in 2004.This change was
mainly caused by the redesign of the group pension business model in Switzerland as well as the sale of
certain businesses in 2003 and during 2004, partially offset by favorable exchange rate movements. Insurance
deposits decreased by USD 43 million, or 3%, from USD1.6 billion in 2003 to USD1.5 billion for 2004
(–11% in local currency).

In Germany, gross written premiums and policy fees decreased by 9% in local currency, mainly due to decreases
in single premiums products following the close of underperforming distribution channels, whereas insurance
deposits were at the same level as last year in local currency. A change in product mix in favor of unit-linked
business gained momentum in the fourth quarter of 2004. Switzerland’s gross written premiums and policy fees
decreased by USD 564 million, or 17% (–23% in local currency), largely due to the partial transfer of the group
pension business to an external foundation. In individual life business, Switzerland experienced only a small
decrease impacted by a sales rally in 2003, in anticipation of the technical interest rate being lowered. In Italy,
gross written premiums and policy fees demonstrated a significant increase of 10% in local currency arising
from the growth in sales of single premium products through the agent channel. The increase in insurance
deposits (4% in local currency) was driven by stronger sales in index products. Spain recorded a slight decrease
in gross written premiums and policy fees in local currency of 2% mainly due to lower sales of unit-linked and
group savings products.

Total benefits, losses and expenses decreased by USD193 million, or 2% (–10% in local currency), from
USD10.6 billion in 2003 to USD10.4 billion in 2004. Insurance benefits and losses decreased by 10% to
USD 8.0 billion, mainly due to the decrease in Switzerland of 25% in local currency resulting from the
redesign of the group pension business model. Policyholder dividends and participation in profits increased
by USD 616 million from USD187 million in 2003 to USD 803 million in 2004, primarily attributable to Germany
where the improvement in net capital gains on investments and impairments in 2004 was shared with
policyholders after the loss participation in 2003. Underwriting and policy acquisition costs increased by USD
76 million, or 16% (6% in local currency) to USD 539 million for 2004 compared to USD 463 million in 2003. In
Germany, higher amounts of deferred policy acquisition costs were amortized in 2004. Administration and
other operating expenses were cut by USD 63 million, or 13% (20% in local currency), from USD 499 million in
2003 to USD 436 million in 2004.

Continental Europe – embedded value highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross new business annual premiums equivalent (APE) 1,059 799 33%

New business profit, after tax 134 63 113%

Embedded value total operating profit, after tax 419 380 10%

Embedded value operating return, after tax 23.8% 19.6% 4.2 pts

APE and new business profit by market APE New business profit, after tax
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change 2004 2003 Change

Germany 794 517 54% 95 38 150%

Switzerland 115 134 (14%) 11 11 0%

Italy 81 62 31% 15 10 50%

Spain 47 39 21% 11 6 83%

Rest of Europe 22 47 (53%) 2 (2) nm

Gross new business premiums (APE) for 2004 were USD1.1 billion, an increase of 11% in local currency,
due to the high sales volumes in Germany, which more than offset the impact of divestments of various
businesses during 2003, and the reduction in Switzerland as a consequence of the redesign of the Swiss group
pension business model.
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Continental Europe’s new business profit, after tax, increased by USD 71 million to USD134 million for 2004.
This result reflects the increased sales volumes combined with expense optimizations in Germany, as well as
increased profitability in other countries, particularly in Italy and Spain.

Embedded value operating profit, after tax, increased by USD 39 million to USD 419 million in 2004,
corresponding to an operating return of 23.8%.The operating return arises from the contribution of new
business during 2004 combined with a number of effects in Germany, including the impact of expense
optimizations and an increase in the shareholders’ share of future profits. These effects were partially offset
by the negative impact of changes in asset mix to better match liabilities.

Life Insurance – UKISA

UKISA – highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross written premiums, policy fees and insurance deposits 7,864 6,571 20%

Gross written premiums and policy fees 2,224 1,684 32%

Net investment income 2,903 2,319 25%

Net capital gains on investments and impairments 4,305 4,580 (6%)

Net gain on divestments of businesses 22 454 (95%)

Total benefits, losses and expenses 8,839 8,488 4%

Business operating profit 402 271 48%

Net income 337 564 (40%)

Business operating profit significantly increased by USD131 million, or 48%, from USD 271 million for 2003
to USD 402 million in 2004 mainly due to improved investment returns, reduced expenses and the favorable
effect of exchange rate movements. Net income decreased by USD 227 million, or 40%, from USD 564 million in
2003 to USD 337 million in 2004. In 2003, net income included USD 416 million of after-tax gains arising from
divestments of businesses compared to USD 20 million in 2004. After excluding this impact net income improved
by USD169 million in 2004.

Gross written premiums and policy fees increased by USD 540 million, or 32%, to USD 2.2 billion in 2004
compared with USD1.7 billion in 2003.This corresponds to an increase of 18% in local currency, which was
largely driven by stock market movements and their corresponding impact on the change in deferred front-end
fees and related items. 

Insurance deposits increased by USD 753 million or 15% (3% in local currency) from USD 4.9 billion in 2003 to
USD 5.6 billion in 2004 reflecting higher volume of sales of our investment bond products.

Total benefits, losses and expenses increased by USD 351 million, or 4%, from USD 8.5 billion in 2003 to
USD 8.8 billion for 2004. Insurance benefits and losses slightly decreased by USD 9 million, or 1%, but more
significantly by13% in local currency.This decrease was primarily due to the sale of Zurich Life UK and reserve
releases in the closed books, offset by higher reserves due to increased business volumes and significant increases
in complaints provisions following guidance from the Financial Services Authority. Policyholder dividends and
participation in profits rose by USD 283 million, or 5%, to USD 5.9 billion for 2004.The implementation of the
accounting standard (SOP 03-01) created greater volatility in policyholder dividends reflecting the movements in
investment income and net realized capital gains attributable to policyholders now included in our total
investment result. Underwriting and policy acquisition costs rose by USD123 million, or 25% (11% in local
currency), to USD 619 million for 2004, driven by an increase in the amount of deferred policy acquisition cost
amortization.This increase was partially offset by the higher amount of front-end fees included in gross written
premiums. Administrative and other operating expenses decreased by 21% (–29% in local currency) to USD
551 million in 2004 due to divestments of businesses in 2003. After excluding the Threadneedle and Zurich Life
UK divestment, administrative and other operating expenses increased due to internal restructuring projects.

UKISA – embedded value highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross new business annual premiums equivalent (APE) 1,017 863 18%

New business profit, after tax 59 59 0%

Embedded value total operating profit, after tax 264 321 (18%)

Embedded value operating return, after tax 4.7% 7.4% (2.7 pts)

UKISA saw strong new business growth with APE reaching USD1.0 billion, an increase of USD154 million over
2003, corresponding to an increase in local currency of 5%. This was primarily the result of a large increase
in single premium sales due to strong sales of investment bond products in Zurich Assurance through the IFA
network.

Segmental Financial Analysis
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New business profit, after tax, remained stable at USD 59 million. The 2003 new business profit included
value generated by the life business distribution channel but arising in a non-insurance subsidiary. Profits from this
source are not included in the 2004 new business profit. Excluding this effect, new business profit in 2003 was
USD 39 million. 

An operating return on embedded value of 4.7%, corresponding to an operating profit, after tax,
of USD 264 million, has been achieved for 2004. An increase in provisions for settling customer complaints
relating to past sales of mortgage endowment and other contracts has negatively impacted the operating profit
by USD 208 million. Without this effect, the after-tax operating return was 8.4%.

Life Insurance – Rest of the World

Rest of the World – highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross written premiums, policy fees and insurance deposits 1,207 1,381 (13%)

Gross written premiums and policy fees 633 711 (11%)

Net investment income 132 146 (10%)

Net capital gains on investments and impairments 47 18 161%

Net (loss)/gain on divestments of businesses (15) 2 nm

Total benefits, losses and expenses 770 862 (11%)

Business operating profit 71 46 54%

Net income 54 46 17%

Business operating profit improved by USD 25 million, or 54%, from USD 46 million in 2003 to USD 71 million
in 2004.This positive development is attributable to the withdrawal in 2004 of unprofitable annuity products
in Japan and investment products in Taiwan. Net income increased by USD 8 million, or 17%, to USD 54 million in
2004.The region recorded USD 29 million higher net capital gains on investments mainly in Australia, which were
more than offset by a decrease of USD17 million of gain on divestments of businesses as well as USD 31 million
higher income tax expenses in 2004.

Gross written premiums and policy fees decreased by USD 78 million, or 11% (–16% in local currency), from
USD 711 million in 2003 to USD 633 million in 2004, due to the divestments of certain life businesses in this
region in 2003.The divestment of our life portfolio in Taiwan in the fourth quarter 2004 also contributed to the
lower volume.

The region recorded a decrease of USD 96 million, or 14% (–22% in local currency), in insurance deposits
from USD 670 million in 2003 to USD 574 million in 2004 which arose from cessation of annuity business in
Japan, partially offset by a strong increase of 52% in the insurance deposit business in Australia, our largest
remaining life business in this region.

Total benefits, losses and expenses reduced by USD 92 million, or 11%, from USD 862 million in 2003 to
USD 770 million for 2004, mainly as a result of our portfolio divestment in Taiwan in 2004. 

Rest of the World – embedded value highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross new business annual premiums equivalent (APE) 207 243 (15%)

New business profit, after tax 6 (1) nm

Embedded value total operating profit, after tax 104 40 160%

Embedded value operating return, after tax 13.7% 5.9% 7.8 pts

Gross new business premiums (APE) for Rest of the World reduced by USD 36 million or 15% (–28% in local
currency), to USD 207 million in 2004, mainly because significant sales of bancassurance products in one of our
Asia Pacific businesses during 2003 were not repeated in 2004.

For 2004, new business profit, after tax, was USD 6 million, an improvement of USD 7 million from a loss of
USD 1 million in 2003. This positive development is due to an increased volume of more profitable products in
Asia Pacific, particularly in Hong Kong. 

Embedded value operating profit, after tax, increased by USD 64 million, or 160%, to USD 104 million in
2004 yielding an after-tax operating return of 13.7% compared with 5.9% in 2003.
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Operational review

Financial review

Farmers Management Services
Farmers Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (FGI) provide non-claims related management services to the Farmers
Exchanges, prominent writers of personal lines and small commercial lines business in the US. While premiums are
written and claims are paid by the Farmers Exchanges, which we manage but do not own, FGI provides non-
claims related management services to the Farmers Exchanges and receives management fees for these services.

Farmers Management Services achieved strong results in 2004 with growing revenues and controlled expenses.
Numerous actions were taken to accelerate marketing momentum and drive revenue growth as a result of which
new business policies of the Farmers Exchanges grew by 13.1% in 2004.The introduction of more sophisticated
marketing and retention programs, such as customized mailings to over four million customers, contributed to
growth in every major line. A total of 1,770 agents were added (a net gain of nearly 600) and the average
production of full time agents increased by 5% over 2003. More structured and intensive training for agents was
also introduced through the launch of the University of Farmers and this contributed to a significant increase in
the success rate of new agents. A multi-year business process re-engineering effort was launched achieving a
7% employee productivity increase. Implementation of self-service tools and new technologies further aided cost
control, while our focus on customer experience increased customer satisfaction by 4.4 percentage points over
2003.

The Farmers Exchanges also had an outstanding year. Premium growth funded by the addition of USD 462 million
in organic surplus, fueled the steady growth in Farmers Management Services earnings. The all-lines combined
ratio of Farmers Exchanges improved by more than five percentage points year-over-year to 96.8%, despite the
four hurricanes in the US and the Caribbean.

In the fourth quarter, advertising expenditure and profiles were raised to increase brand awareness. In the
independent agent distribution channel, market management was consolidated and a new strategy and value
proposition was introduced.

Farmers Management Services – highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Management fees and other related revenue 1,985 1,885 5%

Management expenses and other related expenses 955 900 6%

Business operating profit 1,077 970 11%

Net income 686 604 14%

Gross operating margin 51.9% 52.3% (0.4 pts)

Gross written premiums of the Farmers Exchanges 14,189 13,833 3%

Gross earned premiums of the Farmers Exchanges 14,020 13,654 3%

Business operating profit increased by USD 107 million, or 11%, from USD 970 million for 2003 to
USD 1.1 billion for 2004, as a result of the growth in revenues, reflecting the continuing increase in premiums
earned by the Farmers Exchanges, as well as higher net investment income.

Net income of USD 686 million in 2004 was 14% higher than the USD 604 million in 2003 reflecting the
consistent growth in business operating profit. 

Management fees and other related revenue increased by USD 100 million, or 5%, from USD 1.9 billion in
2003 to USD 2.0 billion in 2004. This increase arises primarily from higher gross premiums earned by the Farmers
Exchanges. In 2004, gross earned premiums were USD 14.0 billion as compared with USD 13.7 billion in 2003.
Premiums from continuing lines of business grew by USD 495 million, or 4%, over 2003. This was largely
attributable to higher premiums in the specialty, commercial and fire lines of business of the Farmers Exchanges.
However, the decision by the Farmers Exchanges to exit the medical malpractice business reduced the overall
premium growth rate to 3%. Furthermore, the motor line of business experienced higher fees than in 2003 as a
result of revisions to the fee structure effective from January 2004. Additionally, other revenues such as Flexabill
service fees, fire inspection fees, service charges and membership fees, which are sensitive to premium levels,
also increased. 

Expenses were USD 55 million, or 6%, higher in 2004 compared with 2003. This increase was driven by
variable expenses related to growing revenues, as well as higher IT and employee benefit costs. As a result, the
gross operating margin of Farmers Management Services decreased by 0.4 percentage point to 51.9% for
2004, which is closer to our long-term historical margin of approximately 50%.

Segmental Financial Analysis
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Other Businesses
Our Other Businesses segment includes capital markets and banking activities and our Centre operations.
This segment also includes centrally managed general and life insurance operations. Certain of the business
operations in this segment were discontinued, divested or put into run-off in 2004 and 2003.

Other Businesses – highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Net earned premiums and policy fees 1,334 1,559 (14%)

Net investment result 1,004 1,234 (19%)

Net gain on divestments of businesses 32 13 146%

Insurance benefits and losses, including policyholder dividends 1,181 2,419 (51%)

Other operating and administrative expenses 387 618 (37%)

Business operating profit / (loss) 137 (958) nm

Net income/ (loss) 96 (1,012) nm

Due to the relative importance of Centre to the Other Businesses segment, key financial data for Centre is
shown below. 

Centre and other operations Centre Other operations
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003

Net earned premiums and policy fees 1,112 1,337 222 222

Net investment result 457 623 547 611

Insurance benefits and losses, including policyholder dividends 858 2,088 323 331

Business operating profit / (loss) 58 (882) 79 (76)

Net income/ (loss) 9 (818) 87 (194)

Centre significantly improved its business operating profit by USD 940 million from a net loss of USD 882 million
in 2003 to a net profit of USD 58 million in 2004. Net income also increased substantially by USD 827 million to a
net income of USD 9 million in 2004 compared with a net loss of USD 818 million in 2003, impacted by the
USD1.1 billion provisions for reserve strengthening, write down of certain assets and other provisions. Centre
continues actively to pursue commutation and asset disposal opportunities.The successful commutation of several
deals in 2004 had a positive impact on the net results. Centre’s profitability is also affected by movements in
financial markets because of the nature of its business, specifically the classification as trading of investments
supporting life, health and disability insurance liabilities, and because of the restructure of its investment
portfolio. Consequently, the net investment result reduced by USD166 million to USD 457million in 2004.

The wind-down of the Zurich Capital Markets (ZCM) business continues. As announced in July 2003, the Group
and BNP Paribas (BNPP) signed a framework agreement to transfer certain derivative transactions and credit
facilities and related assets of ZCM to BNPP. BNPP took over responsibility for servicing those transactions,
and certain ZCM employees were transferred to BNPP. Designated trades have been novated, unwound or
terminated. ZCM will continue to unwind its other business lines. ZCM recorded a net income of USD 93 million
for 2004 compared to a net loss of USD 206 million in 2003. This positive result is primarily driven by reduced
administrative and other expenses.

The other operations in this segment, including ZCM, recorded a business operating profit of USD 79 million
in 2004 compared to a loss of USD 76 million in 2003. Net income increased by USD 281 million to USD 87 million
in 2004.
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Segmental Financial Analysis

Corporate Center
The Corporate Center segment includes Group holding and financing companies, Corporate Center operations
and alternative investments.This segment also includes some Group internal reinsurance operations that are not
attributable to a specific segment but are managed on a global basis.

Corporate Center – highlights
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Total revenues 1,344 965 39%

Insurance benefits and losses, including policyholder dividends 35 7 nm

Interest expense 811 750 8%

Total benefits, losses and expenses 1,627 1,445 13%

Business operating profit / (loss) (514) (698) 26%

Net costs (495) (510) 3%

The loss recorded in Business operating profit for Corporate Center improved by USD 184 million over 2003 to
a loss of USD 514 million for 2004 from a loss of USD 698 million in 2003. Net costs have also improved,
decreasing by USD15 million to net costs of USD 495 million for 2004 as a result of controlling costs, combined
with the favorable effect of foreign exchange gains.

The increase in total revenues of USD 379 million was primarily attributable to an improved recovery for services
rendered to other segments. Additionally, net gain on divestments of businesses contributed USD 53 million to
this increase in total revenues at the Corporate Center.

Total benefits, losses and expenses increased by USD182 million in 2004. Administrative and other operating
expenses increased as a result of the centralization of certain IT services previously incurred by the business units
and of other services provided to local business operating units.



Notes 2004 2003

Revenues

Gross written premiums and policy fees 49,304 48,805

Less premiums ceded to reinsurers (7,625) (8,646)

Net written premiums and policy fees 41,679 40,159

Net change in reserves for unearned premiums 125 (562)

Net earned premiums and policy fees 41,804 39,597

Management fees 5 2,030 2,062

Net investment income 6 9,114 8,395

Net capital gains on investments and impairments 6 4,934 5,180

Net gain on divestments of businesses 4 88 351

Other income 1,708 1,623

Total revenues 59,678 57,208

Benefits, losses and expenses

Insurance benefits and losses, net of reinsurance 10 34,500 33,259

Policyholder dividends and participation in profits, net of reinsurance 10 7,014 6,045

Underwriting and policy acquisition costs, net of reinsurance 10 7,243 6,445

Administrative expense 4,035 4,188

Other operating expense 1,281 1,591

Amortization of intangible assets 17 448 436

Interest expense on debt 18 362 445

Interest credited to policyholders and other interest 1,009 1,188

Total benefits, losses and expenses 55,892 53,597

Net income before income taxes and minority interests 3,786 3,611

Income tax expense 12 (1,093) (1,496)

Net income applicable to minority interests (106) (106)

Net income 2,587 2,009

in USD

Basic earnings per share 21 18.01 14.14

Diluted earnings per share 21 17.88 14.04

in CHF

Basic earnings per share 21 22.34 19.00

Diluted earnings per share 21 22.18 18.86

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Assets Notes 2004 2003

Investments

Debt securities 130,512 119,032

Equity securities 58,740 52,322

Trading equity portfolios in capital markets and banking activities 2,773 4,303

Investments in associates 645 991

Other investments 41,530 33,422

Cash and cash equivalents 16,959 15,677

Total investments 6 251,159 225,747

Investments held on account and at risk of life insurance policyholders 7 24,189 21,980

Accrued investment income 2,614 2,570

Receivables 13 11,161 11,008

Reinsurance assets 14 23,004 22,670

Deposits made under assumed reinsurance contracts 3,312 3,608

Deferred policy acquisition costs 15 13,344 11,784

Fixed assets 16 2,116 2,306

Goodwill 17 744 779

Other intangible assets 17 2,590 2,794

Deferred tax assets 12 4,200 3,719

Derivative trading assets and other assets 3,515 3,976

Mortgage loans given as collateral 4,135 4,701

Total assets 346,083 317,642

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Liabilities, minority interests and shareholders’ equity Notes 2004 2003

Liabilities

Insurance reserves, gross 11 246,162 223,418

Reserve for premium refunds 847 943

Insurance reserves for life insurance where the investment risk is carried by policyholders 7 24,261 22,063

Deposits received under ceded reinsurance contracts 4,304 4,825

Obligation to repurchase securities 5,009 3,742

Deferred tax liabilities 12 6,076 5,450

Accrued liabilities 3,468 2,865

Deferred front-end fees 3,519 3,015

Debt related to capital markets and banking activities 18 3,880 5,961

Senior and subordinated debt 18 5,871 4,775

Other liabilities 19 15,524 15,981

Collateralized loans 4,135 4,701

Total liabilities 323,056 297,739

Minority interests 20 846 969

Shareholders’ equity 21

Preferred securities 1,096 1,096

Common stock 635 923

Treasury stock (1) (6)

Additional paid-in capital 10,288 10,208

Net unrealized gains on investments 6 1,075 862

Cumulative translation adjustment 840 152

Retained earnings 8,248 5,699

Common stockholders’ equity 21,085 17,838

Total shareholders’ equity 22,181 18,934

Total liabilities, minority interests and shareholders’ equity 346,083 317,642

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2004 2003

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income 2,587 2,009

Adjustments for:

Net capital (gains) on investments and impairments (4,934) (5,180)

Net (gain) on divestments of businesses (88) (351)

Equity in income of investments in associates (86) (90)

Depreciation and amortization 695 793

Other non-cash items 21 905

Changes in operational assets and liabilities:

Deferred policy acquisition costs (816) (612)

Reinsurance assets, net (708) 883

Deposits made under assumed reinsurance contracts 308 (939)

Receivables and payables (1,320) (692)

Insurance reserves, gross 11,481 15,567

Deferred income tax, net (136) 577

Net changes in other operational assets and liabilities 1,326 310

Net cash provided by operating activities 8,330 13,180

Cash flows from investing activities

Sales and maturities:

Debt securities 66,890 88,423

Equity securities 41,442 46,048

Other (primarily other investments and fixed assets) 9,036 9,382

Purchases:

Debt securities (75,116) (101,310)

Equity securities (38,285) (38,942)

Other (primarily other investments and fixed assets) (13,478) (12,001)

Investments in associates, net 106 50

Acquisitions of companies, net of cash acquired – (452)

Divestments of companies, net of cash balances 2,053 2,377

Dividends from associates 19 12

Net cash used in investing activities (7,333) (6,413)

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

66 Zurich Financial Services Group . Annual Report 2004



2004 2003

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from sale and repurchase agreements 954 (21)

Dividends paid to shareholders (38) (38)

Nominal value reduction of common stock (288) (105)

Redemption of preferred stock by subsidiaries (12) (655)

Issuance of debt 1,745 1,637

Payments on debt outstanding (2,759) (2,750)

Net cash used in financing activities (398) (1,932)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 683 809

Change in cash and cash equivalents 1,282 5,644

Cash and cash equivalents as of January1 (opening balance) 15,677 10,033

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31 16,959 15,677

Other supplementary cash flow information
in USD millions 2004 2003

Interest income received 7,075 6,822

Dividend income received 1,276 1,258

Interest expense paid (1,343) (1,007)

Income tax paid (891) (803)

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, cash and cash equivalents restricted as to use were USD 645 million and USD 782 million, respectively.
Cash and cash equivalents held for the benefit of policyholders in connection with unit-linked products amounted to USD 3,206 million and
USD 2,141 million, respectively.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:
in USD millions 2004 2003

Cash at bank and in hand 8,535 8,461

Cash equivalents 8,424 7,216

Balance as of December 31 16,959 15,677

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity
in USD millions, except number of shares, for the years ended December 31

Consolidated Financial Statements

Number of
common Preferred

shares issued securities

Balance as of December 31, 2002, as previously reported 144,006,955 1,096

Implementation of a new accounting standard1 – –

Balance as of December 31, 2002, restated 144,006,955 1,096

Change in net unrealized gains / (losses) on investments (excluding translation adjustments) – –

Translation adjustments – –

Change in net unrealized gains / (losses) on investments not recognized in the operating statement – –

Nominal value reduction of common stock – –

Share-based payment transactions – –

Treasury stock transactions – –

Net income – –

Dividends on preferred securities – –

Balance as of December 31, 2003 144,006,955 1,096

Balance as of December 31, 2003, as previously reported 144,006,955 1,096

Implementation of a new accounting standard1 – –

Balance as of December 31, 2003, restated 144,006,955 1,096

Change in net unrealized gains / (losses) on investments (excluding translation adjustments) – –

Transfer arising from initial application of “legal quote” legislation in Switzerland2 – –

Translation adjustments – –

Change in net unrealized gains / (losses) on investments not recognized in the operating statement – –

Nominal value reduction of common stock3 – –

Share-based payment transactions – –

Treasury stock transactions – –

Net income – –

Dividends on preferred securities – –

Balance as of December 31, 2004 144,006,955 1,096
1 Implementation of a new accounting standard as discussed in note 3, and as published in the Half Year Report 2004.
2 Transfer of net unrealized gains on investments to insurance reserves as “policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds” in connection with the initial application as of June 30, 2004 

of the new “legal quote” legislation in Switzerland as described in note 11.
3 Effective as of June 30, 2004, the share capital was reduced by a nominal value reduction from CHF 9 to CHF 6.50 per each registered share.The payment to shareholders was 

made on July1, 2004.

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Treasury Net
stock Additional unrealized Cumulative Total

Common (nominal paid-in gains/(losses) translation Retained shareholders’
stock value) capital on investments adjustment earnings equity

1,028 (14) 10,031 1,080 (484) 4,038 16,775

– – – 2 – (310) (308)

1,028 (14) 10,031 1,082 (484) 3,728 16,467

– – – (312) – – (312)

– – – 92 636 – 728

– – – (220) 636 – 416

(105) – – – – – (105)

– – 33 – – – 33

– 8 144 – – – 152

– – – – – 2,009 2,009

– – – – – (38) (38)

923 (6) 10,208 862 152 5,699 18,934

923 (6) 10,208 862 181 6,120 19,384

– – – – (29) (421) (450)

923 (6) 10,208 862 152 5,699 18,934

– – – 386 – – 386

– – – (226) – – (226)

– – – 53 688 – 741

– – – 213 688 – 901

(288) – – – – – (288)

– – 19 – – – 19

– 5 61 – – – 66

– – – – – 2,587 2,587

– – – – – (38) (38)

635 (1) 10,288 1,075 840 8,248 22,181
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors of Zurich Financial Services has authorized these consolidated financial statements for issue on February16, 2005.
These Financial Statements will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 19, 2005 for approval.

1. Basis of presentation

Zurich Financial Services and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are an insurance-based financial services provider with an international
network that focuses on chosen markets. Key markets are the United States, the United Kingdom and Continental Europe comprising
primarily Germany, Switzerland, Italy and Spain. Core businesses are General and Life Insurance. The Group also distributes non-insurance
products, such as mutual funds, mortgages and other financial services products, from selected third-party providers.

The holding company, Zurich Financial Services, is incorporated in Zurich, Switzerland. The Group operates through subsidiaries and
branch offices. The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law. IFRS does not contain guidelines governing the accounting treatment of certain
transactions including those that are specific to insurance products. When a specific topic is not addressed by the standards, the
IFRS Framework permits reference to another comprehensive body of accounting principles. In these cases, the Group typically refers to
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (US GAAP) for guidance.

Certain amounts recorded in the consolidated financial statements reflect estimates and assumptions made by management about
insurance liability reserves, investment valuations, interest rates and other factors. Significant estimates are discussed in the notes. Actual
results may differ from the estimates made.

A new accounting standard, discussed in note 3, resulted in restatement of 2003 consolidated financial statements. In addition, certain
reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts and segment disclosures to conform to the current year presentation. These
reclassifications have no effect on the previously reported net income.

Segment information
The Group is managed on a matrix basis, reflecting both line of business and geography. Accordingly, segment information is presented
in two formats. The primary format is based on the operating businesses of the Group and how they are strategically managed to offer
different products and services to specific customer groups. The Group’s primary segments are defined as follows:

General Insurance: General Insurance operations write substantially all lines of property and casualty business.

Life Insurance: Life Insurance operations offer a broad line of life insurance, annuity and investment-type policies to individuals and groups.

Farmers Management Services: Farmers Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“FGI”) provide non-claims related management services to the
Farmers Exchanges. The Farmers Exchanges operate in the US property and casualty insurance industry and consist of the Farmers Insurance
Exchange, Fire Insurance Exchange, Truck Insurance Exchange (each an “Exchange” and collectively, the “Exchanges”), their respective
subsidiaries, Farmers Texas County Mutual (“FTCM”), Foremost County Mutual Insurance Company and Foremost Lloyds of Texas. The
Farmers Exchanges are owned by the policyholders of the Exchanges, FTCM and Foremost County Mutual Insurance Company as well as the
underwriters of Foremost Lloyds of Texas. Accordingly, the Group has no ownership interest in the Farmers Exchanges. FGI receives a fee for
the management services provided which is based primarly on a percentage of the gross earned premiums of the Farmers Exchanges.

Other Businesses: Other Businesses is the combination of the activities described below. In general, such activities are not considered to
be core businesses, and certain of these business operations were discontinued, divested or put in run-off in 2004 and 2003.

Capital markets and banking activities consist primarily of Zurich Capital Markets which has a portfolio of hedge fund-based investment
vehicles, asset-based financing and credit structures, instruments to manage investment risk, customized strategies to structure or manage
financial assets, and administrative services for hedge funds and hedge fund investors.

Centre operations: Centre’s portfolio of business consists of property and casualty reinsurance, credit enhancement and life & health
business.

Centrally managed insurance operations: In 2004, the Group made some changes to the way it manages its business. As a result, the
Group manages certain general and life insurance operations on a central basis from its Corporate Center. Therefore, these operations
have been included within the Other Businesses segment, and total assets and liabilities of USD 20 billion have been moved from the Life
segment to the Other Businesses segment. Further, the risks and rewards of the transferred businesses differ from those contained
within the Life segment. In addition, Reinsurance-run-off, which is also centrally managed, reflects the results of the run-off of liabilities
that were retained and that were not transferred to Converium, the Group’s former reinsurance subsidiary, which was divested in 2001.

Corporate Center: Corporate Center includes our Group holding and financing companies, Corporate Center operations and alternative
investments. This segment also includes some Group internal reinsurance operations that are not attributable to a specific segment but are
managed on a global basis.
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The Group’s secondary format for segment information is geographic:

North America Corporate

North America Consumer

Continental Europe

UKISA includes United Kingdom, Ireland and Southern African operations.

Rest of the World

Centrally Managed Businesses

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. The Group
accounts for inter-segment revenues and transfers as if the transactions were with third parties at current market prices, with the exception
of realized capital gains, which are eliminated.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Consolidation principles
The Group’s consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities, equity, revenues, expenses and cash flows of Zurich Financial
Services and its subsidiaries. A subsidiary is an entity in which Zurich Financial Services owns, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the
outstanding voting rights, or which it otherwise has the power to control. The results of subsidiaries acquired are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date of acquisition. The results of subsidiaries that have been sold during the year are included up to the date
control has ceased. All significant intercompany balances, profits and transactions are eliminated.

Associates and partnerships where the Group has the ability to exercise significant influence, as well as joint ventures where there is joint
control, are accounted for using the equity method. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group owns, directly or indirectly,
between 20% and 50% of the outstanding voting rights.

(b) Revenue recognition
Premiums: Premiums from the sale of general insurance products are recorded when written and are accreted to earnings on a pro-rata
basis over the term of the related policy coverage. However, for those contracts for which the period of risk differs significantly from
the contract period, premiums are recognized over the period of risk in proportion to the amount of insurance protection provided. The
unearned premium reserve represents the portion of the premiums written relating to the unexpired terms of coverage.

Premiums from traditional life insurance contracts, including participating contracts and annuity policies with life contingencies, are
recognized as revenue when due from the policyholder. Benefits and expenses are provided against such revenue to recognize profits over
the estimated life of the policies. Moreover, for single premium and limited pay contracts, premiums are recorded as income when due
with any excess profit deferred and recognized in income in a constant relationship to the insurance in-force or, for annuities, the amount
of expected benefit payments.

Amounts collected as premiums from investment type contracts such as universal life, unit-linked and unitized with-profits contracts,
are reported as deposits. Revenue from these contracts consists of policy fees for the cost of insurance, administration and surrenders during
the period. Front-end fees are recognized over the estimated life of the contracts. Policy benefits and claims that are charged to expenses
include benefit claims incurred in the period in excess of related policyholder contract deposits and interest credited to policyholder deposits.

Other revenue: Fee revenue for the provision of non-claims related management services to the Farmers Exchanges is calculated primarily
as a percentage of gross premiums earned by the Farmers Exchanges.

Farmers Group Inc. and its subsidiaries (“FGI“) provide the following non-claims related management services to the Farmers Exchanges:
risk selection, preparation and mailing of policy forms and invoices, premium collection, management of the investment portfolios and
certain other administrative and managerial functions. The Farmers Exchanges are responsible for their own claims functions, including the
settlement and payment of claims and claims adjustment expenses. They are also responsible for the payment of agent commissions and
bonuses and the payment of their premium and income taxes.

Revenues from investment management and distribution fees are based on contractual fee arrangements applied to assets under
management and recognized as earned when the service has been provided.

Transfer agent fees are based on a cost per account and transaction-based fees. For mutual funds, a component of the transfer agent fee
can be contractual fee arrangements applied to assets under management. Transfer agent fees are recognized when services have been
provided per the contract. Commission revenue is recognized on the trade date when the performance obligation is complete and the fees
are payable.

Additionally, revenue can be earned from performance fees, which are based upon the achievement of performance levels in excess of
pre-determined contractual benchmarks. Performance fees are recognized when it is probable that they will be received and the amount
can be estimated reliably.
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(c) Deferred policy acquisition costs
The costs of acquiring new business, including commissions, underwriting and policy issue expenses, which vary with and are directly
related to the production of new business, are deferred. Deferred policy acquisition costs are subject to recoverability testing at the time of
policy issue and at the end of each accounting period. Future investment income is taken into account in assessing recoverability.

Deferred policy acquisition costs for participating traditional life insurance contracts are amortized over the expected life of the contracts as a
constant percentage of estimated gross margins. Estimated gross margins include anticipated premiums and investment results less benefits
and administration expenses, changes in the net level premium reserve and expected policyholder dividends, as appropriate. Estimated gross
margins are re-estimated regularly with the impact of deviations of actual result from estimated experience on the amortization of deferred
acquisition costs reflected in earnings.

Deferred policy acquisition costs for other traditional life insurance and annuity policies are amortized over the expected life of the contracts
as a constant percentage of expected premiums. Expected premiums are estimated at the date of policy issue and are consistently applied
throughout the life of the contract unless premium deficiency occurs.

Deferred policy acquisition costs for investment type contracts such as universal life, unit-linked and unitized with-profits contracts are
amortized over the expected life of the contracts based on a constant percentage of the present value of estimated gross profits expected
to be realized over the life of the contract. Estimated gross profits include expected amounts to be assessed for mortality, administration,
investment and surrender, less benefit claims in excess of policyholder balances, administrative expenses and interest credited. Estimated
gross profits are revised regularly and the interest rate used to compute the present value of revised estimates of expected gross profits is
the latest revised rate applied to the remaining benefit period. Deviations of actual results from estimated experience are reflected 
in earnings.

The impact on the deferred policy acquisition cost asset of the change in unrealized gains or losses on investments is recognized through
an offset to unrealized gains or losses at the balance sheet date.

Unamortized deferred policy acquisition costs associated with internally replaced contracts that are, in substance, contract modifications,
continue to be deferred and amortized. Costs associated with internally replaced contracts that are, in substance, new contracts, are
written off.

(d) Insurance losses and reserves
Losses: Losses and loss adjustment expenses are charged to income as incurred. Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expense reserves
represent the accumulation of estimates for ultimate losses and include provisions for losses incurred but not yet reported (IBNR).
The reserves represent estimates of future payments of reported and unreported claims for losses and related expenses with respect to
insured events that have occurred. Reserving is a complex process dealing with uncertainty, requiring the use of informed estimates
and judgments. The Group does not discount its loss reserves, other than for settled claims with fixed payment terms. Any changes in
estimates are reflected in results of operations in the period in which estimates are changed.

Future life policyholders’ benefits and policyholders’ contract deposits: These represent the estimated future policyholder benefit
liability for traditional life insurance policies and certain unit-linked investment contracts, respectively.

For participating traditional life insurance policies, future policy benefit liabilities are calculated using a net level premium method on the
basis of actuarial assumptions equal to guaranteed mortality and interest rates.

Future life policyholders’ benefits for other traditional life insurance policies are calculated using a net level premium valuation method
based on actuarial assumptions as to mortality, persistency, expenses and investment return including a margin for adverse deviation. The
assumptions are established at policy issue and remain unchanged except where premium deficiency occurs.

Future life policyholders’ benefits include the value of accumulated declared bonuses or dividends that have been vested to policyholders.

Policyholders’ contract deposits represent the accumulation of premium received less charges plus declared dividends.

The policyholders’ share of unrealized gains or losses, which may be paid in the future in respect of assets, is included in future life
policyholders’ benefits.

Reserves for unit-linked products are recorded as equal to the consideration received plus accumulated investment yield less any fees
charged or dividends paid to the policyholder.

“Investments held on account and at risk of life insurance policyholders” and ”Insurance reserves for life insurance where the
investment risk is carried by policyholders”: These represent trading portfolios maintained to meet specific investment objectives of
policyholders who bear the investment risk and which are bankruptcy protected from other creditors. Investment income and investment
gains and losses accrue directly to policyholders. The assets and liabilities are carried at fair value. Deposits, withdrawals, net investment
income, and realized and unrealized capital gains and losses are included in this position and are not reflected in the consolidated operating
statement. The costs of insurance, policy administration, investment management, surrender charges and certain policyholder taxes assessed
against the policyholders’ account balances are included within policy fee revenue.

For products containing guarantees in respect of minimum death benefits (“GMDB”), retirement income benefits (“GRIB”) and annuitization
options (“GAO”), additional liabilities are recorded in proportion with the receipt of the contracted revenues.
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(e) Reinsurance
The Group’s insurance subsidiaries cede insurance premiums and risk in the normal course of business in order to limit the potential for
losses arising from longer exposures. Reinsurance does not relieve the originating insurer of its liability. Certain Group insurance companies
assume reinsurance business incidental to their normal business, as well as from the Farmers Exchanges. Centre ceased to write new
contracts in 2003, but has honored its obligations and commitments with respect to existing contracts. Reinsurance assets include balances
due from reinsurance companies for paid and unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, ceded unearned premiums and ceded future
life policy benefits. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the claim liability associated with the
reinsured policy. Reinsurance is recorded gross in the consolidated balance sheet unless a right of offset exists.

Reinsurance contracts are assessed to ensure that underwriting risk, defined as the reasonable possibility of significant loss, and timing risk,
defined as the reasonable possibility of a significant variation in the timing of cash flows, are transferred by the ceding company to the
reinsurer. Those contracts that do not transfer both risks, referred to in total as insurance risk, are accounted for using the deposit method.
A deposit asset or liability is recognized based on the consideration paid or received less any explicitly identified premiums or fees to be
retained by the ceding company. Deposits for contracts that transfer only significant underwriting risk are subsequently measured based
on the unexpired portion of coverage until a loss is incurred, after which the present value of expected future cash flows under the contract
is added to the remaining unexpired portion of coverage. Changes in the deposit amount are recorded in the operating statement as an
incurred loss. Interest on deposits that transfer only timing risk, or no risk at all, are accounted for using the interest method. Future cash
flows are estimated to calculate the effective yield, and revenue and expense are recorded as interest income or expense.

(f) Investments
Financial assets are classified either as “held-to-maturity”, “trading”, “available-for-sale”, or “loans originated by the Group”. Held-to-
maturity financial assets are debt securities which the Group has the ability and positive intent to hold to maturity. Trading financial assets
are debt and equity securities which the Group buys with the intention to resell in the near term. The remaining debt and equity securities
are classified as available-for-sale. Loans originated by the Group, such as mortgage loans, policyholders’ collateral and other loans,
include loans where money is provided directly to the borrower, other than those that are originated with the intent to be sold in the short
term, which are recorded in the trading category.

Financial assets are initially recorded at cost, net of transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Held-to-maturity financial
assets are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Trading financial assets are subsequently carried
at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in the current period income. Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried
at fair value, with unrealized changes in fair value recorded in shareholders’ equity net of deferred income taxes, certain life policyholder
liabilities, certain life deferred acquisition costs and minority interests. Loans originated by the Group are subsequently carried at amortized
cost using the effective interest rate method, less allowances for doubtful accounts.

The realized gain or loss on divestment is based on the difference between the proceeds received and the carrying value of the
investment plus any unrealized gains or losses of the investment recorded in shareholders’ equity using the specific identification method.
When available-for-sale financial assets are sold, impaired or otherwise disposed of, the cumulative gains and losses previously recognized
in shareholders’ equity are included in the current period income. The amortization of premium and accretion of discount on available-for-
sale and held-to-maturity investments in debt securities is computed using the effective interest method and is recognized in current period
income. Dividends on equity securities are recorded as revenue on the ex-dividend date, the date that the dividends become payable to the
holders of record. Interest income on financial assets is recognized when earned.

Investments backing UK with-profits life insurance policies and certain Australian life insurance liabilities are held as trading assets and
carried at fair value. Movements in the carrying value of these assets are charged to current period income to match the offsetting amounts
attributable to policyholders.

Financial assets are assessed for impairment on a regular basis. A financial asset is impaired if its carrying value exceeds the estimated
recoverable amount and there is objective evidence of impairment to the financial asset. For an impaired financial asset impairment
is recorded by reducing its carrying value through a charge to current period income. If an available-for-sale financial asset is determined
to be impaired, the cumulative unrealized loss previously recognized in shareholders’ equity is removed from shareholders’ equity and
recognized in the current period income.

For quoted available-for-sale financial assets the decision to make an impairment provision is based on review of the issuer’s current
financial position and future prospects and an assessment of the probability that the current market price will recover to former levels within
the foreseeable future. The recoverable amount is determined by reference to the market price. For non-quoted available-for-sale financial
assets the Group takes into consideration the issuer’s current financial position and future prospects in determining whether an impairment
provision is required. The recoverable amount is determined by applying recognized valuation techniques. When a decline in the fair value
of an available-for-sale asset has been recognized directly in shareholders’ equity and there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired,
the cumulative loss that had been recognized directly in shareholders’ equity is removed from equity and recognized in current period
income even though the asset has not been de-recognized. The amount of the cumulative loss that is removed from shareholders’ equity
and recognized in current period income is the difference between acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortization) and
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that asset instrument previously recognized in income.

For held-to-maturity financial assets and loans originated by the Group the impairment is considered to have taken place if it is probable
that the Group will not be able to collect principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of the instrument. When impairment
is determined to have occurred, the carrying amount of the held-to-maturity financial assets is decreased through a charge to current
period income. The amount of the impairment loss is the difference between the asset’s carrying value and the present value of expected
future cash flows discounted at the security’s original effective interest rate.
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Real estate held for investment purposes is initially recorded at cost, with transaction costs included in the initial measurement. It is
subsequently measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in current period income. No depreciation is recorded
for real estate held for investment. The gain or loss on disposal of real estate held for investment is based on the difference between
the proceeds received and the carrying value of the investment.

Short-term investments: Carrying amounts approximate fair values.

Cash amounts represent cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments with original
maturities of 90 days or less.

(g) Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are carried at fair value on the balance sheet as assets or liabilities. Fair values are obtained from quoted
market prices, dealer price quotations, discounted cash flow models and option pricing models, which incorporate current market and
contractual prices for the underlying instrument, time to expiry, yield curves and volatility of the underlying. Inputs used in pricing models
are generally market observable or can be derived from market observable data. Derivative financial instruments with positive fair values
are recorded as derivative trading assets. Derivative financial instruments with negative fair values are recorded as derivative trading
liabilities. Apart from derivative financial instruments designated as qualifying cash flow hedging instruments (see below), changes in fair
value are recognized in current period income.

Derivative financial instruments include swaps, futures, forwards and option contracts, all of which derive their value mainly from
underlying interest rates, foreign exchange rates, commodity values or equity instruments. A derivative contract may be traded on an
exchange or over-the-counter (“OTC”). Exchange-traded derivatives are standardized and include futures and certain option contracts.
OTC derivative contracts are individually negotiated between contracting parties and include forwards, caps, floors and swaps.
Derivative financial instruments are subject to various risks similar to those related to the underlying financial instruments, including
market, credit and liquidity risk.

In addition to the derivative financial instruments described above, the Group enters into contracts that are not considered derivative
financial instruments in their entirety but that include embedded derivative features. Such embedded derivatives are assessed at inception
of the contract and, depending on their characteristics, are accounted for as separate derivative financial instruments pursuant to IAS 39.

Derivative financial instruments used for hedging: For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as either fair value
hedges when they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or liability, or cash flow hedges where they
hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability
or a forecasted transaction.

To qualify for hedge accounting, the hedging relationship must meet several strict conditions on documentation, probability of occurrence,
hedge effectiveness and reliability of measurement. If these conditions are not met, then the relationship does not qualify for hedge
accounting. In this case the hedging instrument and the hedged item are reported independently as if there was no hedging relationship.
In particular, derivative financial instruments are reported at fair value, with changes in fair value charged to current period income.

In relation to fair value hedges which meet the conditions for special hedge accounting, gains or losses from re-measuring the hedging
instrument at fair value are recognized immediately in the operating statement. Gains or losses on the hedged item attributable to the
hedged risk are adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged item and recognized in the operating statement. Where the adjustment
is to the carrying amount of a hedged interest-bearing financial instrument carried at amortized cost, the adjustment is amortized to
current period income such that it is fully amortized by maturity.

In relation to cash flow hedges which meet the conditions for special hedge accounting, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging
instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognized directly in shareholders’ equity and the ineffective portion is recognized
in current period income. When the hedged firm commitment results in the recognition of an asset or a liability, then, at the time the asset
or liability is recognized, the associated gains or losses that had previously been recognized in shareholders’ equity are included in the initial
measurement of the acquisition cost or other carrying amount of the asset or liability. For other cash flow hedges, the gains or losses that
are recognized in shareholders’ equity are transferred to the operating statement in the same period in which the item hedged affects the net
profit and loss, for example when the future sale actually occurs.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge
accounting. At that point in time, cumulative gains or losses on the hedging instrument recognized in shareholders’ equity are kept in
shareholders’ equity until the forecasted transaction occurs. If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain
or loss recognized in shareholders’ equity is transferred to current period income.

(h) Securities lending
Certain entities within the Group participate in securities lending arrangements whereby specific securities are loaned to other
institutions, primarily major brokerage firms, for short periods of time. Under the terms of the securities lending agreements, the loaned
securities remain under the Group’s control and thus do not get de-recognized.

(i) Obligation to repurchase securities
Sales of securities under agreements to repurchase are accounted for as collateralized borrowing transactions and are recorded at their
contracted repurchase amount plus accrued interest at the balance sheet date. The Group minimizes the credit risk that counterparties
to transactions might be unable to fulfill their contractual obligations by monitoring customer credit exposure and collateral value and
generally requiring additional collateral to be deposited with the Group when deemed necessary.
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(j) Debt issued
Debt issued by the Group is initially measured at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs incurred.
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method to amortise cost at inception to the redemption value
over the life of the debt.

(k) Interest expense
Interest expense is recognized when incurred on an amortized cost basis.

(l) Intangible assets
Goodwill: Acquisitions of subsidiaries and associates are accounted for under the purchase method, whereby the purchase price is
allocated to the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired at the date of acquisition with any residual amount allocated to goodwill.
Goodwill is amortized using the straight-line method over its estimated economic life. Goodwill arising on strategic acquisitions of
the Group to obtain long duration insurance contracts, customer relationships and distribution networks is amortized over a maximum
period of 20 years. For all other acquisitions, goodwill is generally amortized over five years. The recoverability of the carrying value of
the goodwill is reviewed periodically. If the carrying value of goodwill exceeds the recoverable amount, the carrying value is reduced
through a charge to current period earnings.

Present value of profits of acquired insurance contracts is amortized over the expected life of the policies acquired, based on a constant
percentage of the present value of estimated gross profits (margins) expected to be realized, or over the premium recognition period, as
appropriate.

Other intangibles are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and consist primarily of acquired brand names and software costs that
meet the recognition criteria for capitalization. The costs of these assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the following
estimated economic lives: brand names 20 years; software three to five years.

Attorney-in-fact relationships: At the date of the acquisition of Farmers Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“FGI”) in 1988, a portion of
the purchase price was assigned to the attorney-in-fact relationships. The asset representing the attorney-in-fact relationships represents
the ability of FGI to generate future revenues based on the Group’s relationship with the Farmers Exchanges. This carrying value is amortized
on a straight-line basis over 40 years. In determining the period of amortization, the Group considered the organizational structure of 
inter-insurance exchanges, under which subscribers exchange contracts with each other and appoint an attorney-in-fact to provide certain
management services. In addition, the Group considered the historical attorney-in-fact relationship between FGI and the Farmers Exchanges.
To the extent that there is a change in this relationship, the Group would re-evaluate the value of this intangible asset.

(m) Income taxes
The Group provides current tax expense according to the tax laws of each jurisdiction in which it operates. Income taxes are recognized
using the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes are recorded for temporary differences, which are based on the difference
between financial statement carrying amounts and income tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted income tax rates and laws.
Losses for tax purposes are treated as deferred tax assets to the extent it is probable that the losses can offset future taxable income and
is allowed by the applicable local tax laws and regulations.

Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the income taxes are levied by the same taxation authority and when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset them.

Taxes payable by either the holding company or its subsidiaries on distribution to the holding company of the undistributed profits of
subsidiaries are recognized as deferred income taxes unless a distribution of those profits is not intended or would not give rise to a tax
liability.

Taxes paid by UK life insurance businesses are based on investment income less allowable expenses. To the extent that these taxes exceed the
amount that would have been payable in respect of the shareholders’ share of taxable profits, it is normal practice for UK life businesses to
recover this tax from policyholders. While in the Group’s case the relevant company has the contractual right to charge policyholders for the
taxes attributable to their share of investment income less expenses, the obligation to pay the tax authority rests with the company and
therefore, the full amount of tax including that charged to policyholders is accounted for as an income tax. Income tax expense therefore
includes an element attributable to policyholders. In addition, deferred tax on unrealized gains on “Investments held on account and at risk
of life insurance policyholders” related to certain UK unit-linked policies is included as income tax expense and an accrual for future policy
fees to recover the tax charge is included in gross written premiums and policy fee revenue.

(n) Employee benefits
The operating companies in the Group provide employee retirement benefits through both defined benefit plans providing specified
benefits and defined contribution plans. The assets of these plans are generally held separately from the Group’s general assets in trustee-
administered funds. Defined benefit plan obligations and contributions are determined annually by qualified actuaries using the projected
unit credit method. The Group’s expense related to these plans is accrued over the employees’ service periods based upon the actuarially
determined cost for the period. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized as income or expense when the net cumulative unrecognized
actuarial gains and losses for each individual plan at the end of the previous reporting year exceeded 10% of the higher of the defined
benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date. These gains or losses are recognized over the expected average remaining
working lives of the employees participating in the plans. Contributions to the defined contribution pension plans are charged to the
operating statement as they become due.
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Other defined post-employment benefits, such as medical care and life insurance, are also provided for certain employees and are primarily
funded internally. The cost of such benefits is accrued over the service period of the employee based upon the actuarially determined cost for
the period.

(o) Share-based payment transactions
Expenses for share-based payment transactions are recognized during the vesting period in the operating statement. These expenses
recognize the fair value of the shares or options granted. A corresponding amount is reflected in additional paid-in capital.

(p) Fixed assets
Real estate (buildings) held for own use and other fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any necessary 
write-downs due to impairment. The costs of these assets are depreciated principally on a straight-line basis over the following estimated
useful economic lives: buildings 25 to 50 years; furniture and fixtures five to ten years; and computer equipment three to five years. Real
estate (land) is carried at cost less any necessary write-downs. Maintenance and repair costs are charged to income as incurred. Costs of
systems purchased from outside vendors and developed internally are deferred and amortized over expected useful lives up to five years.
Gains and losses on disposal of fixed assets and real estate held for own use are determined based on their respective carrying amounts.

(q) Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases are charged to the operating statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(r) Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

(s) Treasury stock
Treasury stock is deducted from equity at its nominal value of CHF 6.50 and CHF 9 per share as of December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. Differences between this amount and the amount paid for acquiring, or received for disposing of treasury shares, are recorded
as an adjustment to additional paid-in capital in shareholders’ equity.

(t) Foreign currency translation and transactions
Foreign currency translation: In view of the international nature of the Group there are many individual entities with different functional
currencies. Therefore, a common presentation currency is required. Due to the Group’s economic exposure to the US dollar (USD), the
presentation currency of the Group has been determined to be the USD. Assets and liabilities of Group companies with functional currencies
other than USD are translated at the end-of-period exchange rates, while operating statements are translated at average exchange rates for
the period. The resulting translation differences are recorded directly in shareholders’ equity as cumulative translation adjustments.

Foreign currency transactions: Foreign currency monetary items are translated at end-of-period exchange rates, non-monetary items
which are carried at historical cost denominated in a foreign currency are translated at historical rates. Revenues and expenses are translated
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction or a weighted average rate. The resulting exchange differences are recorded in the
consolidated operating statement.

The table below summarizes the principal exchange rates that have been used for translation purposes. Net gains and (losses) on foreign
currency transactions included in the consolidated operating statements were USD153 million and USD (125) million for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Operating statements
Table 2 Balance sheets and cash flows
Principal exchange rates as of for the years ended
USD per foreign currency unit 12/31/04 12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/03

Euro 1.3555 1.2594 1.2440 1.1333

Swiss franc 0.8769 0.8072 0.8063 0.7446

British pound sterling 1.9183 1.7858 1.8329 1.6363
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3. Implementation of new accounting standards and adjustments

The Accounting Standards Executive Committee (AcSEC) of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) issued Statement
of Position 03-01 (“SOP 03-01”), Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises for Certain Nontraditional Long-Duration Contracts
and for Separate Accounts. SOP 03-01 has resulted in three significant changes in the treatment of certain life contracts, which have been
adopted retrospectively, in accordance with IAS 8:
i) Recognition of additional liabilities for guaranteed minimum death benefits, guaranteed retirement income benefits and benefits in

respect of annuitization options on an accrual basis, primarily for life policies in the United States. The recognition of guarantee liabilities
resulted in a write-down of deferred policy acquisition costs, due to a reduction in future estimated gross profits supporting these
reserves.

ii) Clarification of the distinction between universal life insurance and investment products, resulting in certain products in the life business
in the United Kingdom now being treated as insurance. The classification as insurance consequently resulted in the retrospective accrual
of additional insurance reserves.

iii) “Investments held on account and at risk of life insurance policyholders”, which are not bankruptcy protected from other creditors,
and “Insurance reserves for life insurance where the investment risk is carried by policyholders” were reclassified to total investments
and insurance reserves in the amount of approximately USD 50 billion. This change also resulted in the inclusion in the consolidated
operating statements of additional investment result arising from the reclassified investments and a substantially corresponding charge
in “policyholder dividends and participation in profits”. As a result, there is no material net impact on the Group’s operating results.

The impact of the new standard is summarized in the tables below.

Table 3.1
Summary of restatement of key consolidated operating statement items 
due to implementation of a new accounting standard As previously Restatement Restated
in USD millions, for the year ended December 31, 2003 reported adjustment 2003

Revenues

Net investment income 7,004 1,391 8,395

Net capital gains on investments and impairments 811 4,369 5,180

Benefits, losses and expenses

Policyholder dividends and participation in profits, net of reinsurance (423) (5,622) (6,045)

Net income before income taxes and minority interests 3,746 (135) 3,611

Income tax expense (1,520) 24 (1,496)

Net income 2,120 (111) 2,009

Table 3.2
Summary of restatement of key consolidated balance sheet items 
due to implementation of a new accounting standard As previously Restatement Restated
in USD millions, as of December 31, 2003 reported adjustment 2003

Assets

Debt securities 113,002 6,030 119,032

Equity securities 15,188 37,134 52,322

Other investments 28,947 4,475 33,422

Cash and cash equivalents 13,536 2,141 15,677

Total investments 175,967 49,780 225,747

Investments held on account and at risk of life insurance policyholders 71,936 (49,956) 21,980

Deferred policy acquisition costs 12,023 (239) 11,784

Total assets 317,876 (234) 317,642

Liabilities

Insurance reserves, gross 171,864 51,554 223,418

Insurance reserves for life insurance where the investment risk is carried by policyholders 73,233 (51,170) 22,063

Total liabilities 297,523 216 297,739

Shareholders’ equity

Cumulative translation adjustment 181 (29) 152

Retained earnings 6,120 (421) 5,699

Total shareholders’ equity 19,384 (450) 18,934
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Table 3.3
Summary of restatement of key consolidated statement of cash flows items 
due to implementation of a new accounting standard As previously Restatement Restated
in USD millions, for the year ended December 31, 2003 reported adjustment 2003

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income 2,120 (111) 2,009

Net capital (gains) on investments and impairments (811) (4,369) (5,180)

Insurance reserves, gross 6,452 9,115 15,567

Net cash provided by operating activities 8,546 4,634 13,180

Cash flows from investing activities

Sales and maturities:

Debt securities 80,584 7,839 88,423

Equity securities 31,800 14,248 46,048

Purchases:

Debt securities (93,694) (7,616) (101,310)

Equity securities (21,227) (17,715) (38,942)

Net cash used in investing activities (2,815) (3,598) (6,413)

Change in cash and cash equivalents 5,092 552 5,644

Cash and cash equivalents as of January1 (opening balance) 8,444 1,589 10,033

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31 13,536 2,141 15,677

The SOP 03-01 restatement adjustments have been recorded primarily in the Life Insurance segment, with the exception of the write-down
of deferred policy acquisition costs which relate to business recorded in the Other Businesses segment.

In 2004, amounts for the Group’s internal reinsurance transactions have been allocated to the specific regions that wrote the underlying
business, whereas in 2003 those results were recorded in the Centrally Managed Businesses region. The 2003 amounts have been reclassified
to conform to this presentation.

Forthcoming changes in accounting policy
For 2005 reporting, the Group will adopt new and amended accounting standards.

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” on March 31, 2004. The publication of this
standard provides, for the first time, guidance on accounting for insurance contracts. This standard applies to all insurance contracts
(including reinsurance contracts) that an entity issues and to reinsurance contracts that it holds, except for specified contracts covered by
other IFRS standards. In accordance with the transitional provisions of the standard the Group will adopt IFRS 4 as of January1, 2005.
The most significant change as a result of the adoption of the standard is the re-classification of certain contracts as financial instruments
and hence application of IAS 39 to these contracts. The adoption of IFRS 4 does not provide comprehensive guidance on the accounting
treatment for insurance contracts and as such the Group will continue to apply US GAAP in certain circumstances where IFRS is silent.

The IASB issued IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” on March 31, 2004. In accordance with the transitional provisions of the standard,
the Group has applied this standard to business combinations for which the agreement date is on or after March 31, 2004. The remaining
requirements of IFRS 3 will be adopted as of January1, 2005. The most significant changes required by this standard are:
• All business combinations within its scope are to be accounted for using the purchase method, previously IAS22 permitted business

combinations to be accounted for using the pooling of interests method in certain circumstances.
• The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are to be recognized as part of allocating the cost of the combination

to be measured initially by the acquirer at their fair values at the acquisition date. Therefore, any minority interest in the acquiree is stated
at the minority’s proportion of the net fair values of those items.

• Goodwill acquired in a business combination is to be measured after initial recognition at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Therefore, the goodwill is not amortized and instead must be tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired.

IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” and IAS 38 “Intangible Assets” were revised in March 2004 by the IASB as part of the Business Combinations
Project. Consistent with the Group’s adoption of IFRS 3, the revised standards will be adopted as of January1, 2005.

The IASB issued IFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” on March 31, 2004. The standard adopts the
classification “held for sale”, introduces the concept of a disposal group, and specifies that assets or disposal groups that are classified as
held for sale are carried at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. It also replaces IAS 35 regarding the accounting
treatment for discontinued operations. In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 5 the standard will be adopted by the Group
as of January1, 2005. The most significant impact for the Group may be the re-classification of some of its assets as “held for sale.”
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IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” was revised in December 2003 as part of the IASB’s project to improve IAS 32
“Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation” and IAS 39. A further amendment was made in March 2004. This change related
to Fair Value Hedge Accounting for a Portfolio Hedge of Interest Rate Risk. IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”
should be applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2005. The most significant changes are as follows:
• The standard clarifies that the evaluation of the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership precedes the evaluation of the transfer of

control for all derecognition transactions
• The standard permits an entity to designate any financial asset or financial liability on initial recognition as one to be measured at fair

value, with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss. To impose discipline on this categorization, an entity is precluded from
reclassifying financial instruments into or out of this category

• The standard provides additional guidance about how to determine fair values using valuation techniques
• The standard clarifies that an impairment loss is recognized only when it has been incurred. It also provides additional guidance on what

events provide objective evidence of impairment for investments in equity instruments
• Hedges of firm commitments are to be treated as fair value hedges rather than cash flow hedges. However, the standard clarifies that a

hedge of the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment can be treated as either a cash flow hedge or a fair value hedge.

The Group has not yet quantified the impact these changes will have on the Group’s financial position or results.

4. Changes in the scope of consolidation

During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Group completed divestments of several businesses and recognized post-
completion adjustments. The total net gain on all divestments made during the year before tax was USD 88 million and USD 351 million, and
the after-tax net gain on divestments was USD 71 million and USD 334 million for 2004 and 2003, respectively. Total cash consideration
received was USD 2,488 million in 2004 and USD 2,737 million in 2003.

Table 4
Net gain on significant divestments only
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003

Consideration received 2,488 2,664

Less: net assets divested (2,356) (2,242)

Costs related to divestments (44) (79)

Net gain on divestments before tax 88 343

Net assets divested

Cash and cash equivalents 435 339

Other assets 6,090 20,808

Insurance liabilities (4,014) (9,558)

Other liabilities (155) (9,347)

Net assets divested 2,356 2,242

The Group’s most significant transactions affecting the scope of consolidation during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 were
as described below.

Changes in 2004
In Belgium and Luxembourg, the Group completed the sale to P&V Assurances of its life insurance operations (both consumer and
commercial), its workers’ compensation portfolio and its general insurance operations in the consumer and small commercial segments,
recognizing a loss of USD 30 million before tax.

The Group completed several other divestments with a net gain of USD 23 million before tax. These included the sale of its interests in
Thai Zurich Insurance Company, life insurance policies written by the Group’s Taiwanese branch, Turegum Insurance Company, the 
real-estate investment company Zürich Atrium B.V., Zurich Insurance (Singapore) Pte. Ltd, Zürich Krankenversicherung AG (Deutschland)
as well as its stake in Globale Krankenversicherungs-AG, Zurich Life Philippines and McMillan Shakespeare Australia Pty Limited.

The companies and businesses divested in 2004 contributed, before their sale, a net loss of USD19 million to the Group’s 2004 results
compared to a net income of USD19 million in 2003.

During 2004, the Group has also recognized several post-completion adjustments for divestments closed in 2003. The total aggregate post
completion gain was USD 95 million. The most significant impacts were from the finalization of the sale of Threadneedle Asset Management
Holdings Ltd., Rüd, Blass & Cie AG and the transfer of certain derivative transactions, credit facilities and related assets of Zurich Capital
Markets to BNP Paribas.

Changes in 2003
The Group completed the sale of certain operations of Zurich France to Assicurazioni Generali SpA, recognizing a loss of USD 28 million
before tax. The transaction included the life insurance operations (including Eagle Star business) and parts of consumer and commercial lines
of the general insurance operations.

On October 31, 2003, the Group completed the sale of Zurich Life Assurance Company (Zurich Life), one of the UK Life businesses, to
Swiss Re, recognizing a gain of USD128 million before tax.
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On September 30, 2003, the Group completed the sale of Threadneedle Asset Management Holdings Ltd. to American Express Financial
Corporation, recognizing a gain on divestment of USD 325 million before tax.

The Group completed the sale of Zurich Life, part of its US life and annuity operations, to Bank One Corporation on September 3, 2003,
recognizing a loss on divestment of USD165 million before tax. Kemper Investors Life Insurance Company was not part of the sale and is
retained by the Group.

On September1, 2003, the Group completed the sale of parts of its Dutch operations to SNS Reaal Groep N.V., recognizing a gain on
divestment of USD114 million before tax. SNS Reaal acquired all of the Group’s life insurance operations as well as general insurance
operations in the consumer and small business segments in the Netherlands.

On March 31, 2003, the Group completed the sale of Rüd, Blass & Cie AG, Bankgeschäft to Deutsche Bank (Suisse) SA. For this transaction,
a significant portion of the sales proceeds could not be recognized at the time of sale, as it was contingent on the development of assets
under management over a period of 15 months subsequent to the closing. Finalization was completed in 2004.

In 2003, the companies and businesses divested contributed USD131 million to the Group’s net income.

As of December 31, 2003, Zurich Capital Markets (“ZCM”) consolidated Zurich Premier Series Ltd. (“Premier”), an investment company.
ZCM’s equity interest in the investment company increased from 32% to 59% during the year with the majority interest acquired on
December 31, 2003. As a result of the consolidation of Premier,“trading equity portfolios in capital markets and banking activities” and
“other liabilities” increased by USD 638 million.

5. Management fees

Table 5
Management fees
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003

Farmers management fees and other related revenue 1,985 1,885

Asset management fees 45 177

Total 2,030 2,062

Farmers Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“FGI”) are contractually permitted to receive a management fee of up to 20% (25% in the case of
the Fire Insurance Exchange) of the gross premiums earned by the Farmers Exchanges. In order to enable the Farmers Exchanges to maintain
appropriate capital and surplus while offering competitive insurance rates, FGI has historically charged a lower management fee than the
maximum allowed. The range of fees has varied by line of business over time and from year to year. During the past five years, aggregate
management fees have averaged between 12% and 13% of gross premiums earned by the Farmers Exchanges. The gross earned premiums
of the Farmers Exchanges were USD14,020 million in 2004 (USD13,654 million in 2003).

Asset management fees were primarily earned by Threadneedle Asset Management Holdings Ltd., which was divested on
September 30, 2003.

6. Investments

A summary of net investment income and net capital gains and losses and impairments is given below.

Net capital
Table 6.1 Net investment gains/(losses) and
Investment result income impairments1 Investment result
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Debt securities 5,446 5,318 1,414 1,489 6,860 6,807

Equity securities 1,334 1,245 2,724 3,744 4,058 4,989

Investments in associates 86 90 (36) (9) 50 81

Other investments:

Investments held by investment companies 14 11 140 113 154 124

Real estate held for investment 840 799 471 135 1,311 934

Mortgage loans, policyholders’ collateral and other loans 1,075 785 187 74 1,262 859

Short-term investments 129 105 3 1 132 106

Other2 231 162 23 (370) 254 (208)

Cash and cash equivalents 355 210 8 3 363 213

Investment result, gross 9,510 8,725 4,934 5,180 14,444 13,905

Investment expenses3 (396) (330) – – (396) (330)

Investment result, net 9,114 8,395 4,934 5,180 14,048 13,575
1 Impairments on total investments amounted to USD175 million in 2004 and USD1,067 million in 2003.
2 Including net capital gains / (losses) on derivative financial instruments of USD (5) million in 2004 and USD (419) million in 2003.
3 Including rental operating expense for real estate held for investment of USD 182 million in 2004 and USD118 million in 2003.

80 Zurich Financial Services Group . Annual Report 2004



The details of the investment balances as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 are given in the tables below.

Table 6.2 2004 2003
Breakdown of investments USD % USD %
as of December 31 millions of total millions of total

Debt securities:

Available-for-sale 107,882 42.9% 100,086 44.4%

Held-to-maturity 5,855 2.3% 3,886 1.7%

Trading 16,775 6.7% 15,060 6.7%

Total debt securities 130,512 51.9% 119,032 52.8%

Equity securities (including trading equity portfolios in capital markets and banking activities):

Available-for-sale 12,064 4.8% 13,525 6.0%

Trading 49,449 19.6% 43,100 19.1%

of which: – Trading equity portfolios in capital markets and banking activities 2,773 1.1% 4,303 1.9%

– Investments for unit-linked products 44,574 17.7% 37,134 16.4%

Total equity securities 61,513 24.4% 56,625 25.1%

Investments in associates 645 0.3% 991 0.4%

Other investments:

Investments held by investment companies 1,728 0.7% 1,576 0.7%

Real estate held for investment 12,541 5.0% 11,101 4.9%

Mortgage loans 10,251 4.1% 11,283 5.0%

Policyholders’ collateral and other loans 14,902 5.9% 7,479 3.3%

Short-term investments 1,943 0.8% 1,834 0.8%

Other 165 0.1% 149 0.1%

Total other investments 41,530 16.6% 33,422 14.8%

Cash and cash equivalents 16,959 6.8% 15,677 6.9%

Total 251,159 100.0% 225,747 100.0%

Short-term investments include investments that have an original maturity of less than one year.

Cash and investments with a carrying value of USD 7,781 million and USD 7,466 million were deposited with regulatory authorities as
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, debt securities with a carrying value
of USD 5,009 million and USD 3,742 million have been sold to financial institutions under short-term sale and repurchase agreements.
These securities continue to be recognized as investments in the balance sheets and an obligation to repurchase them is included in
liabilities in the balance sheets at that date. On December 31, 2004 and 2003, the volume of securities loaned out by the Group under
securities lending programs was USD16.2 billion and USD 7.4 billion, respectively.

Amortized Estimated
Table 6.3 cost fair value
Debt securities maturity schedule Held-to-maturity Available-for-sale
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003

Less than one year 181 106 9,498 4,386

One year through five years 1,195 287 32,759 30,903

Five years through ten years 948 249 30,601 31,877

Over ten years 3,531 3,244 20,799 20,882

Subtotal 5,855 3,886 93,657 88,048

Mortgage and asset-backed securities – – 14,225 12,038

Total 5,855 3,886 107,882 100,086

The amortized cost and estimated fair values of debt securities held-to-maturity and available-for-sale are shown by contractual maturity.
Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because certain borrowers have the right to call or pre-pay certain obligations with
or without call or pre-payment penalties.
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Table 6.4
Equity securities (including trading equity portfolios 2004 2003
in capital markets and banking activities) USD % of total USD % of total
as of December 31 millions investments millions investments

Common stocks, including equity unit-trusts 51,396 20.4% 46,435 20.5%

Unit-trusts (debt securities, real estate, 
short-term investments) 5,270 2.1% 4,192 1.9%

Common stock portfolios backing the 
participating with-profit policyholder contracts 2,074 0.8% 1,695 0.8%

Trading equity portfolios in capital markets 
and banking activities 2,773 1.1% 4,303 1.9%

Total 61,513 24.4% 56,625 25.1%

Table 6.5 Cost or Gross Gross Estimated
Available-for-sale securities amortized cost unrealized gains unrealized losses fair value
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Debt securities – available-for-sale

Swiss federal and cantonal governments 8,898 8,170 455 404 (12) (12) 9,341 8,562

United Kingdom government 9,287 9,009 457 358 (29) (94) 9,715 9,273

United States government 8,694 10,165 196 207 (189) (90) 8,701 10,282

Other governments 27,787 26,788 992 687 (55) (296) 28,724 27,179

Corporate securities 35,608 31,149 1,627 1,573 (72) (268) 37,163 32,454

Mortgage and asset-backed securities 13,954 11,668 334 469 (62) (99) 14,226 12,038

Redeemable preferred stocks 11 294 1 4 – – 12 298

Total debt securities – available-for-sale 104,239 97,243 4,062 3,702 (419) (859) 107,882 100,086

Equity securities – available-for-sale

Common stock 7,090 9,946 1,135 1,081 (705) (1,561) 7,520 9,466

Unit-trust 4,426 4,034 119 81 (271) (309) 4,274 3,806

Non-redeemable preferred stock 237 253 49 17 (16) (17) 270 253

Total equity securities – available-for-sale 11,753 14,233 1,303 1,179 (992) (1,887) 12,064 13,525

Table 6.6
Realized capital gains/(losses) and impairments 
on available-for-sale debt and equity securities Debt securities Equity securities Total
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Gross realized capital gains – available-for-sale 765 1,891 626 1,405 1,391 3,296

Gross realized capital losses – available-for-sale (173) (304) (753) (1,402) (926) (1,706)

Impairments – available-for-sale (25) (48) (123) (989) (148) (1,037)

Total 567 1,539 (250) (986) 317 553

Table 6.7
Net capital gains/(losses) on trading debt and equity securities Debt securities Equity securities Total
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Net capital gains / (losses) on trading debt and equity securities 847 (50) 2,974 4,730 3,821 4,680

Table 6.8 Share in Ownership
Investments in associates Carrying value profit/ (loss) interest
in USD millions 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Capital Z Financial Services Fund II LP, United States 379 371 66 59 29.43% 29.41%

The Guarantee Company of North America, Canada 88 82 2 2 32.08% 32.08%

PSP Swiss Property AG, Switzerland1 – 269 11 19 12.40% 22.34%

Other 178 269 7 10 n/m n/m

Total 645 991 86 90 n/m n/m
1 Since May13, 2004, PSP Swiss Property AG, Switzerland has no longer been classified as an investment in associates, as the Group’s ownership interest declined below 20%.
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Table 6.9
Real estate held for investment
in USD millions 2004 2003

Carrying value as of January1 (opening balance) 11,101 10,572

Additions and capital improvements 1,115 231

Disposals (636) (1,051)

Market value revaluation 436 13

Transfer (to)/from assets held for own use (27) 310

Foreign currency translation effects 552 1,026

Carrying value as of December 31 (closing balance) 12,541 11,101

Real estate held for investment consists of investments in commercial, residential and mixed-use properties primarily located in Switzerland,
Germany and the United Kingdom.

Table 6.10
Unrealized gains/(losses) on investments included in shareholders’ equity
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003

Debt securities – available-for-sale 3,643 2,843

Equity securities – available-for-sale 311 (708)

Other 83 (157)

Less amount of net unrealized (gains) / losses on investments attributable to:

Life policyholder dividends and other policyholder liabilities (2,248) (638)

Life deferred acquisition costs (176) (119)

Deferred income taxes (513) (353)

Minority interests (25) (6)

Total 1,075 862

7. Investments held on account and at risk of life insurance policyholders and insurance reserves 
for life insurance where the investment risk is carried by policyholders

Table 7
Investments held on account and at risk of life insurance policyholders and 
insurance reserves for life insurance where the investment risk is carried by policyholders
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003

Debt securities 150 235

Equity securities 23,149 21,175

Collateral and other loans 4 6

Other investments 797 453

Cash and cash equivalents 89 111

Total investments held on account and at risk of life insurance policyholders 24,189 21,980

Total insurance reserves for life insurance where the investment risk is carried by policyholders 24,261 22,063

In certain countries,“Insurance reserves for life insurance where the investment risk is carried by policyholders” include amounts due to
policyholders as well as deferred front-end fees and, thus, the reserves are carried at a higher amount than the total “Investments held on
account and at risk of life insurance policyholders”.

The implementation of SOP 03-01, as discussed in note 3, resulted in a reclassification of the assets and reserves for products sold in certain
countries, predominantly the UK, to their respective investment categories and insurance reserves as they do not meet the criteria for
classification as “separate accounts”. The effects are disclosed in note 3. The remaining balances represent products that consist primarily of
variable life insurance and annuity products for which the policyholder directly bears the investment risk of the related assets.

8. Fair value of financial instruments and other investments

The methods and assumptions used by the Group in estimating the fair value of the financial instruments and other investments are
discussed below.
• Debt and equity securities: Fair values are based on quoted market prices when available. If quoted market prices are not available,

then fair values are estimated on the basis of pricing models, discounted cash flow or other recognized valuation techniques.
• Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. Accordingly, these participations are carried at the Group’s

proportional interest of the investee’s shareholders’ equity. The fair value of these entities, particularly for publicly traded entities,
may differ from the carrying value.

• Investments held by investment companies: Estimated fair values are determined by the investment managers.
• Real estate held for investment: Fair value is determined on a regular basis with reference to current market conditions.
• Mortgage loans: Fair values of loans on real estate are estimated using discounted cash flow calculations based upon the Group’s

current incremental lending rates for similar types of loans.
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• Policyholders’ collateral and other loans: Fair values are estimated on the basis of discounted cash flow, pricing models, or other
recognized valuation techniques.

• Short-term investments: Carrying amounts approximate fair values.
• Cash and cash equivalents: Carrying amounts approximate fair values.
• Derivative trading assets and liabilities: Fair values are based on quoted market prices, dealer price quotations, discounted cash flow

models and option pricing models.
• Debt: Fair values are estimated using discounted cash flow calculations based upon the Group’s current incremental borrowing rates

for similar types of borrowings with maturities consistent with those remaining for the debt being valued.
• Obligations to repurchase securities: Carrying amounts approximate fair value.

Table 8 Total Total
Fair value of financial instruments fair value carrying value
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003

Debt securities 130,719 119,423 130,512 119,032

Equity securities (incl. trading equity portfolios in capital markets and banking activities) 61,513 56,625 61,513 56,625

Investments in associates 647 991 645 991

Other Investments:

Investments held by investment companies 1,728 1,576 1,728 1,576

Real Estate held for investment 12,541 11,101 12,541 11,101

Mortgage loans 10,179 11,387 10,251 11,283

Policyholders’ collateral and other loans 15,441 7,484 14,902 7,479

Short-term investments 1,943 1,834 1,943 1,834

Other 165 149 165 149

Total other investments 41,997 33,531 41,530 33,422

Cash and cash equivalents 16,959 15,677 16,959 15,677

Derivative trading assets 1,424 2,583 1,424 2,583

Total of financial instruments (assets) 253,259 228,830 252,583 228,330

Debt (10,103) (11,037) (9,751) (10,736)

Obligations to repurchase securities (5,009) (3,742) (5,009) (3,742)

Derivative trading liabilities (1,300) (2,442) (1,300) (2,442)

Total of financial instruments (liabilities) (16,412) (17,221) (16,060) (16,920)

9. Derivative financial instruments

(a) Principles
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage risks related to its capital, assets and liabilities and its commitments to third
parties.The Group, due to its multinational operations, has foreign currency exposure and, due to the long-term nature of some of its
insurance reserves, has exposure to interest rate and reinvestment risks.The Group uses derivative financial instruments to mitigate the risks
posed by changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates.Therefore, derivative financial instruments are part of insurance, investment,
asset-liability management, capital raising or cash management activities and must conform to the general guidelines of the Group for these
activities, which are documented and reviewed for compliance by the Group. If the Group were required to settle outstanding derivative
positions, the sum of gains and losses would not be material to the Group as of December 31, 2004.

Zurich Capital Markets (“ZCM”) has a portfolio of derivative products for the benefit of its customers. ZCM does not engage in proprietary
trading. ZCM’s positions on derivative financial instruments are separately reported in subsection (d) of this note.

For interest rate caps, floors and swap transactions, forward and futures contracts and options written, only the potential market value
of the instruments represents a credit risk to the Group.The Group controls the credit risk of its interest rate swap agreements and forward
and futures contracts through credit approvals, limits and monitoring procedures.

To limit credit risk exposure derivative financial instruments are typically executed with counterparties rated A or better by Standard & Poor’s.
Wherever possible, efforts are undertaken to net the credit exposure with individual counterparties in compliance with applicable laws.

The term “contractual amount” is used for derivative financial instruments for which an exchange of the principal sum at maturity could
take place, e.g. options, futures, currency swaps.The term “notional amount” describes instruments for which the principal sum is only
notionally lent or borrowed, e.g. interest swaps, forward rate agreements (FRAs).The notional principal amounts are used to express the
extent of the Group’s involvement in derivative transactions.This standard measurement of the volume of derivative transactions is not a
quantification of market risk or credit risk and it may not necessarily be recorded on the balance sheet.
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(b) Derivative financial instruments used
Interest rate and currency swaps: Interest rate swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange periodic payments
in the same currency, each of which is computed on a different interest rate basis, on a specified notional amount. Most interest rate swaps
involve the net exchange of payments calculated as the difference between the fixed and floating interest payments. Currency swaps, in
their simplest form, are contractual agreements that involve the exchange of both periodic and final amounts in two different currencies.
Exposure to loss on both types of swap contracts will increase or decrease over their respective lives as a function of maturity dates, interest
and foreign exchange rates, and the timing of payments. The Group uses currency swaps to manage the currency and interest rate risk of
its debt issuances.

Interest rate futures, forwards and options contracts: Interest rate futures are exchange-traded instruments and represent commit-
ments to purchase or sell a designated security or money market instrument at a specified future date and price. Interest rate forward
agreements are traded over-the-counter (“OTC”) where two parties agree on an interest rate and other terms that will become a reference
point in determining, in concert with an agreed notional principal amount, a net payment to be made by one party to the other, depending
on what rate in fact prevails at a future point in time. Interest rate options, which consist primarily of caps and floors, are interest rate
protection instruments that involve the obligation of the seller to pay the buyer an interest rate differential in exchange for a premium paid
by the buyer. This differential represents the difference between the current rate and an agreed rate applied to a notional amount. Exposure
to loss on interest rate contracts will increase or decrease over their respective lives as interest rates fluctuate. For interest rate futures and
exchange-traded options, the Group’s exposure to off-balance sheet credit risk is limited, as these transactions are executed on organized
exchanges that assume the obligation of the counterparty and generally require security deposits and daily settlement of margins.

Foreign exchange contracts: Foreign exchange contracts, which include spot, forward and futures contracts, represent agreements to
exchange one currency for another currency at an agreed price and settlement date. Foreign exchange option contracts are similar to
interest rate option contracts, except that they are based on currencies, rather than interest rates. Exposure to loss on these contracts will
increase or decrease over their respective lives as currency exchange and interest rates fluctuate. For exchange-traded foreign exchange
contracts, the Group’s exposure to off-balance sheet credit risk is limited, as these transactions are executed on organized exchanges that
assume the obligation of counterparties and generally require security deposits and daily settlement of margins.

(c) Outstanding positions of the Group (excluding ZCM)

Table 9.1
Maturity profile of notional principal amounts and 
market values of derivative financial instruments Notional
(excluding ZCM) Remaining life principal amounts Market values
in USD millions, as of December 31 Up to 1year 1 to 5 years over 5 years 2004 2003 2004 2003

Swaps

Interest rate swaps – 158 135 293 1,052 (30) (79)

Currency swaps – 523 3,160 3,683 765 306 132

Total return equity swaps 1 2,663 2,524 5,188 5,324 (249) (173)

Other swaps – 178 – 178 – (1) –

Options

Purchased call options 1,970 312 4 2,286 707 23 10

Purchased put options – 1,173 – 1,173 1,893 44 43

Written call options – 792 303 1,095 2,251 (184) (146)

Written put options – – – – 245 (4) (3)

Futures/forwards

Purchased futures / forward contracts 6,375 – – 6,375 8,863 94 54

Written futures / forward contracts 6 – 37 43 52 (9) 1

Total 8,352 5,799 6,163 20,314 21,152 (10) (161)

of which:

derivative trading asset 560 431

derivative trading liability (570) (592)
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(d) Outstanding positions of Zurich Capital Markets (“ZCM”)
ZCM’s risk management model focused on controlling incremental risk and actively monitoring existing portfolio risk. Existing portfolio risk is
monitored through a variety of quantitative measures including Value-at-Risk (VaR) and stress testing.

Table 9.2
Maturity profile of notional principal amounts and market Notional
values of derivative financial instruments (ZCM) Remaining life principal amounts Market values
in USD millions, as of December 31 Up to 1year 1 to 5 years over 5 years 2004 2003 2004 2003

Swaps

Interest rate swaps 2,107 3,286 5,295 10,688 12,507 94 11

Currency swaps 453 68 26 547 1,473 (6) 7

Total return equity swaps 21 – 67 88 313 (26) (41)

Other swaps – – – – 105 – (1)

Options

Purchased call options 272 – – 272 209 272 1,490

Purchased put options 198 446 797 1,441 1,497 (28) 59

Written call options 40 186 33 259 3,253 (205) (1,248)

Written put options 181 521 1,520 2,222 2,342 21 (12)

Futures/forwards

Purchased futures / forward contracts 420 – – 420 1,360 36 70

Sold futures / forward contracts 443 – – 443 1,333 (24) (33)

Total 4,135 4,507 7,738 16,380 24,392 134 302

of which:

derivative trading asset 864 2,152

derivative trading liability (730) (1,850)

10. Insurance benefits, losses and expenses

Table 10.1
Breakdown of insurance benefits, losses and expenses Gross Ceded Net
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Losses and loss adjustment expenses 28,429 25,196 (4,959) (4,068) 23,470 21,128

Life insurance death and other benefits 13,320 10,672 (278) (435) 13,042 10,237

(Decrease) / increase in future life policyholders’ benefits (1,650) 2,051 (362) (157) (2,012) 1,894

Total insurance benefits and losses 40,099 37,919 (5,599) (4,660) 34,500 33,259

of which:

Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid 22,034 21,260 (4,519) (4,744) 17,515 16,516

Table 10.2
Breakdown of policyholder dividends and participation in profits Gross Ceded Net
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Total policyholder dividends and participation in profits 7,013 6,004 1 41 7,014 6,045

Table 10.3
Breakdown of underwriting and policy acquisition costs Gross Ceded Net
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Underwriting and policy acquisition costs 8,496 7,932 (1,253) (1,487) 7,243 6,445

The impact of the adoption of SOP 03-01 is discussed in note 3.
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11. Insurance reserves

Table 11.1
Insurance reserves
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003

Gross

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses 57,813 51,068

Reserves for unearned premiums 14,234 13,944

Future life policyholders’ benefits 88,856 85,211

Policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds 24,168 22,007

Reserves for unit-linked products 61,091 51,188

Total insurance reserves, gross 246,162 223,418

Ceded

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses (14,339) (14,055)

Reserves for unearned premiums (2,097) (2,157)

Future life policyholders’ benefits (1,149) (875)

Policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds (3,680) (3,799)

Reserves for unit-linked products – –

Total ceded reserves (reinsurers’ share of insurance reserves) (21,265) (20,886)

Net

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses 43,474 37,013

Reserves for unearned premiums 12,137 11,787

Future life policyholders’ benefits 87,707 84,336

Policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds 20,488 18,208

Reserves for unit-linked products 61,091 51,188

Total insurance reserves, net 224,897 202,532

Reserves for unit-linked products relate to the implementation of SOP 03-01 as discussed in note 3.

Table 11.2
Development of reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses
in USD millions 2004 2003

As of January1 (opening balance)

Gross reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses 51,068 45,306

Reinsurance recoverable (14,055) (14,940)

Net reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses 37,013 30,366

Net losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred

Current period 21,506 19,254

Prior years 1,964 1,874

Total 23,470 21,128

Net losses and loss adjustment expenses paid

Current year (7,655) (7,593)

Prior years (9,860) (8,923)

Total (17,515) (16,516)

Divestments of companies and businesses (743) (291)

Foreign currency translation effects 1,249 2,326

As of December 31 (closing balance)

Net reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses 43,474 37,013

Reinsurance recoverable 14,339 14,055

Gross reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses 57,813 51,068

The Group establishes loss reserves, which are estimates of future payments of reported and unreported claims for losses and related
expenses, with respect to insured events that have occurred. Reserving is a complex process dealing with uncertainty, requiring the
use of informed estimates and judgments. Any changes in estimates are reflected in the operating statements in the period in which
estimates are changed.

Significant delays occur in the notification of claims and a substantial measure of experience and judgment is involved in assessing
outstanding liabilities, the ultimate cost of which cannot be known with certainty as of the balance sheet date. The reserves for losses
and loss adjustment expenses are determined on the basis of information currently available; however, it is inherent in the nature of
the business written that the ultimate liabilities may vary as a result of subsequent developments.
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Deferred charges relating to retrospective reinsurance assumed totaling USD 182 million and USD 265 million as of December 31, 2004 and
2003, respectively, have been deducted from reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses.

Table 11.3
Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses for asbestos 
and environmental claims 2004 2003
in USD millions Gross Net Gross Net

Asbestos

As of January1 (opening balance) 2,930 2,420 2,572 2,030

Losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred 497 433 322 347

Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid (136) (125) (156) (114)

Divestments, commutations, settlements and other (410) (297) 1 1

Foreign currency translation effects 83 93 191 156

As of December 31 (closing balance) 2,964 2,524 2,930 2,420

Environmental

As of January1 (opening balance) 703 559 812 648

Losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred (55) (50) (56) (43)

Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid (91) (61) (72) (58)

Divestments, commutations, settlements and other (52) (50) (1) (1)

Foreign currency translation effects (5) (3) 20 13

As of December 31 (closing balance) 500 395 703 559

Management has considered environmental and latent injury claims and claims expenses in establishing the reserves for losses and loss
adjustment expenses. The Group continues to be advised of claims asserting injuries from toxic waste, hazardous materials and other
environmental pollutants and alleged damages to cover the clean-up costs of hazardous waste dumpsites relating to policies written in
prior years and indemnity claims asserting injuries from asbestos. Coverage and claim settlement issues, such as determination that
coverage exists and the definition of an occurrence, may cause the actual loss development to exhibit more variation than the remainder
of the Group’s book of business. Such claims cannot be estimated with traditional reserving techniques and, accordingly, the uncertainty
with respect to the ultimate cost of these types of claims has been greater than the uncertainty relating to standard lines of business.

The uncertainties arise out of changes or potential changes in various laws or the interpretation of laws. While the Group believes that
it has made adequate provision for these claims, it is possible that future adverse development could have a material effect on the
Group’s results of operations, cash flows and financial position. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the net reserve amounts related to
these claims included above were USD 2,919 million and USD 2,979 million, respectively.

Table 11.4
Future life policyholders’ benefits and policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds (gross of reinsurance)
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003

Future life policyholders’ benefits

Long-duration contracts 88,755 85,119

Short-duration contracts 101 92

Total 88,856 85,211

Policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds

Annuities 2,035 1,953

Universal life and other investment contracts 12,809 12,461

Policyholder dividends 9,324 7,593

Total 24,168 22,007

Long-duration contract liabilities included in future life policyholders’ benefits result primarily from traditional participating and non-
participating life insurance products. Short-duration contract liabilities are primarily accident and health insurance products. The liability
for future life policyholder benefits has been established based upon the following:
• Interest rates which vary by territory, year of issuance and product
• Mortality rates based on published mortality tables adjusted for actual experience by geographic area and modified to allow for

variations in policy form
• Surrender rates based upon actual experience by geographic area and modified to allow for variations in policy form.

The amount of policyholder dividends to be paid is determined annually by each Group life insurance company. Policyholder dividends
include life policyholders’ share of net income and unrealized appreciation of investments that are required to be allocated by the
insurance contract or by local insurance regulations. Experience adjustments relating to future policyholders’ benefits and policyholders’
contract deposits vary according to the type of contract and the territory. Investment, mortality and morbidity results may be passed
through by experience credits or as an adjustment to the premium mechanism, subject to local regulatory provisions.
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In Switzerland, the “legal quote” legislation was adopted on April 1, 2004. It relates to the regulated pension business in Switzerland and
provides for mandatory participation in profits by policyholders. A minimum dividend rate of 90% of the calculated gross surplus must be
allocated to policyholders as the surplus arises, where previously such allocations occurred when bonuses were declared.

The Group accounted for the initial application of this legislation in the consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2004, by
transferring net unrealized gains on investments included in shareholders’ equity of USD 226 million to insurance reserves as “Policyholders’
contract deposits and other funds”. In addition, the Group recorded a pre-tax charge of USD 54 million related to this change.

Guarantees arising from minimum death benefits (“GMDB”), retirement income benefits (“GRIB”) 
and annuitization options (“GAO”)
The Group sells products for which policyholders bear the full investment risk associated with the underlying invested funds selected by
them. Certain of these products contain guarantees for which liabilities have been recorded for additional benefits and minimum guarantees,
primarily in the subsidiary Kemper Investors Life Insurance Company which has written variable annuity contracts that provide annuitants
with certain guarantees related to minimum death and income benefits. The determination of these liabilities is based on models that involve
a range of scenarios and assumptions, including those regarding expected market rates of return and volatility, contract surrender rates,
annuitization elections and mortality experience. The assumptions used are consistent with those used in determining estimated gross profits
for purposes of amortizing deferred policy acquisition costs.

The Group recorded provisions for certain guarantee features embedded in certain life insurance products for the first time as explained in
note 3 on the implementation of SOP 03-01.

Table 11.5
Information on guarantee liabilities arising from minimum death benefits (“GMDB”), 
retirement income benefits (“GRIB”) as well as annuitization options (“GAO”)
in USD millions (except average age) 2004 2003

Account balance for products with guarantee features as of December 31

Gross 4,074 3,757

Ceded (554) (537)

Net 3,520 3,220

Amount at risk as of December 31 2004 2003

Gross 735 740

Ceded (284) (277)

Net 451 463

Average attained age of policyholders (in years) 61 61

The Group’s exposure after reinsurance recoveries under these policies at the balance sheet date as of December 31, 2004 would be 
USD 451 million (USD 463 million as of December 31, 2003).The Group believes the crystallization of such liability is not likely.

Development of net liability recorded for additional benefits 2004 2003

Balance as of January1 (opening balance) 53 32

Benefits incurred 30 27

Benefits paid (5) (6)

Balance as of December 31 (closing balance) 78 53

12. Income taxes

Table 12.1
Income tax expense
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003

Current 1,214 874

Deferred (121) 622

Total income tax expense 1,093 1,496

The Group, as a proxy for life insurance policyholders in the UK, is required to record taxes on investment income and gains each year.
Accordingly, the tax benefit or expense attributable to UK life insurance policyholder earnings is included in income tax expense. The tax
expense attributable to UK policyholder earnings was USD 254 million and USD 36 million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and
2003, respectively. In addition, deferred income tax on unrealized investment gains on unit-linked contracts is included as income tax expense
and an accrual for future policy fees that will cover the tax charge is included in gross written premiums and policy fees revenue. Income tax
is shown before reduction for the element attributable to policyholders.
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Table 12.2
Expected and actual income tax expense
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003

Expected income tax expense 1,144 1,166

Increase/ (reduction) in taxes resulting from:

Non-taxable income (398) (320)

Non-deductible expenses 129 122

Withholding, state and local taxes 18 (69)

Non-utilizable tax losses 45 509

Additional tax expense attributable to life insurance policyholder earnings 154 59

Other 1 29

Actual income tax expense 1,093 1,496

The table above illustrates the factors that cause the actual income tax expense to differ from the expected amount computed by applying
the expected rate.

The expected weighted average tax rate for the Group was 30.2% and 32.3% for the years 2004 and 2003, respectively. These rates were
derived by obtaining a weighted average of the applicable statutory income tax rate in relation to the operating income/loss generated in the
main taxable territories in which the Group operates.

Table 12.3
Deferred income taxes
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003

Deferred tax assets

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses 632 787

Reserves for unearned premiums 374 390

Accruals not currently deductible 176 160

Unrealized losses on investments 14 125

Depreciable and amortizable assets 174 87

Deferred front-end fees 490 423

Life policy reserves 208 229

Loss carryforwards 1,550 995

Other 927 874

Deferred tax assets, gross 4,545 4,070

Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets (345) (351)

Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 4,200 3,719

Deferred tax liabilities

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses (716) (493)

Deferred policy acquisition costs (2,406) (2,079)

Unrealized gains on investments (527) (478)

Depreciable and amortizable assets (1,022) (1,134)

Life policy reserves (678) (490)

Insurance reserves for life insurance where the investment risk is carried by policyholders (232) (59)

Other (495) (717)

Deferred tax liabilities (6,076) (5,450)

Net deferred tax liabilities (1,876) (1,731)

The current income tax payable (net of income tax receivable) as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 was USD 971 million and
USD 614 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, the Group had income tax loss carryforwards of USD 4,835 million and USD 3,251 million
available (subject to various statutory restrictions) for use against future taxable income. Deferred tax assets for loss carryforwards of
USD 3,300 million and USD 2,218 million were recognized as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. No deferred tax assets were
recognized in respect of the remaining USD1,535 million and USD1,033 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The
majority of the income tax loss carryforwards expire after five years.

The Group’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded in the tax paying entities throughout the world, which may include several legal
entities within each tax jurisdiction. Legal entities are grouped into a single taxpayer only when permitted by local legislation and when
deemed appropriate.

The recoverability of the deferred tax asset of each taxpayer is based on its ability to utilize the deferred tax asset over a reasonable period
of time. This analysis considers the projected taxable income to be generated by the taxpayer, as well as the ability to offset deferred tax
assets with deferred tax liabilities. As of December 31, 2004, the following taxpayer groups carry a net deferred tax asset position on their
balance sheets.
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Deferred tax assets,
Table 12.4 net of valuation
Deferred tax assets by taxpayer group Gross deferred allowance and
in USD millions, as of December 31, 2004 tax assets other tax liabilities

Taxpayer groups

North America Corporate group of companies 1,444 1,250

Centre group of companies 555 132

Zurich Capital Markets companies 337 –

UK General Insurance companies 271 116

Other 204 87

The North America Corporate group of companies has reported tax losses in three of the last four years, thus creating a significant net
operating loss carryforward of approximately USD 2,280 million, which is utilizable over a 15 year period. In addition, revenue streams
originated by the North America Corporate group of companies also support the recoverability of the Centre group of companies’ deferred
tax asset. Based on the current taxable income projections for the North America Corporate group of companies and the other taxpayer
groups noted above, management believes that the carrying values of the deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2004 are fully recoverable.

13. Receivables

Table 13
Receivables
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003

Receivables from policyholders 3,021 2,634

Receivables from insurance companies, agents, brokers and intermediaries 5,173 5,565

Other receivables 3,245 3,164

Allowance for uncollectible amounts (278) (355)

Total 11,161 11,008

14. Reinsurance assets

Table 14
Reinsurance assets
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003

Reinsurers’ share of insurance reserves 21,265 20,886

Receivable arising from ceded reinsurance 2,112 2,155

Allowance for uncollectible amounts (373) (371)

Total reinsurance assets 23,004 22,670

Ceded reinsurance arrangements do not relieve the Group from its direct obligations to its policyholders. Thus, a credit exposure exists with
respect to reinsurance ceded to the extent that any reinsurer is unable to meet the obligations assumed under the reinsurance agreements.
The Group holds substantial collateral as security under related reinsurance agreements in the form of deposits, securities and/or letters of
credit. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, 44% and 41%, respectively, of total reinsurance assets were collateralized.

The life insurance operations limit exposure to loss on any single life policy. Retention limits vary by territory and product line. Approximately
6.3% and 6.7% of gross written premiums and policy fees were ceded as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, for life operations,
and 19.8% and 23.3% for general insurance operations as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Net insurance reserves were USD 224,897 million and USD 202,532 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, after deducting
the amount of reinsurance ceded to reinsurers.

15. Deferred policy acquisition costs

Table 15 General Life Other
Deferred policy acquisition costs Insurance Insurance segments1 Total
in USD millions 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

As of January1 (opening balance) 2,085 1,895 9,564 8,788 135 179 11,784 10,862

Acquisition costs deferred and transfers 2,226 2,127 1,571 1,322 (15) 6 3,782 3,455

Amortization charged to income (2,117) (1,915) (606) (528) (42) (87) (2,765) (2,530)

Amortization charged to shareholders’ equity – – (105) (16) 4 10 (101) (6)

Divestments (14) (1) (73) (781) (1) – (88) (782)

Increase/ (decrease) due to currency translation 85 (21) 644 779 3 27 732 785

As of December 31 (closing balance) 2,265 2,085 10,995 9,564 84 135 13,344 11,784
1 Including eliminations of intersegment transactions.
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16. Fixed assets

Table 16
Fixed assets
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003

Land held for own use 457 487

Buildings held for own use 1,688 1,820

Furniture and fixtures 478 558

Computer equipment 747 865

Other fixed assets 644 638

Total cost before depreciation 4,014 4,368

Less: accumulated depreciation (1,898) (2,062)

Total 2,116 2,306

Activity during the years ended December 31

Carrying value as of January1 (opening balance) 2,306 2,362

Additions, capital improvements and transfers 239 237

Disposals and transfers (316) (205)

Depreciation (247) (357)

Foreign currency translation effects 134 269

Carrying value as of December 31 (closing balance) 2,116 2,306

The fire insurance value of the Group’s own-use real estate, investment real estate and further fixed assets totaled USD10,160 million and
USD12,173 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

17. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Present value
of profits of Other

Table 17 acquired insurance intangible Attorney-in-fact
Intangible assets Goodwill contracts assets relationship Total
in USD millions 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Carrying value as of January1
(opening balance) 779 792 1,025 1,200 702 765 1,067 1,110 3,573 3,867

Additions and transfers 47 47 – 4 135 150 – – 182 201

Disposals and transfers (31) (69) – (216) (22) (13) – – (53) (298)

Amortization (92) (107) (89) (63) (224) (223) (43) (43) (448) (436)

Foreign currency translation effects 41 116 37 100 2 23 – – 80 239

Carrying value as of December 31

(closing balance) 744 779 973 1,025 593 702 1,024 1,067 3,334 3,573

Accumulated amortization 
as of December 31 (598) (463) (1,334) (1,352) (1,197) (1,425) (685) (642) (3,814) (3,882)
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18. Debt

Table 18.1
Debt
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003

a) Debt related to capital markets and banking activities

Zurich Capital Markets Commercial paper, due in the following year – 2,113

Notes and loans payable, due in the following year 2,873 2,855

Notes and loans payable, due 2006–2014 726 546

Notes and loans payable, due after 2014 150 150

Dunbar Bank Short-term borrowings 19 136

Centre Solutions (Bermuda) Ltd. Various debt instruments 112 161

Debt related to capital markets and banking activities 3,880 5,961

b) Senior debt

Zurich Finance (USA), Inc. 2.75% CHF bond, due July 2006 438 403

3.5% CHF bond, due July 2008 263 242

4.5% EUR bond, due September 2014 1,342 –

Zurich International (Bermuda) Ltd. Zero coupon CHF exchangeable bond, due July 2004 – 427

Kemper Corporation Various debt instruments, due in 2009 27 27

Zurich Insurance Company 3.875% CHF bond, due July 2011 880 807

Various borrowings and notes 99 94

Zurich Financial Services (UKISA) Short-term bank borrowings – 54

Other Various short- and medium-term debt instruments 306 306

Senior debt 3,355 2,360

c) Subordinated debt

Zurich Capital Trust I 8.376% USD Capital Securities, due June 2037 1,000 1,000

Zurich Finance (UK) p.l.c. 6.625% GBP bond, undated notes 848 795

Zurich Finance (USA), Inc. 5.75% EUR bond, due October 2023 668 620

Subordinated debt 2,516 2,415

Total senior and subordinated debt 5,871 4,775

Total debt 9,751 10,736

(a) Debt related to capital markets and banking activities
In 2003 a framework agreement was signed with BNP Paribas for the transfer of certain derivative transactions, credit facilities and related
assets by Zurich Capital Markets (“ZCM”) to BNP Paribas. As of December 31, 2004, these transfers were completed and this contributed to a
reduction of ZCM debt compared to December 31, 2003. In March 2004, all Commercial Paper outstanding under ZCM Matched Funding
Corp.’s USD 2.5 billion US Commercial Paper Program matured and were fully repaid. As the program was not renewed, there were no
amounts as of December 31, 2004.

As of December 31, 2004, the major part of ZCM’s debt comprised a number of structured notes, most of which carried floating rate
coupons. The remainder consisted of fixed rate deposits with Zurich Bank.

Dunbar Bank p.l.c., a wholly-owned banking subsidiary of Allied Dunbar Assurance p.l.c., had total outstanding borrowings of GBP10 million
and GBP 76 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.These short-term borrowings were drawn under various committed credit
facilities totaling GBP 400 million and GBP 415 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Net proceeds of these funds were
used to finance Dunbar Bank’s lending activities.

(b) Senior debt
The Group has a Euro Medium Term Note Programme (EMTN Programme) which allows for the issuance of up to USD 4 billion of senior
and subordinated notes. Issuing entities under the EMTN Programme include Zurich Finance (USA), Inc. and Zurich Finance (UK) p.l.c.

On September17, 2004, Zurich Finance (USA), Inc. issued EUR1 billion of 4.5% notes, due September 2014.The notes were issued under the
EMTN Programme and are guaranteed by Zurich Insurance Company.

The zero coupon CHF 539 million exchangeable bond issued by Zurich International (Bermuda) Ltd. which was exchangeable into
4,800,000 registered shares of UBS AG and guaranteed by Zurich Insurance Company was due and repaid in July 2004. No exchange
options were exercised over the whole term of the bond issue.
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(c) Subordinated debt
The USD 1,000 million Capital Securities, issued by Zurich Capital Trust I, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zurich Holding Company of America,
will mature in 2037. The Group has the option at any time on or after June1, 2007 to redeem the securities in whole or in part at a price of
104.188%, decreasing each year to a price of 100% on June 1, 2017.

The 6.625% GBP 450 million perpetual bond is callable in 2022 and the 5.75% EUR 500 million bond, maturing in 2023, is callable in 2013.

Table 18.2
Maturity schedule of outstanding debt
in USD millions 2004

2005 3,008

2006 652

2007 612

2008 292

after 2008 5,187

Total 9,751

Table 18.3
Interest expense on debt
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003

Debt related to capital markets and banking activities 94 160

Senior debt 109 150

Subordinated debt 159 135

Total 362 445

Loan facilities
On April 21, 2004, a USD 3 billion syndicated revolving credit facility was signed to replace the USD 1.5 billion facility, which was due to
mature on May 28, 2004. The credit facility consists of two equal tranches maturing in 2007 and 2009. Zurich Group Holding, together
with Zurich Insurance Company and Farmers Group, Inc. are guarantors of the facility and can draw up to USD 1.25 billion, USD 1.5 billion
and USD 250 million, respectively. No borrowings were outstanding as of December 31, 2004. Farmers Group, Inc. cancelled their
USD 250 million credit facility, which was due to mature in September 2004.

Eagle Star Holdings Ltd.’s GBP 400 million revolving credit facility matured on August 18, 2004.

Zurich Capital Markets’ USD1.27 billion syndicated revolving credit facility which was in place as of December 31, 2003 as a backstop for the
USD 2.5 billion Commercial Paper Program mentioned above, was terminated as per March12, 2004.

In addition, there are facilities in place for Dunbar Bank as mentioned above under (a) Debt related to capital markets and banking activities.

19. Other liabilities

Table 19
Other liabilities
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003

Amounts due to reinsurers, agents and other insurance companies 3,238 3,264

Amounts due to life policyholders 701 551

Other payables 6,584 6,675

Tax payables 1,834 1,159

Derivative trading liabilities 1,300 2,442

Deferred income and other liabilities 1,867 1,890

Total 15,524 15,981

20. Minority interests

Table 20
Minority interests
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003

Preferred securities 407 390

Other 439 579

Total 846 969

Minority interests include third-party equity interests, preferred securities and similar instruments issued by consolidated subsidiaries of the
Group in connection with providing structured financial solutions to its customers.
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In December1999, Zurich Financial Services (Jersey) Limited, a subsidiary of Zurich Group Holding (formerly Zurich Financial Services),
issued 12,000,000 perpetual non-voting, non-cumulative Series A Preference Shares on the Euromarket with a par value of EUR 25
(EUR 300,000,000). The securities benefit from a subordinated support agreement of Zurich Group Holding and carry a fixed coupon of
7.125%, payable quarterly. The securities are, subject to certain conditions, redeemable at the option of the issuer in whole, but not
in part, from time to time on or after five years from the issue date. Proceeds from the issue were used to refinance existing intercompany
debt and for general corporate purposes.With this issue, the Group was able to reinforce its capital base while raising equity-like but 
non-dilutive long-term funds.

As of December 31, 2004, and 2003, minority interests in Zurich Capital Markets (“ZCM”) totaled USD nil million and USD 212 million,
respectively. These minority interests primarily represented third-party equity interests in consolidated alternative investment vehicles arising
from ZCM’s managed asset business.

21. Shareholders’ equity

Table 21.1
Common and treasury stock
number of shares, as of December 31 2004 2003

Authorized, contingent and issued common stock, CHF 6.50 and CHF 9 par value, respectively 156,988,783 156,988,783

Issued common stock, CHF 6.50 and CHF 9 par value, respectively 144,006,955 144,006,955

Treasury stock 298,113 762,507

Table 21.2
Preferred securities
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003

Preferred securities, USD 1,000 par value 1,125 1,125

(a) Issued stock
At the Annual General Meeting of April 16, 2004, shareholders approved a share capital reduction in the form of a capital nominal
value reduction of each registered share from CHF 9 to CHF 6.50. As a result of this reduction, the share capital was reduced by
CHF 360,017,387.50 from CHF1,296,062,595 to a new total of CHF 936,045,207.50. In the previous year, shareholders approved, at the
Annual General Meeting of April 30, 2003, a share capital reduction in the form of a capital nominal value reduction of each registered
share from CHF10 to CHF 9. As a result of that reduction, the share capital was reduced by CHF144,006,955 from CHF 1,440,069,550 to
CHF1,296,062,595.

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, Zurich Financial Services had 144,006,955 shares of CHF 6.50 par value and CHF 9 par value,
respectively, common stock issued and fully paid.

(b) Authorized stock
Until June 1, 2005, the Board of Zurich Financial Services is authorized to increase its share capital by an amount not exceeding
CHF 39,000,000 by issuing up to 6,000,000 fully paid registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 6.50 each. An increase in
partial amounts is permitted. The Board determines the date of issue of such new shares, the issue price, type of payment, conditions
for exercising pre-emptive rights, and the beginning of the dividend entitlement. The Board may issue such new shares by means of
a firm underwriting by a banking institution or syndicate with subsequent offer of those shares to the current shareholders. The Board
may allow the expiry of pre-emptive rights which have not been exercised, or it may place these rights as well as shares, the pre-emptive
rights of which have not been exercised, at market conditions.

The Board is further authorized to restrict or withdraw the pre-emptive rights of shareholders and to allocate them to third-parties if the
shares are to be used: for the take-over of an enterprise, or parts of an enterprise or of participations or if issuing shares for the financing
including re-financing of such transactions; or for the purpose of expanding the scope of shareholders in connection with the quotation
of shares on foreign stock exchanges.

(c) Contingent stock
Capital market instruments and option rights to shareholders: The share capital of Zurich Financial Services may be increased
by an amount not exceeding CHF 35,631,882 by issuing up to 5,481,828 fully paid registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 6.50
each (1) through the exercise of conversion and/or option rights which are granted in connection with the issuance of bonds or similar
debt instruments by Zurich Financial Services or one of its Group companies in national or international capital markets and/or (2)
by the exercise of option rights which are granted to the shareholders. When issuing bonds or similar debt instruments connected with
conversion and/or option rights, the pre-emptive rights of the shareholders will be excluded. The current owners of conversion and/or
option rights shall be entitled to subscribe for the new shares.The conversion and/or option conditions are to be determined by the Board.

The Board of Directors is authorized, when issuing bonds or similar debt instruments connected with conversion and/or option rights,
to restrict or withdraw the right of shareholders for advance subscription in cases where such bonds are issued for the financing or 
re-financing of a takeover of an enterprise, of parts of an enterprise, or of participations. If the right for advance subscription is with-
drawn by the Board, the convertible bond or warrant issues are to be offered at market conditions (including standard dilution
protection provisions in accordance with market practice) and the new shares are issued at then current convertible bond or warrant
issue conditions. The conversion rights may be exercisable during a maximum of 10 years and option rights for a maximum of seven years
from the time of the respective issue. The conversion or option price or its calculation methodology shall be determined in accordance
with market conditions, whereby for shares of Zurich Financial Services the quoted share price is to be used as a basis.
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Employee participation: The share capital may be increased by an amount not exceeding CHF 9,750,000 by issuing up to 1,500,000
fully paid registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 6.50 each to employees of Zurich Financial Services and Group companies.
The pre-emptive rights of the shareholders, as well as the right for advance subscription, are excluded. The issuance of shares or respective
option rights to employees shall be subject to one or more regulations to be issued by the Board of Directors and taking into account
performance, functions, levels of responsibility and criteria of profitability. Shares or option rights may be issued to the employees at a price
lower than that quoted on the stock exchange.

(d) Preferred securities
In February 2001, the Group placed six series of Trust Capital Securities (Zurich RegCaPS) in the total amount of USD 1,125 million
(USD 1,096 million net of issuance costs) with a limited number of qualified institutional and corporate US investors. The securities, which
were issued under Rule 144A in the United States, are perpetual, non-cumulative and have a par value of USD 1,000 each. They have
no voting rights, except for certain specified circumstances and are linked to Farmers Group, Inc. Class C shares.The Group has the option
to call the securities after five, seven or ten years, depending on the series. Two series have a fixed rate coupon (6.01% and 6.58%) and
four have a floating rate coupon (between Libor +46 bps and +71 bps).These coupon rates step up after the first call dates.

(e) Additional paid-in capital (capital reserve)
This reserve is not ordinarily available for distribution.

(f) Dividends
Dividends for Zurich Financial Services shares are declared in CHF.

(g) Dividend restrictions and capital and solvency requirements
Zurich Financial Services is not subject to legal restrictions on the amount of dividends it may pay to its shareholders other than under
the Swiss Code of Obligations. The Swiss Code of Obligations provides that 5% of the annual profit must be allocated to the general
legal reserve until such reserve in the aggregate has reached 20% of the paid-in share capital. As of December 31, 2004, the amount of
the general legal reserve exceeded 20% of the paid-in share capital of Zurich Financial Services. Similarly, the company laws of many
countries in which Zurich Financial Services’ subsidiaries operate may restrict the amount of dividends payable by such subsidiaries to their
parent companies.

Other than by operation of the restrictions mentioned above, the ability of Zurich Financial Services’ subsidiaries to pay dividends may
be restricted or, while dividend payments per se may be legally permitted, may be indirectly influenced by minimum capital and solvency
requirements that are imposed by insurance, bank and other regulators in the countries in which the subsidiaries operate as well as by
other limitations existing in certain of these countries (e.g. foreign exchange control restrictions).

In the United States, restrictions on payment of dividends may be imposed by the insurance laws or regulations of an insurer’s state of
domicile. For general insurance subsidiaries, dividends are generally limited over a twelve month period to 10% of the previous year’s
policyholders’ surplus or previous year’s net income. For life, accident and health insurance subsidiaries, dividends are generally limited
over a twelve month period to 10% of the previous year’s policyholders’ surplus or the previous year’s net gain from operations.
Dividends paid in excess of statutory limitations require prior approval of the Insurance Commissioner of the insurer’s state of domicile.

Insurance enterprises in European Union member countries are required to maintain minimum solvency margins. The required minimum
solvency margin for general insurers is the greater of 16% of premiums written for the year or 23% of a three-year average of claims,
subject to the first tranche (EUR 50 million) of premiums being at 18% and the first tranche (EUR 35 million) of claims at 26%. Life insurance
companies are required to maintain a minimum solvency margin of generally 4% of insurance reserves (up to 1% of “insurance reserves
for life insurance where the investment risk is carried by policyholders”) plus 0.3% of the amount at risk under insurance policies. The same
minimum capital requirements are applicable for insurance enterprises operating in Switzerland. In addition, in certain European countries
further requirements may apply.

Zurich Financial Services is further subject to certain solvency and its own fund requirements based on a Decree on the Consolidated
Supervision of the Zurich Financial Services Group issued by the Swiss Federal Office of Private Insurance on April 23, 2001.

As of December 31, 2004, the subsidiaries were substantially in compliance with applicable regulatory capital adequacy requirements.
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(h) Earnings per share
Table 21.3 Net income Number of Per share Per share
Earnings per share (in USD millions) shares (USD) (CHF)1

2004

Basic earnings per share 2,587 143,577,437 18.01 22.34

Effect of potentially dilutive shares related to share-based compensation plans – 1,067,047 (0.13) (0.16)

Diluted earnings per share 2,587 144,644,484 17.88 22.18

2003

Basic earnings per share 2,009 142,064,985 14.14 19.00

Effect of potentially dilutive shares related to share-based compensation plans – 1,025,296 (0.10) (0.14)

Diluted earnings per share 2,009 143,090,281 14.04 18.86
1 The translation from USD into CHF has been done for information purposes only at the Group’s average exchange rates for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the
period, excluding the weighted average number of shares held as treasury shares. Diluted earnings per share reflects the effect of potentially
dilutive shares.

22. Employee benefits

The Group had 53,246 and 58,667 employees (full time equivalents) as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Personnel and other
related costs incurred for 2004 and 2003 were USD 4,462 million and USD 4,702 million, respectively.

The Group operates a number of active retirement benefit arrangements for pensions. The majority of employees belong to defined benefit
plans. Other employees participate in defined contribution plans providing benefits equal solely to contributions paid plus investment returns.

The Group also operates post-employment plans, which provide employees with certain defined post-employment benefits other than
pensions; the major plans are in the United States.

The summary of the status of the defined benefit plans and other defined post-employment benefits is given below.

(a) Defined benefit plans
Defined benefit pension plans: Employees of the Group’s operating companies are covered under various pension plans. Certain
companies run defined benefit plans, some of which provide benefits related to final pensionable earnings and others provide cash
balance plans, where the participants receive the benefit of annual contributions and a credit for the investment return achieved on the
assets. Eligibility for participation in the various plans is either based on completion of a specified period of continuous service or
date of hire. Benefits are generally based on the employees’ years of credited service and average compensation in the years preceding
retirement. Annual funding requirements are determined based on actuarial cost methods.

Most of the Group’s defined benefit plans are funded through the Group making contributions to trusts or foundations independent of
the Group’s finances. In these cases, the annual funding requirements are determined in accordance with local funding and actuarial
cost methods. Where plans are not specifically funded, for example, as is usual in the case of pension plans in Germany, a liability for the
accrued pension obligations is recognized in the Group’s balance sheet.

Other defined post-employment benefits: Certain of the Group’s operating companies provide a post-employment benefit program for
medical care and life insurance. Eligibility in the various plans is generally based on completing a specified period of eligible service and
reaching a specified age. The programs pay a stated percentage of medical expenses reduced by deductibles and other coverage. The cost of
post-employment benefits is accrued during the employees’ service period.The method of accounting and the frequency of valuations are
similar to those for defined benefit pension plans.

Other defined
Table 22.1 Defined benefit post-employment
Weighted average assumptions used in determining the actuarial liabilities pension plans benefits
as of December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003

Discount rate 5.1% 5.3% 5.7% 5.7%

Expected long-term rate of return on assets 6.1% 6.1% 5.0% 6.6%

Future salary increases 3.8% 3.8% 3.7% 4.1%

Future pension increases 2.3% 1.7% – –

Increase in long-term health cost – – 9.5% 9.3%
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Other defined
Table 22.2 Defined benefit post-employment
Status of funded defined benefit plans pension plans benefits
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003

Present value of obligations (10,640) (8,562) (104) (108)

Fair value of plan assets 8,451 7,256 17 22

Funded status (2,189) (1,306) (87) (86)

Unrecognized net actuarial losses 2,457 1,708 20 27

Asset / (liability) as of December 31 268 402 (67) (59)

The funded status discloses the balance of pension plan assets at current fair values less the pension liability at current conditions.
Pensions, however, are long-term by nature. Short-term variations between long-term actuarial assumptions and actual experience may be
positive or negative, i.e. resulting in actuarial gains or losses. In principle, such actuarial gains or losses are not recognized under IAS19
as it is expected that such actuarial gains and losses will equalize over time. Only unrecognized actuarial gains or losses exceeding certain
“corridors” as defined in IAS19 are amortized through the operating statement (see table 22.4 below,“Net actuarial losses recognized
in year”).

The funded status of the Group’s funded defined benefit plans moved from a deficit of USD 1,306 million as of December 31, 2003 to a
deficit of USD 2,189 million as of December 31, 2004. Pension plans in the UKISA region accounted for substantially all of the movement
in the balances. The increase in the present value of the pension obligations in UKISA, which increased greater proportionally than the fair
value of plan assets thus impacting the funded status, is due to changes in actuarial assumptions about future pension benefits. The
funded status was further impacted by the pension contribution holiday in the UK which continued in 2004, during which time pension
assets of approximately USD 140 million were liquidated to pay benefits without new contributions added to plan assets. Foreign
exchange movements also had a total impact on the funded status of the Group's funded defined benefit plans in Switzerland and the
UKISA region of approximately USD 72 million.

Other defined
Table 22.3 Defined benefit post-employment
Status of unfunded defined benefit plans pension plans benefits
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003

Present value of obligations (894) (775) (224) (199)

Unrecognized net actuarial losses 55 5 66 63

Unrecognized prior service cost – – (1) (2)

Liability as of December 31 (839) (770) (159) (138)

The summary of the amounts recognized in the consolidated operating statements is given below.

Other defined
Table 22.4 Defined benefit post-employment
Components of net periodic expenses pension plans benefits
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003

Current service cost (351) (332) (8) (5)

Interest cost (520) (460) (17) (13)

Expected return on plan assets 475 417 1 1

Net actuarial losses recognized in year (106) (137) (5) (2)

Past service cost (11) (1) – (2)

Gains on curtailment or settlement 15 13 – –

Net periodic pension expense (498) (500) (29) (21)

The actual returns on defined benefit pension plan assets for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 were USD 637 million and
USD 778 million, respectively. The actual returns on other defined post-employment plan assets were USD nil million and USD1 million for
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The summary of the balance sheet movements in relation to defined benefit plans and other defined post-employment benefits is given
below.

Other defined
Table 22.5 Defined benefit post-employment
Summary of balance sheet movements pension plans benefits
in USD millions 2004 2003 2004 2003

Liability as of January1 (opening balance) (368) (182) (197) (186)

Current year expense (498) (500) (29) (21)

Contributions paid 303 381 6 4

Divestments 24 18 – 13

Foreign currency translation effects (32) (85) (6) (7)

Liability in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31 (closing balance) (571) (368) (226) (197)
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(b) Defined contribution pension plans
Certain of the Group’s operating companies sponsor various defined contribution plans. Eligibility for participation in the various plans is
either based on completion of a specified period of continuous service or date of hire.The plans provide for voluntary contributions by
employees and contributions by employer which typically range from 3% to 15% of annual salaries, depending on the employees’ years
of service. The Group’s contributions under these plans amounted to USD13 million and USD12 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

23. Share-based compensation and cash incentive plans

The Group has adopted various share-based compensation and cash incentive plans to attract, retain and motivate executives and
employees. The plans are designed to reward employees for their contribution to the performance of the Group and to encourage
employee share ownership. Share-based compensation plans include plans under which shares and options to purchase shares, based on
the performance of the businesses, are awarded. Share-based plans are based on the provision of Zurich Financial Services shares.

(a) Cash incentive plans
Various businesses throughout the Group operate short-term incentive programs for executives, management and, in some cases, for
employees of that business unit. Awards are made in cash, based on the accomplishment of both organizational and individual
performance objectives.The expenses recognized for these cash incentive plans amounted to USD 242 million and USD 213 million
for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

(b) Share-based compensation plans for employees
The Group encourages employees to own shares of Zurich Financial Services and has set up a framework based on the implementation of
either share options and/or performance share programs. Actual plans are tailored to meet local market requirements.

Table 23.1
Expenses recognized in the operating statements
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003

Total option-based expenses 23 10

Total share-based expenses 45 41

Total expenses 68 51

The explanations below give a more detailed overview of the plans of the Group.

Share option plans for UK employees
UK Sharesave Plan: The plan is open to employees in the United Kingdom. Participants enter into a savings contract with a bank for the
accumulation of contributions of between GBP 5 and GBP 250 per month for a period of three or five years. An interest bonus is credited
at the end of the savings period. Participants are granted options to acquire Zurich Financial Services shares at a pre-determined price,
which is not less than 80% of the market price prior to grant. Options under the plan can normally be exercised for a period of six months
after the end of the savings period. Early exercise, limited to the value of shares that can be acquired with accrued savings, is permitted
in certain circumstances.There were a total of 2,409 and 3,303 participants in this plan as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The
first grants were made in March1999.

Allied Dunbar Share Option Plan: Inland Revenue unapproved share options were granted to selected managers and franchisees in the
United Kingdom. Vesting is over a maximum five-year period with an exercise period of six months after vesting occurs. Participants
have the right to acquire Zurich Financial Services shares at the exercise price determined at the day of grant. The first grants were made in
February 2000 and based on performance achievements, additional grants were made in 2002, 2003 and 2004. All grants under this plan
vested on December 31, 2004.There were a total of 492 and 1,232 participants in this plan as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Employee share plans
Share Incentive Plan for employees in the UK: In June 2003, the Group established an Inland Revenue approved Share Incentive
Plan and launched the partnership shares element of this plan. This plan enabled participating employees to make monthly purchases of
Zurich Financial Services shares at the ruling market price out of their gross earnings. There were 500 and 507 participants in the plan
as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 respectively. The Group also launched reward shares, the profit-sharing element of the Share Incentive
Plan in March 2004 with share allocations being made in May 2004. The awards were based on the performance of the participating
employee’s business units for the year, subject to a maximum award of 5% of participant’s base salary (before any flexible benefit adjust-
ments) or GBP 3,000. The total number of participating employees as of December 31, 2004, was 6,149.

Share Incentive Plans for employees in Switzerland: In 2004, a new Employee Incentive Plan was introduced for employees in
Switzerland that combined the features of the annual cash-based incentive plan and the previous employee performance share plan.
Under this new plan employees who receive an incentive payment under the Employee Incentive Plan have the option to acquire 
sales-restricted shares at a 30% discount on the market value, with the maximum value of the discount being CHF1,500. During 2004,
6,115 employees participated in the Employee Incentive Plan. As of December 31, 2004, 4,613 employees received shares under the
2003 employee performance share plan.

(c) Share based compensation plans for executives
The Group operates long-term incentive plans for selected executives.These plans comprise the allocation of a target number of
share options grants and/or shares grants with the vesting of these option/share grants being subject to the achievement of specific
financial performance goals.The Group can also make Restricted Share grants to selected employees, which provide share awards
if the individual remains employed with the Group on selected dates in the future.
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Senior executive Group long-term incentive plans
Senior Executives are granted annually performance options and performance shares which vest on an annual basis over the subsequent
three year period.The actual level of vesting, which can be between 0% and 150% of the original number granted, depends on the
performance of the Group during the previous calendar year.The current performance metrics are the Group’s return on equity (ROE)
and the positioning of the Group’s total shareholder return against an international peer group of insurance companies. One-half of the
shares that actually vest are sales-restricted/deferred for a further period of three years.The options have a seven-year term from the date of
grant. Grants under the plan are made annually on April 3.The actual number of performance options and performance shares granted
is determined such that the economic value is a defined percentage of the annual salary in the year of allocation. During 2004 and 2003,
a total of 186 and 184 participants were granted shares and options under this plan.

Executive long-term performance share plans
Selected executives are granted annually performance shares which vest over a period of three years, either on an annual basis or at the end
of the three-year period. Specific performance parameters are established for each of the business divisions and include, for example, return
on equity or business operating profit objectives.The actual number of performance shares granted at the beginning of the performance
period is determined such that the economic value is defined percentage of the annual salary in the year of allocation. Actual awards under
these plans are made fully in shares of Zurich Financial Services, of which 50% are sales-restricted/deferred for a further period of three years.
There were a total of 535 and 497 participants in this plan as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

(d) Further information on share and option plans
Weighted average

Number of shares exercise price1

Table 23.2 under option (in CHF)
Movements in options granted under the various equity participation plans 2004 2003 2004 2003

Outstanding as of January1 1,795,120 1,554,177 340 445

Options granted 477,022 597,894 202 121

Options forfeited (260,671) (356,951) 397 435

Options exercised (24,692) – 121 n/a

Expired during period (111,763) – 405 n/a

Outstanding as of December 31 1,875,016 1,795,120 297 340

Exercisable as of December 31 693,892 138,004 407 698
1 Only fixed exercise prices were applied.

As certain plan participants elected in 2002 to take their option award in the form of Share Appreciation Rights, the above table includes
in the number of shares under option, outstanding as of December 31, 2004, 77,234 shares under option which will be settled through cash
payments rather than through actual shares.

The average share price for Zurich Financial Services shares in 2004 and 2003 was CHF188.76 and CHF154.65, respectively.

Table 23.3 Weighted average Weighted average
Range of exercise prices of options outstanding as of December 31, 2004 contractual remaining expected
in CHF life in years life in years

100– 400 6.8 5.2

401– 700 6.5 2.2

701–1,000 6.7 1.0

Weighted average
fair value at grant

Table 23.4 Number date (in CHF)
Options and shares granted during the period 2004 2003 2004 2003

Shares granted during the period 384,420 530,341 213 121

Options granted during the period1 477,022 597,894 67 47
1 Number of options granted is shown as the number of shares under option granted during the period.

Additional information
The shares and options granted during the period are the target allocations made under the performance option and the performance
share plans together with any restricted share awards granted during the year. Whether these grants become vested or not will depend
upon whether the performance achievements are met and the expense is then adjusted accordingly.
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The fair value of the options granted to senior executives is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, with the following
assumptions.

Table 23.5
Black-Scholes assumptions 2004 2003

Share price CHF 213.25 CHF 120.50

Exercise price CHF 213.25 CHF 120.50

Implied volatility 31.75% 41.00%

Risk-free interest rate 2.47% 2.34%

Expected dividend rate 1.50% 1.50%

Contracted option life 7 years 7 years

The risk-free interest rate was determined by using the seven year CHF swap rate for 2004 and 2003, respectively.The fair value of any other
share options granted during the year has been determined using the same methodology.

24. Related party transactions

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into various transactions with related companies, including various reinsurance and 
cost-sharing arrangements. These transactions are not considered material to the Group, either individually or in the aggregate. Parties are
considered to be related if one party has the ability to control or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or
operational decisions.The table below sets forth related party transactions reflected in the consolidated balance sheets and consolidated
operating statements.

Table 24
Related party transactions
in USD millions 2004 2003

Consolidated operating statements for the years ended December 31

Net earned premiums and policy fees 7 1

Net investment income 105 96

Other income/ (expense) (9) 11

Losses and loss adjustment expenses (11) (7)

Consolidated balance sheets as of December 31

Policyholders’ collateral and other loans 23 32

Reinsurance assets 1 4

Other receivables 2 11

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses (4) (4)

Outstanding loans and guarantees granted to members of the Group Executive Committee amounted to USD 3 million for both years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003. No outstanding loans or guarantees were granted to directors of Zurich Financial Services for either of the
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003.The term “directors” and “members of the Group Executive Committee” in this context includes
the individual as well as members of their respective households. Remuneration paid to the members of the Board of Directors of Zurich
Financial Services in 2004 and 2003 were USD 2.0 million and USD1.9 million, respectively.

25. Farmers Exchanges

Farmers Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“FGI”) provide certain non-claims related management services to the Farmers Exchanges. In
addition, the Group has the following relationships with the Farmers Exchanges.

Certificates of contribution and surplus notes of the Farmers Exchanges
As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, FGI and other Group companies held the following surplus note and certificates of contribution of the
Farmers Exchanges. Originally these were purchased by FGI in order to supplement the policyholders’ surplus of the Farmers Exchanges.

in USD millions 2004 2003

6.15% surplus note, due December 2013 (in 2003: 8.5%, due February 2005) 88 88

6.15% certificates of contribution, due December 2013 524 –

6.15% certificates of contribution, due August 2014 (in 2003: 7.85%, due March 2010) 296 370

6.00% certificates of contribution, due September 2006 107 557

Various other certificates of contribution 23 23

Conditions governing payment of interest and repayment of principal are outlined in the certificates of contribution and the surplus note.
Generally, repayment of principal may be made only when the issuer has an appropriate amount of surplus, and then only after approval
is granted by the issuer’s governing Board and the appropriate state insurance regulatory department. In addition, payment of interest may
generally be made only when the issuer has an appropriate amount of surplus and then only after approval is granted by the appropriate
state insurance regulatory department.
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Quota share reinsurance treaties with the Farmers Exchanges
The Farmers Exchanges have Quota Share reinsurance treaties with Farmers Reinsurance Company (“Farmers Re”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of FGI, and Zurich Insurance Company (“ZIC”).

With effect from January1, 2004, Farmers Re assumes annually USD 200 million (USD 200 million in 2003) and ZIC assumes USD 800 million
(USD1,200 million in 2003) of gross written premiums under an Auto Physical Damage (“APD”) Quota Share reinsurance agreement with the
Farmers Exchanges.

Effective December 31, 2002, Farmers Re and ZIC entered into a 10% All Lines Quota Share reinsurance treaty with the Farmers Exchanges
under which each reinsured a percentage of all lines of business written by the Farmers Exchanges. Under this treaty, Farmers Re assumes
a 2% quota share of the premiums written and the ultimate net losses sustained in all lines of business written by the Farmers Exchanges
(ZIC reinsures 8% under this agreement after the APD reinsurance treaty has been applied). Losses assumed are subject to a maximum
combined ratio of 112.5% (except in Texas where they are subject to a combined ratio of 116.2%) as well as USD 800 million of catastrophe
losses and a minimum combined ratio of 93.5%.The reinsurance agreement, which can be terminated after 60 days notice by any of the
parties, also provides for the Farmers Exchanges to receive a provisional ceding commission of 22% of premiums for acquisition expenses and
14.1% of premiums for other expenses with additional experience commissions that depend on loss experience. As of December 31, 2004,
this All Lines Quota Share reinsurance treaty was increased from 10% to 12%.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, Group companies assumed USD1,269 million of gross written premiums (USD1,056 million in
the prior year) from the Farmers Exchanges under this treaty.

In addition, effective December 31, 2002, Farmers Re and ZIC entered into a 20% Personal Lines Auto Quota Share reinsurance treaty with
the Farmers Exchanges under which each reinsured a percentage of the personal lines auto business written by the Farmers Exchanges.
Under this treaty, Farmers Re assumes a 4% quota share of the premiums written and the ultimate net losses sustained in the personal lines
auto liability and physical damage lines written by the Farmers Exchanges after all other reinsurance treaties are applied (ZIC reinsures 16%
under this agreement). Losses assumed are subject to a maximum combined ratio of 112.5% as well as USD150 million of catastrophe losses
and a minimum combined ratio of 97.0%. The reinsurance agreement, which can be terminated after 60 days notice by any of the parties,
also provides for the Farmers Exchanges to receive a provisional ceding commission of 20% of premiums for acquisition expenses and 17.2%
of premiums for other expenses with additional experience commissions that depend on loss experience.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, Group companies assumed USD 859 million of gross written premiums (USD1,019 million in the
prior year) from the Farmers Exchanges under this treaty.

Effective December 31, 2004, this 20% Personal Lines Auto Quota Share reinsurance treaty was cancelled and unearned premiums
(USD 338 million) net of acquisition costs (USD 68 million) were transferred to the Farmers Exchanges.

26. Commitments and contingencies

The Group has provided guarantees or commitments to external parties, associates, partnerships and joint ventures.These arrangements
include commitments under certain conditions to make liquidity advances to cover delinquent principal and interest payments, make capital
contributions or provide equity financing.

Table 26.1
Quantifiable commitments and contingencies
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003

Commitments under investment agreements 3,642 3,638

Less funded (2,785) (2,349)

Remaining commitments under investment agreements 857 1,289

Guarantees1, surety bonds, letters of credit 3,168 2,824

Future rent commitments 1,619 1,673

Undrawn loan commitments (capital markets and banking activities) 570 1,577

Other commitments and contingent liabilities 271 1,082
1 Guarantee features embedded in life insurance products are not included. For such guarantee features refer to note 11, insurance reserves.

Commitments under investment agreements
The Group has committed to contribute capital to subsidiaries, associates and third parties that engage in making investments in direct
private equity, private equity funds, emerging market funds and hedge funds. Included in the remaining commitments is USD 473 million
to Capital Z Investments II, L.P., USD167 million to Capital Z Investments, L.P. and USD116 million to Gresham. Part of these commitments
may be called at any time and in any amount, based on various criteria.The remaining commitments also include a minimum allocation for
hedge fund investments.

Guarantees, surety bonds, letters of credit
The Group knows of no event of default that would require it to satisfy guarantees. Irrevocable letters of credit and surety bonds were
issued to secure certain reinsurance contracts.
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Future rent commitments
The Group has entered into various operating leases as lessee for office space and certain computer and other equipment. Rent expenses
for these items totaled USD190 million and USD197 million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Table 26.2
Future payments under non-cancellable operating leases with terms in excess of one year Rental
in USD millions payments

2005 205

2006 186

2007 172

2008 157

2009 136

2010 and thereafter 763

Total 1,619

The Group also leases its real estate held for investment to outside parties under operating leases.

Indemnity agreements
The Group, through certain of its subsidiaries, has agreed to arrangements that cap Converium’s net exposure for losses arising out of
the September11, 2001 event at USD 289 million. Additionally, the Group has provided Converium with coverage for net losses in excess
of USD 59 million, including non-performance of the retrocessionaire, related to Amerisafe business ceded to the Unicover pool. As of
December 31, 2004, the Group has recorded provisions in respect of both arrangements of USD162 million and USD13 million, respectively.

Pledged assets
Total assets pledged including securities pledged in respect of securities repurchase agreements amounted to USD 5,048 million and
USD 4,133 million as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively. Assets pledged were financial assets.

Other contingent liabilities
The Group has received notices from various tax authorities asserting deficiencies in taxes for various years.The Group believes that
it has meritorious legal defenses to those claims and believes that the ultimate outcome of the cases will not result in a material impact
on the Group’s consolidated results of operation or financial position.

In common with other groups with life assurance businesses in the UK, the Group remains exposed to a number of Conduct of Business
issues which are currently under review by the UK Financial Services Authority. While provisions are maintained which reflect management’s
evolving best estimate of the probable costs and expenses of resolving these matters, significant uncertainty regarding the ultimate costs
remains.The main area of uncertainty concerns sales advice related complaints.The key assumptions used to derive the complaint provision
are the volume of complaints, both those already recorded and an assumption as to the future complaint levels, the percentage of
complaints which will be successful (the uphold rate), the average redress payable per complaint and the expenses of reviewing each case or
complaint. The assumptions used to set the provision have been based on actual experience over the past three years weighted towards more
recent experience.

In 2003, the Group completed the divestments of various asset management operations. As part of these agreements, the Group has
guaranteed certain minimum levels of “assets under management” to the acquirers.The guarantees provide that if the “assets under
management” fall below those defined levels under certain conditions, the Group may be required to compensate for these shortfalls.
The compensation is limited to the considerations received and the Group does not believe any such compensation to be probable.

Litigation
The Group and its subsidiaries are continuously involved in legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising, for the most part, in the
ordinary course of its business operations.The Group and its subsidiaries are also involved in a number of regulatory investigations.These
investigations involve certain business practices between insurance brokers and insurance companies, the purchase and sale of
“non-traditional” products, certain reinsurance transactions engaged in by the Group and its subsidiaries and other matters.The Group
has been conducting its own internal reviews with respect to these matters and is cooperating fully in these investigations.

The outcome of such current legal proceedings, claims, litigation and investigations could have a material effect on operating results
and/or cash flows when resolved in a future period. However, in the opinion of management these matters would not materially affect
the Group's consolidated financial position.
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27. Segment information

Table 27.1 General Life
Operating statements by business segment Insurance Insurance
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003

Revenues

Direct written premiums and policy fees 32,838 30,944 10,876 11,547

Assumed written premiums 4,800 5,306 103 78

Gross written premiums and policy fees 37,638 36,250 10,979 11,625

Less premiums ceded to reinsurers (7,440) (8,460) (695) (777)

Net written premiums and policy fees 30,198 27,790 10,284 10,848

Net change in reserves for unearned premiums (38) (652) 3 35

Net earned premiums and policy fees 30,160 27,138 10,287 10,883

Management fees – – 17 156

Net investment income 2,425 1,952 6,224 5,883

Net capital gains on investments and impairments 87 278 4,525 4,380

Net gain / (loss) on divestments of businesses (34) (89) 37 427

Other income 517 451 853 861

Total revenues 33,155 29,730 21,943 22,590

Intersegment transactions (361) (227) (369) 7

Benefits, losses and expenses

Losses and loss adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance 23,249 19,617 89 76

Life insurance death and other benefits, net of reinsurance 118 206 12,166 9,303

(Decrease) / increase in future life policyholders’ benefits, net of reinsurance 9 8 (2,075) 1,820

Insurance benefits and losses, net of reinsurance 23,376 19,831 10,180 11,199

Policyholder dividends and participation in profits, net of reinsurance 9 11 6,754 5,861

Underwriting and policy acquisition costs, net of reinsurance 5,361 4,715 1,361 1,271

Administrative and other operating expenses 2,557 2,403 1,243 1,528

Amortization of intangible assets 106 101 230 176

Interest expense on debt 138 187 33 49

Interest credited to policyholders and other interest 150 118 755 885

Total benefits, losses and expenses 31,697 27,366 20,556 20,969

Net income/ (loss) before income taxes and minority interests 1,458 2,364 1,387 1,621

Net income/ (loss) 1,427 1,779 873 1,148

Supplementary segment information

Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid, net 16,639 15,184 92 94

Purchases of fixed and intangible assets 83 161 153 92

Significant non-cash expenses:

Depreciation and impairments of fixed assets 101 171 68 101

Amortization and impairments of intangible assets 106 101 230 176
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Farmers Management Other Corporate
Services Businesses Center Eliminations Total

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

– – 452 224 16 32 13 34 44,195 42,781

– – 906 1,475 661 570 (1,361) (1,405) 5,109 6,024

– – 1,358 1,699 677 602 (1,348) (1,371) 49,304 48,805

– – (183) (202) (655) (578) 1,348 1,371 (7,625) (8,646)

– – 1,175 1,497 22 24 – – 41,679 40,159

– – 159 62 1 (7) – – 125 (562)

– – 1,334 1,559 23 17 – – 41,804 39,597

1,985 1,885 26 24 11 8 (9) (11) 2,030 2,062

86 77 798 892 468 422 (887) (831) 9,114 8,395

1 – 206 342 115 180 – – 4,934 5,180

– – 32 13 53 – – – 88 351

12 – 235 261 674 338 (583) (288) 1,708 1,623

2,084 1,962 2,631 3,091 1,344 965 (1,479) (1,130) 59,678 57,208

(118) (108) (382) (427) (249) (375) 1,479 1,130 – –

– – 138 1,341 30 213 (36) (119) 23,470 21,128

– – 722 597 28 41 8 90 13,042 10,237

– – 70 133 (23) (72) 7 5 (2,012) 1,894

– – 930 2,071 35 182 (21) (24) 34,500 33,259

– – 251 348 – (175) – – 7,014 6,045

– – 514 458 7 1 – – 7,243 6,445

915 854 387 618 766 633 (552) (257) 5,316 5,779

92 90 12 15 8 54 – – 448 436

– 46 142 170 778 723 (729) (730) 362 445

– 2 248 275 33 27 (177) (119) 1,009 1,188

1,007 992 2,484 3,955 1,627 1,445 (1,479) (1,130) 55,892 53,597

1,077 970 147 (864) (283) (480) – – 3,786 3,611

686 604 96 (1,012) (495) (510) – – 2,587 2,009

– – 818 1,276 (2) 80 (32) (118) 17,515 16,516

64 89 4 16 117 80 – – 421 438

40 43 11 28 27 14 – – 247 357

92 90 12 15 8 54 – – 448 436
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Table 27.2 General Life
Assets and liabilities by business segment Insurance Insurance
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003

Total investments 67,727 56,862 170,611 153,628

Investments held on account and at risk of life insurance policyholders – 6 8,272 6,916

Reinsurance assets 16,670 17,128 1,787 1,105

Deposits made under assumed reinsurance contracts 1,786 1,683 24 9

Deferred policy acquisition costs 2,265 2,085 10,995 9,564

Goodwill 164 184 514 524

Other related intangible assets1 – – 973 1,025

Other assets 12,985 12,575 11,365 11,984

Total assets after consolidation of investments in subsidiaries 101,597 90,523 204,541 184,755

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses, gross 54,121 45,337 116 85

Reserves for unearned premiums, gross 14,008 13,470 147 131

Future life policyholders’ benefits, gross 174 157 86,510 82,642

Policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds, gross 1,038 1,058 16,251 13,968

Reserves for unit-linked products, gross – – 61,034 51,127

Insurance reserves, gross 69,341 60,022 164,058 147,953

Insurance reserves for life insurance where the investment risk is carried by policyholders – – 8,345 7,004

Debt related to capital markets and banking activities – – – –

Senior debt 8,508 7,585 679 1,488

Subordinated debt – – – –

Other liabilities 13,542 13,067 19,129 18,472

Total liabilities 91,391 80,674 192,211 174,917
1 Other related intangible assets consists of present value of profits of acquired insurance contracts and attorney-in-fact relationship.

Supplementary segment information

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses, net 41,079 31,986 95 76

Reserves for unearned premiums, net 11,776 11,215 145 129

Future life policyholders’ benefits, net 174 159 85,195 82,002

Policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds, net 1,011 1,043 16,144 13,844

Reserves for unit-linked products, net – – 61,034 51,127

Insurance reserves, net 54,040 44,403 162,613 147,178
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Farmers Management Other Corporate
Services Businesses Center Eliminations Total

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

2,547 2,219 18,927 21,361 16,176 14,644 (24,829) (22,967) 251,159 225,747

– – 15,917 15,058 – – – – 24,189 21,980

441 429 6,457 7,250 639 385 (2,990) (3,627) 23,004 22,670

– – 1,516 1,931 54 51 (68) (66) 3,312 3,608

– – 83 137 1 1 – (3) 13,344 11,784

– – 60 64 6 7 – – 744 779

1,024 1,067 – – – – – – 1,997 2,092

708 767 2,786 4,721 2,406 2,196 (1,916) (3,261) 28,334 28,982

4,720 4,482 45,746 50,522 19,282 17,284 (29,803) (29,924) 346,083 317,642

– – 4,376 7,813 624 715 (1,424) (2,882) 57,813 51,068

– – 261 481 148 115 (330) (253) 14,234 13,944

– – 2,343 2,146 619 674 (790) (408) 88,856 85,211

– – 7,199 7,354 – – (320) (373) 24,168 22,007

– – 57 61 – – – – 61,091 51,188

– – 14,236 17,855 1,391 1,504 (2,864) (3,916) 246,162 223,418

– – 15,916 15,059 – – – – 24,261 22,063

– – 5,010 6,321 – – (1,130) (360) 3,880 5,961

– – 103 191 16,530 14,288 (22,465) (21,192) 3,355 2,360

– 429 – – 3,749 3,398 (1,233) (1,412) 2,516 2,415

1,389 1,379 8,542 9,942 2,391 1,706 (2,111) (3,044) 42,882 41,522

1,389 1,808 43,807 49,368 24,061 20,896 (29,803) (29,924) 323,056 297,739

– – 2,154 4,737 151 219 (5) (5) 43,474 37,013

– – 202 390 9 9 5 44 12,137 11,787

(199) (194) 1,939 1,788 593 577 5 4 87,707 84,336

(242) (235) 3,633 3,676 – – (58) (120) 20,488 18,208

– – 57 61 – – – – 61,091 51,188

(441) (429) 7,985 10,652 753 805 (53) (77) 224,897 202,532
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Gross written premiums
and policy fees Revenues

Table 27.3 for the years ended for the years ended Assets
Premiums, revenues and assets by geographical segment December 31 December 31 as of December 31
in USD millions 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

North America Corporate 15,709 15,476 11,530 10,001 43,589 36,549

North America Consumer 3,696 4,204 6,046 6,342 15,576 14,671

Continental Europe 18,278 18,267 20,828 20,529 120,698 113,070

UKISA 8,733 7,998 15,849 14,579 117,180 100,149

Rest of the World 2,834 2,851 2,393 2,176 10,777 10,428

Centrally Managed Businesses 2,508 3,078 3,970 4,213 58,056 61,366

Eliminations (2,454) (3,069) (938) (632) (19,793) (18,591)

Total 49,304 48,805 59,678 57,208 346,083 317,642

Table 27.4
Purchases of fixed and intangible assets by geographical segment Fixed assets Intangible assets
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003

North America Corporate 10 47 44 31

North America Consumer 56 39 9 54

Continental Europe 25 66 84 58

UKISA 35 31 11 5

Rest of the World 16 6 11 4

Centrally Managed Businesses 97 48 23 49

Total 239 237 182 201
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Book value
Voting Ownership of common stock
rights interest (in local

Domicile Segment1 % % currency millions)

Australia

Zurich Australia Ltd. Sydney Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 AUD 10.0

Zurich Australian Insurance Limited Sydney General Insurance 100.00 100.00 AUD 97.1

Austria

Zürich Versicherungs-Aktiengesellschaft Vienna General Insurance 99.98 99.98 EUR 12.0

Bermuda

BG Investments Limited Hamilton Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 USD 0.3

Centre Group Holdings Limited Hamilton Other Businesses 100.00 100.00 USD 0.3

CMSH Limited Hamilton Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 USD 0.3

Lanner Re Limited Hamilton Corporate Center 10.00 100.00 USD 144.4

ZCM Holdings (Bermuda) Limited Hamilton Other Businesses 100.00 100.00 USD 158.9

ZG Investments Ltd. Hamilton Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 USD 0.01

ZG Investments II Ltd. Hamilton Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 USD 0.01

ZG Investments IV Ltd. Hamilton Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 USD 0.01

Zurich International (Bermuda) Ltd. Hamilton Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 USD 9.9

Chile

Chilena Consolidada Seguros de Vida S.A. Santiago Life Insurance 98.95 98.95 CLP 24,484.0

France

Zurich International (France) Cie d’Assurances S.A. Levallois-Perret General Insurance 99.99 99.99 EUR 20.2

Germany

BONNSECUR Grundstücksverwaltung GmbH Bonn Life Insurance 76.83 76.83 EUR 0.1

DA Deutsche Allgemeine Versicherung AG Oberursel General Insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 24.5

Deutscher Herold Aktiengesellschaft Bonn Life Insurance 76.83 76.83 EUR 18.4

Deutscher Herold Allgemeine Versicherung AG Bonn General Insurance 76.83 76.83 EUR 20.5

Deutscher Herold Lebensversicherung AG Bonn Life Insurance 76.83 76.83 EUR 46.2

Zürich Beteiligungs-Aktiengesellschaft 
(Deutschland) Frankfurt /Main General Insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 152.9

Zürich Lebensversicherung AG (Deutschland) Frankfurt /Main Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 13.4

Zürich Versicherung AG (Deutschland) Frankfurt /Main General Insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 106.5

Ireland

Eagle Star Insurance Company (Ireland) Ltd. Dublin General Insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 4.6

Eagle Star Life Assurance Company 
of Ireland Limited Dublin Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 17.5

Orange Stone Holdings Dublin Other Businesses 100.00 100.00 USD 1,609.3

Orange Stone Reinsurance Dublin Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 USD 1,663.0

Italy

Zurich International (Italia) S.p.A. Milan General Insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 38.6

Zurich Investments Life S.p.A. Milan Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 34.0

Zurich Life Insurance Italia S.p.A. Milan Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 25.9

Portugal

Zurich, Companhia de Seguros, S.A. Lisbon General Insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 10.0

South Africa

SA Fire House Limited Bryanston General Insurance 100.00 100.00 ZAR 0.0006

South African Eagle Insurance Company Limited Bryanston General Insurance 83.61 83.61 ZAR 3.0

Spain

Zurich España, Compañía de Seguros 
y Reaseguros, S.A. Barcelona General Insurance 99.78 99.78 EUR 33.6

Zurich Vida, Compañía de Seguros 
y Reaseguros, S.A. Madrid Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 50.4

1 The segments are defined in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements, note1, basis of presentation.

Significant subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2004

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Book value
Voting Ownership of common stock
rights interest (in local

Domicile Segment1 % % currency millions)

Switzerland

Assuricum Company Limited Zug Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 CHF 610.0

La Genevoise, Compagnie d’Assurances sur la Vie Geneva Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 CHF 17.0

Zurich Group Holding Zurich Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 CHF 1,600.0

Zurich Insurance Company Zurich Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 CHF 825.0

Zurich Life Insurance Company Limited Zurich Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 CHF 60.0

Taiwan

Zurich Insurance (Taiwan) Ltd. Taipei General Insurance 91.68 91.68 TWD 2,000.0

United Kingdom

Allied Dunbar Assurance p.l.c. Swindon, England Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 GBP 465.1

Allied Zurich Holdings Limited Jersey, Channel Islands Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 GBP 90.7

Allied Zurich p.l.c. London, England Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 GBP 378.1

Claims Management Group Limited London, England Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 GBP 3.5

Dunbar Group p.l.c. London, England Other Businesses 100.00 100.00 GBP 60.3

Eagle Star Group Services Limited London, England Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 GBP 0.000002

Eagle Star Holdings Limited London, England Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 GBP 553.7

Eagle Star Insurance Company Limited Fareham, England General Insurance 100.00 100.00 GBP 591.7

Zurich Assurance (2004) p.l.c. London, England Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 GBP 162.6

Zurich Assurance Limited London, England Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 GBP 879.9

Zurich Financial Services (Jersey) Limited Jersey, Channel Islands Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 GBP 0.01

Zurich Financial Services (UKISA) Limited London, England Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 GBP 1,492.1

Zurich Holdings (UK) Limited Fareham, England Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 GBP 87.1

Zurich International (UK) Limited Fareham, England General Insurance 100.00 100.00 GBP 40.0

Zurich International Life Limited Douglas, Isle of Man Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 GBP 35.6

Zurich Invest (Jersey) Ltd. Jersey, Channel Islands General Insurance 100.00 100.00 GBP 0.1

Zurich Specialties London Limited London, England General Insurance 100.00 100.00 GBP 150.0

Zurich Whiteley Investment Trust Limited Fareham, England Other Businesses 100.00 100.00 GBP 10.2

United States of America

Centre Reinsurance Holdings (Delaware) Limited Wilmington, DE Other Businesses 100.00 100.00 USD 0.0196

Crown Management Services Limited Wilmington, DE Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 USD 0.00003

Farmers Group, Inc. Los Angeles, CA Farmers Management
Services 96.63 100.00 USD 0.001

Farmers New World Life Insurance Company Mercer Island, WA Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 USD 6.6

Farmers Reinsurance Company Los Angeles, CA General Insurance 100.00 100.00 USD 5.0

Kemper Corporation Schaumburg, IL Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 USD 220.0

Kemper Investors Life Insurance Company Mercer Island, WA Other Businesses 100.00 100.00 USD 2.5

Universal Underwriters Insurance Company Overland Park, KA General Insurance 100.00 100.00 USD 15.0

Universal Underwriters Life Insurance Company Overland Park, KA General Insurance 100.00 100.00 USD 2.5

Zurich American Insurance Company 
(and subsidiaries) Schaumburg, IL General Insurance 100.00 100.00 USD 5.0

Zurich Finance (USA), Inc. Schaumburg, IL Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 USD 0.000001

Zurich Holding Company of America, Inc. Dover, DE Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 USD 0.6
1 The segments are defined in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements, note1, basis of presentation.
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To the General Meeting of Zurich Financial Services, Zurich

As auditors of the Group, we have audited the consolidated financial statements (operating statement, balance sheet, statement of cash
flows, statement of shareholders’ equity and notes on pages 63 to 110) of Zurich Financial Services for the year ended December 31, 2004.

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional qualification
and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards promulgated by the Swiss profession and with International Standards
on Auditing, which require that an audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement. We have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. We have also assessed the accounting principles used, significant estimates made and the overall
consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position, the result of operations and the cash
flows in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

R Marshall W Eriksen-Grundbacher

Zurich, February16, 2005

Report of the Group auditors
Consolidated Financial Statements
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Embedded Value Results – Life Insurance

North America
Consumer

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003

Gross new business premiums including deposits 252 711

of which:

Annual premiums 106 175

Single premiums 146 536

Gross new business annual premiums equivalent (APE) 120 229

Embedded value information:

Opening embedded value 2,555 3,160

Operating profit expected from in-force business and net assets, after tax 176 232

New business profit, after tax 74 71

Operating variance, after tax (1) (5)

Operating assumption changes 81 20

Total operating profit, after tax 330 318

Economic variance:

Investment variance 4 78

Change in economic assumptions (15) (37)

Embedded value profit , after tax 319 359

Dividends and capital movements (472) (964)

Closing embedded value before foreign currency translation effects 2,402 2,555

Foreign currency translation effects – –

Closing embedded value after foreign currency translation effects 2,402 2,555

of which:

Shareholders’ net assets 1,012 1,308

Value of business in-force 1,390 1,247

After-tax operating return before foreign currency translation effects 15.0% 10.0%

After-tax return on opening embedded value before foreign currency translation effects 14.5% 11.4%

New business profit margin (as % of APE) 61.0% 31.1%

Embedded value economic assumptions:

Discount rate 8.0% 8.0%

Investment returns before tax:

Fixed interest 5.4% 4.9%

Equities 8.0% 8.0%

Property – –

Expense inflation 2.3% 2.3%

Attributed tax rate 35.0% 35.0%

Embedded value notes: The above information should be read in conjunction with additional notes on the following page.

External Review: Deloitte & Touche LLP (“Deloitte”), our consulting actuaries, have reviewed the choice of methodology together with the assumptions and calculations made 
by Zurich Financial Services Group (“the Group”) in the calculation of the embedded value results of its Life Insurance business as of December 31, 2004. Deloitte have reported to the Group 
that they consider that the methodology is appropriate, the Group’s assumptions are together reasonable and that the embedded value results as published above have been 
properly compiled on the basis of the methodology and assumptions chosen. For the purpose of this report, Deloitte have performed certain checks on data provided by the Group, 
but have not verified and have relied on financial information underlying the Group’s financial statements.
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Continental
Europe UKISA Rest of the World Total

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

2,724 2,600 5,770 4,286 1,189 770 9,935 8,367

873 599 489 483 98 184 1,566 1,441

1,851 2,001 5,281 3,803 1,091 586 8,369 6,926

1,059 799 1,017 863 207 243 2,403 2,134

2,510 1,944 4,608 4,309 739 675 10,412 10,088

139 142 452 320 75 69 842 763

134 63 59 59 6 (1) 273 192

(98) 31 (132) (140) (1) (12) (232) (126)

244 144 (115) 82 24 (16) 234 230

419 380 264 321 104 40 1,117 1,059

129 274 42 22 30 (16) 205 358

159 (359) 17 (74) (35) (19) 126 (489)

707 295 323 269 99 5 1,448 928

(501) (121) 1,175 (446) – (53) 202 (1,584)

2,716 2,118 6,106 4,132 838 627 12,062 9,432

217 392 454 476 24 112 695 980

2,933 2,510 6,560 4,608 862 739 12,757 10,412

1,403 1,162 3,862 1,660 596 478 6,873 4,608

1,530 1,348 2,698 2,948 266 261 5,884 5,804

23.8% 19.6% 4.7% 7.4% 13.7% 5.9% 10.8% 10.5%

40.2% 15.2% 5.7% 6.2% 13.1% 0.7% 14.0% 9.2%

12.7% 7.9% 5.8% 6.9% 3.1% (0.5%) 11.4% 9.0%

7.3% 7.9% 7.5% 8.0% 9.4% 9.8% 7.7% 8.1%

3.8% 4.2% 4.4% 5.0% 5.7% 4.6% 4.2% 4.5%

7.2% 7.8% 6.9% 7.6% 8.2% 8.8% 7.1% 7.8%

4.8% 4.9% 6.8% 7.3% 6.6% 6.8% 5.0% 5.2%

1.6% 1.6% 3.0% 3.0% 3.1% 2.3% 2.4% 2.4%

32.7% 32.9% 28.9% 28.7% 25.5% 27.5% 30.7% 31.2%
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Embedded value results – Life Insurance

Additional notes to the embedded value results
1. The after-tax operating return and after-tax return on opening embedded value have been calculated to reflect the incidence of capital

movements in and out of the embedded value.
2. The 2003 year-end embedded value included the value of certain life operations which are now centrally managed outside the Life

Insurance segment.
The IFRS financial statements as of December 31, 2004 reflect this change and these operations are included in “Other Businesses” for
IFRS reporting.The life embedded value results as of December 31, 2004, assume that these operations have been transferred out of the
Life Insurance segment at their embedded value as of January1, 2004 (USD 770 million).The regions affected by this change are North
America Consumer and Continental Europe. In the UKISA region during 2004 there was a large capital inflow of assets in exchange for
a holding of a general insurance company.These assets were brought in to the embedded value at their locked in value.

3. The Life Insurance segment includes some non-insurance subsidiary companies. Where appropriate, we have included the value of these
companies in accordance with our embedded value methodology. For those companies for which no embedded value has been calculated,
these have been included at their shareholders’ equity value, as calculated in accordance with IFRS, which represents approximately 2%
of our total published embedded value.

4. The UK Life business distribution network generated an additional USD 16 million of new business profit for the Group relating to a
product accounted for in a non-insurance subsidiary which from year-end 2004 is not included in the life value of new business. In 2003,
sales of this product accounted for USD 20 million of new business profit, without which the new business margin would have been
4.6% for UKISA and 8.1% for the total Group.

5. The UKISA operating profit, after tax, for 2004 has been adversely affected by an increase in provisions for settling customer complaints
relating to past sales of mortgage endowment and other contracts (reducing the operating profit by USD 208 million). Without this effect,
the after-tax operating return on embedded value would have been 8.4% for UKISA and 12.8% for the total Group.

6. The published embedded value assumes that at least the locally required minimum statutory capital is held to support the business. In
some countries, a higher amount has been locked in where this is in line with management strategy or market practice. In 2004, the
amount of shareholder capital used to meet these requirements was USD 5.0 billion, which produced an associated shareholder economic
cost of USD 1.6 billion.

7. In 2004, the capital strain on writing new business was approximately USD 0.7 billion.The after-tax internal rate of return on new business
is 11 to 12%.The new business profit before cost of solvency is USD 352 million.

8. For both 2003 and 2004 the new business profit and new business premium information are shown gross of any minority holdings
although the embedded value is shown net of minority holdings.The minorities share of new business profit is reversed out through the
line “operating variance, after tax” in the table of embedded value results on the preceding pages. Most of the minorities share of
new business profit relates to our subsidiary Deutscher Herold Lebensversicherung AG in Continental Europe.The new business profit
and APE net of minority holdings for 2004 are USD 254 million and USD 2,243 million, respectively.

Embedded value sensitivities
The following tables show the sensitivity of our 2004 embedded value and value of new business to changes in several key assumptions:

Discount Discount Investment Investment MV of Renewal Demo-
rate rate return return equities expenses graphy Lapses

Change in embedded value 1% 1% 1% 1% 10% 10% 10% 10%
in USD millions increase decrease increase decrease decrease decrease worsening worsening

Change in embedded value (667) 795 596 (861) (290) 207 (548) (197)

Discount Discount Investment Investment Initial Renewal Demo-
rate rate return return expenses expenses graphy Lapses

Change in new business value 1% 1% 1% 1% 10% 10% 10% 10%
in USD millions increase decrease increase decrease decrease decrease worsening worsening

Change in new business value (62) 75 59 (57) 70 21 (29) (46)

Please note that the figures shown above are “sensitivities” – for each assumption change, all other assumptions have remained unchanged.
The exceptions to this are the investment return sensitivities.The investment return sensitivity assumes a change to future new money
rates for fixed interest securities and a change to returns on both existing assets and future new money rates for equities and properties.
These sensitivities reflect the change to embedded value in this changed investment environment. For example, where appropriate,
changes to statutory valuation bases or policyholder bonuses have been reflected accordingly. In addition, changes to the market values of
fixed interest assets have been reflected where appropriate. However, these investment return sensitivities assume that the risk discount
rates remain unaffected.
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Embedded value methodology
The embedded value represents the shareholders’ interest, excluding any value from future new business, in the entities included in the Life
Insurance segment as per the IFRS financial statements. It is the total of the shareholders’ interest in the net assets of these life insurance
entities and the present value of the projected releases to shareholders arising from the business in-force, less a charge for the cost of capital
supporting the solvency requirements of the business. The discount rate used to value the in-force business in each country reflects long
term government bond rates at the valuation date plus a risk margin.The assumptions for mortality, persistency and expenses reflect recent
and expected experience. All changes in assumptions not classified as “economic” are included in the “operating assumption changes” line
item. Gross new business annual premium equivalent (APE) is calculated as new annual premiums plus 10% of single premiums.

Embedded value profit is the change in the embedded value over the year, after adjustment for any dividends and capital movements. The
profit is calculated on an after-tax basis.

Embedded value profit consists of the following components, the first two of which in aggregate are referred to as operating profit:
• new business profit, after tax, which represents the value added by new business written during the period, including allowance for the

cost of holding solvency capital, and is valued at point of sale using the applicable discount rate
• the operating profit from existing business, which is equal to:

– the profit expected from the in-force business and net assets, after tax, including allowance for the cost of holding solvency capital,
– the experience variances caused by the differences between the actual experience during the period and the expected experience

assumed in the prior-year embedded value, and
– the impact of changes in assumptions of future operating experience;

• the economic variance, which is equal to:
– the investment variance caused by differences between the actual and the expected experience over the reporting period, and
– the change in future economic assumptions, such as changes in discount rates and future investment rates. This also includes, where

appropriate, changes in legislation.

The calculation of embedded values necessarily makes numerous assumptions with respect to economic conditions, operating conditions,
taxes, and other matters, many of which are beyond the Group’s control. Although the assumptions used represent estimates which
the Group and Deloitte believe are together reasonable, actual future experience may vary from that assumed in the calculation of the
embedded value results, and such variation may be material. Deviations from assumed experience are normal and are to be expected.
The embedded value results have been prepared using generally accepted actuarial methods that use deterministic projections that do not
allow for all of the cost of options and guarantees on a market consistent basis.
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Corporate Governance Report

Zurich Financial Services is committed to effective governance for the benefit of its shareholders, customers
and counterparties, employees and other stakeholders based on the principles of fairness, transparency
and accountability. Structures, rules and processes are designed to provide for proper organization and conduct
of the business within the Group and to define the powers and responsibilities of its corporate bodies and
employees.

This report describes the Group’s approach to corporate governance. It includes the information required by
the 2002 Directive on Information Relating to Corporate Governance of the SWX Swiss Exchange. It also
explains how, in 2004, the Group complied with the Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance,
issued in 2002 by the Swiss Business Federation. In light of the introduction of a more prescriptive corporate
governance framework in Switzerland, it has now been decided that Zurich Financial Services, as a Swiss
company, will continue to report its compliance with the Swiss rules and practice on corporate governance and
remuneration. The Group no longer has a company with a primary listing in the UK, following unification of
the corporate structure in 2001, so that compliance with the UK Combined Code is no longer required. Zurich
Financial Services believes that the current Swiss rules on corporate governance and remuneration represent
international standard corporate governance principles, which are appropriate for Zurich Financial Services and its
shareholders. The Internal Control Statement on page 129, however, is in accordance with the UK Turnbull
Guidance.

This report follows the recommended structure outlined by the Directive of the SWX Swiss Exchange, except
for the chapter on compensation, shareholdings and loans, which is newly included in a separate report, the
“Remuneration Report”, following this Corporate Governance Report.

Group structure and shareholders
Zurich Financial Services, the Group’s holding company, is a Swiss corporation, organized in accordance with the
laws in Switzerland. The Group is managed reflecting both line of business and geography.

The Group’s primary business segments are General Insurance and Life Insurance. While General Insurance
substantially writes all lines of property and casualty and specialty business, Life Insurance offers a broad range of
life insurance, annuity and investment-type policies to individuals and groups. For reporting purposes, Farmers
Management Services, Other Businesses and Corporate Center represent further business segments. Farmers
Management Services consists of the management services provided by Farmers Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries to
Farmers Exchanges, which the Group manages but does not own. Other Businesses includes capital markets
and banking activities, the Centre operations and centrally managed insurance operations, while Corporate Center
consists of Group holding and financing companies, operations at the headquarters in Zurich and alternative
investments.

At the beginning of 2004, the Group was divided into four geographical business divisions: North America
Corporate; North America Consumer, including Latin America1; Continental Europe; and United Kingdom,
Ireland, Southern Africa (UKISA), including Asia Pacific1. Changes to the Group’s geographical structure that were
announced in March and April 2004, will only become effective in the financial reporting in 2005. As a result
of these changes, which include the regrouping of the businesses in Europe and further alignment of the Group’s
businesses, the Group is geographically divided into the following business divisions: North America, Europe,
International Businesses and Centrally Managed Businesses.

A detailed review of the respective business segment and division results and activities during 2004 can be found
in the sections Group Financial Review and Segmental Financial Analysis starting on page 33.

The Group’s significant subsidiaries are listed on pages 109 to 110.

With the exception of Zurich Financial Services, with a primary listing on the SWX Swiss Exchange and a
secondary listing on the London Stock Exchange, there are no other listed principal operating subsidiaries in the
Group. Certain Group companies have listed debt issues under the Euro Medium Term Note Programme,
preferred share issues and other financial instruments. For further information on the share listings of Zurich
Financial Services, see the Shareholder Information on page 142.

Operational
Group structure

1 Latin America and Asia Pacific were allocated to the Rest of the World geographical segment for IFRS reporting purposes.
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On November 15, 2002, Zurich Financial Services was notified by Brandes Investment Partners L.P., San Diego,
California, USA (“Brandes”) that as of November11, 2002, Brandes beneficially held 11,831,383 registered shares
or 8.22% of the voting rights in Zurich Financial Services (7,600,409 registered shares of Zurich Financial Services
and 42,309,740 American Depositary Receipts of Zurich Financial Services representing 4,230,974 registered
shares of Zurich Financial Services) on behalf of Brandes’ clients. In the period since, Zurich Financial Services has
not received a notification from Brandes regarding any change in their holding of Zurich Financial Services shares
in accordance with Art. 20 of the Swiss Federal Act on Stock Exchanges and Securities Trading. Brandes has not
applied for inscription into the share register of Zurich Financial Services.

Except as set out above, Zurich Financial Services is not aware of any person, who as of December 31, 2004,
directly or indirectly, has an interest as beneficial owner in the registered shares of Zurich Financial Services
representing 5% or more of its issued registered shares. It is also not aware of any persons who, as of December
31, 2004, directly or indirectly, alone or with others, exercise or are party to any arrangements to exercise control
over Zurich Financial Services.

Zurich Financial Services has no interest in any other company exceeding 5% of the voting rights of that other
company, where that other company has an interest in Zurich Financial Services exceeding 5% of the voting rights
in Zurich Financial Services.

Capital structure
As of December 31, 2004, the ordinary share capital of Zurich Financial Services amounted to
CHF 936,045,207.50 divided into 144,006,955 fully paid registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 6.50
each. The Board of Directors will propose to the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on April 19, 2005
to reduce the nominal value per registered share by CHF 4.00 from CHF 6.50 to CHF 2.50.

As of December 31, 2004, Zurich Financial Services had authority to increase the share capital by CHF 39,000,000
representing 6,000,000 registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 6.50 each not later than June 1, 2005.
It also had a contingent share capital of CHF 35,631,882 representing 5,481,828 registered shares with a nominal
value of CHF 6.50 each. Moreover, there is an additional contingent share capital of CHF 9,750,000 repre-
senting 1,500,000 registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 6.50 each, which may be issued to employees
of the Group.

At the Annual General Meeting on April 16, 2004, shareholders approved a share capital reduction in the
form of a nominal value reduction of each registered share from CHF 9 to CHF 6.50. As a result of this
reduction, the share capital was reduced by CHF 360,017,387.50 from CHF1,296,062,595 to a new total of
CHF 936,045,207.50. The authorized capital was reduced to CHF 39,000,000 and the contingent capital was
reduced to CHF 35,631,882 and CHF 9,750,000, respectively.

For further information on the capital structure and the authorized and contingent capital, see note 21 on
pages 95 to 97. For information on changes of share capital during 2004 and 2003, see pages 68 to 69 and
page 137. For information on changes of capital during 2002, see the Annual Report 2003 of Zurich Financial
Services, pages 52 to 53 and page 118.

Zurich Financial Services shares are registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 6.50 each. The registered shares
are fully paid and non-assessable. Pursuant to Article 14 of the Articles of Incorporation, each registered share
carries one vote at the shareholder meetings and entitles the registered holder to exercise all other membership
rights in respect of such share, provided registration in the share register is effected. Some interests in shares
are held by investors in the form of CREST Depository Interests (CDIs)1 or American Depositary Receipts (ADRs)2.

Zurich Financial Services has no bonus certificates issued.

Significant
shareholders

Cross-shareholdings

Share capital

Authorized
and contingent
share capital

Changes of share
capital

Shares
and participation
certificates

Bonus certificates

1 As part of the unification of the holding structure in 2000, former holders of Allied Zurich p.l.c. ordinary shares received Zurich Financial Services shares, delivered in the form of
CREST Depository Interests, or CDIs, in CREST, the system for the paperless settlement of trades in securities and the holding of uncertificated securities in the United Kingdom. CREST
Depository holds the registered shares in trust and issued dematerialized depository interests representing entitlements to Zurich Financial Services registered shares known as CDIs.
As CDI holders are not the legal owners of the registered shares represented by the CDIs, they are not able to directly enforce or exercise rights that a holder of registered shares can.
CDI holders will, however, have a beneficial interest in the registered shares represented by the CDIs and be allowed as such to give instructions to CREST Depository on the exercise
of certain non-economic rights attached to the registered shares. Each CDI represents one Zurich Financial Services registered share.

2 Zurich Financial Services has established an American Depositary Share, or ADS, level 1 program in the United States. Under the program, The Bank of New York issues the ADSs.
Each ADS represents the right to receive one-tenth of one registered Zurich Financial Services share. Each ADS also represents securities, cash or other property deposited with The Bank
of NewYork but not distributed to ADS holders. ADSs are traded over the counter (OTC) and evidenced by American Depositary Receipts, or ADRs. ADS holders are not treated as
one of Zurich Financial Services’ shareholders and are not able to directly enforce or exercise shareholder rights, which are governed by Swiss law. The Bank of New York as depositary
may only exercise voting rights with respect to instructions received from beneficial owners of ADRs.
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The Articles of Incorporation do not provide for limitations on transferability except as to formalities for the
transfer of undocumented shares.

Registration as a shareholder requires a declaration that the shareholder has acquired the shares in his or her
own name and for his or her own account. Nominees holding Zurich Financial Services’ registered shares
may for the benefit of, or as nominee for, another person be registered for up to 200,000 registered shares with
voting rights notwithstanding that the Nominee does not disclose the identity of the beneficial owner. A Nominee
is, however, entitled to be registered as shareholder with voting rights of more than 200,000 registered shares if
the Nominee undertakes to disclose the identity of each beneficial owner and to inform the beneficial owners
about corporate actions, to consult as to the exercise of voting rights and pre-emptive rights, to transfer dividends
and to act in the interests and in accordance with the instructions of the beneficial owner.

There are special provisions relating to the registration of, and exercise of rights attaching to, registered shares
by CREST International Nominees Ltd. on behalf of CDI holders, including Lloyds TSB Corporate Nominee Limited,
and by The Bank of New York in connection with the Zurich Financial Services’ ADR program.

Zurich Financial Services had no public convertibles or options outstanding as of December 31, 2004. For informa-
tion on employee share option plans see note 23 on pages 99 to 101 as well as pages 138 and 139.

Board of Directors
Expiration of

Members of the Board of Directors as of December 31, 2004 Year of initial current term
Name Nationality Age Position held appointment of office

Lodewijk van Wachem Dutch 73 Chairman
Chairman of the Nominations Committee
Member of the Remuneration Committee 19931 2005

Philippe Pidoux Swiss 61 Vice-Chairman
Member of the Nominations Committee
Member of the Audit Committee 19971 2006

Thomas Escher Swiss 56 Director
Member of the Audit Committee 2004 2006

Rosalind Gilmore British 67 Director
Member of the Remuneration Committee
Member of the Audit Committee 19981 2005

Dana Mead American 69 Director
Member of the Nominations Committee
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 19971 2005

Armin Meyer Swiss 55 Director
Member of the Nominations Committee
Member of the Remuneration Committee 2001 2007

Vernon Sankey British 55 Director
Member of the Nominations Committee
Member of the Remuneration Committee 19981 2006

Gerhard Schulmeyer German/ 66 Director
American Member of the Remuneration Committee

Chairman of the Audit Committee 19981 2005

Rolf Watter Swiss 46 Director
Member of the Audit Committee 2002 2007

1 Mr. van Wachem has served on the board of Zurich Insurance Company since 1993, Mr. Pidoux and Mr. Mead since 1997. In 1998, after the merger
between B.A.T Financial Services and Zurich Insurance Company (the “Merger”), they assumed office as members of one or more boards of the then
Group holding structure consisting of Zurich Group Holding (then called Zurich Financial Services), Allied Zurich p.l.c. and Zurich Allied AG. The Group
structure was re-organized in October 2000 (“Unification”). Mrs. Gilmore, Mr. Sankey and Mr. Schulmeyer were also members of one or several boards
of the Group holding structure that was established with the Merger. Since Unification they have all served on the Board of Zurich Financial Services.

Limitations
on transferability
and nominee
registrations

Convertible bonds
and options
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All Directors are non-executive, independent of management, and have never held an executive position in the
Group. With the exception of Thomas Escher, who joined the Board on April 16, 2004, all of the Directors
have served on the Board throughout the year 2004. Markus Granziol resigned from the Board of Directors with
effect as of the Annual General Meeting held on April 16, 2004.

As of April 16, 2004, all Directors are also members of the board of directors of Zurich Insurance Company.
Previously, only Messrs. Mead, Meyer, Pidoux, van Wachem and Watter were members of the board of directors
of Zurich Insurance Company. Mr. van Wachem also serves as chairman of that board.

Fritz Gerber is the Honorary Chairman of Zurich Financial Services. He was chairman of Zurich Insurance
Company between 1977 and 1995 and its chief executive officer between 1977 and 1991. In recognition
of his leadership and services to that company, he was appointed Honorary Chairman. Such designation does
not confer board membership or any director duties or rights, nor does it entitle him to any director’s fees.

Lodewijk Christiaan van Wachem graduated from Delft University of Technology in the Netherlands and
joined the Royal Dutch/Shell Group in 1953, working in Latin America, Africa, the Far East and Europe.
He became a director of Royal Dutch Shell Group in 1977, president in 1982 and chairman of the committee
of managing directors in 1985. He served in that capacity until 1992, when he was appointed chairman of
the supervisory board of the Royal Dutch Petroleum Company. He held this function until 2002. Until 2002
he also served on the supervisory boards of Akzo Nobel, BMW and Bayer as well as on the board of IBM.
He is currently chairman of the supervisory board of Royal Philips Electronics N.V., and of Global Crossing Ltd.,
as well as a member of the board of ATCO (Canada) Ltd. and of the executive board of Rand Europe.

Philippe Olivier Pidoux graduated from the University of Lausanne, Switzerland, with a doctorate in law,
and also holds a master’s degree in comparative jurisprudence from the University of Texas. He is partner
in the law firm Bourgeois, Muller, Pidoux & Associates in Lausanne, Switzerland. Mr. Pidoux was a member of
the Government of the Canton of Vaud from 1986 until 1994, and a member of the Swiss Parliament between
1983 and 1999. From 1991 until 2003 he was a member of the board and as of 1999 vice chairman of the
Swiss National Bank. He is chairman of Publigroupe AG.

Thomas Konrad Escher graduated in electrical engineering and in business administration from the Swiss
Federal Institute of Technology (ETH) and joined IBM corporation in 1974 as a marketing representative in
New York. In 1985, he became a director of IBM Europe S.A., in Paris. In 1990, he took over as general manager
of IBM Distribution and Support S.A. in Paris and Rome. In 1992, he became director of management consulting
and chief information officer of IBM Switzerland and in 1995, general manager of IBM International Center
for Asset Management in Zug. From 1996 until 1998, he was member of the executive management of Swiss
Bank Corporation responsible for several regions in Switzerland and for information technology. In 1998, after
the merger of Swiss Bank Corporation and Union Bank of Switzerland, he became head of IT in the division
private clients and business banking of UBS AG as a member of the Group Managing Board. Since July 2002
he heads IT in the wealth management and business banking division. Mr. Escher is chairman of the Zurich
Economic Society. He serves as a member of the board of several UBS companies and of the executive committee
of the Institute of Information Management of the University of StGallen, Switzerland

Rosalind Edith Jean Gilmore graduated with a BA degree from London University and an MA degree from
Cambridge University. Her career included twenty-six years in the UK Treasury where she held various senior
appointments, specializing in international and domestic monetary policy and the structure of the UK financial
sector. She also worked in the World Bank and as marketing director for the UK Girobank. She completed her
Government career as executive chairman (First Commissioner) of the regulatory commission for the UK mort-
gage and savings industry. She was a director of the UK Securities and Investments Board, and member of
the Lloyds of London Regulatory Board and of the Banking Advisory Committee of the European Union. She has
held a variety of part time directorships in the public, academic and corporate sectors (including BAT Industries),
and is now a director of Trades Union Fund Managers Ltd., of the Leadership Foundation, Inc. (Washington DC),
of Cranfield University (working with its Business School) and of the Royal College of Music; and is on investment,
remuneration and audit committees. She has honorary fellowships in both her former universities.

Dana George Mead graduated from the US Military Academy at West Point and has a PhD from Massachusetts
Institute of Technology. After serving in the US Army from 1957 to 1978, he held various senior management
positions and was a member of the board of International Paper Company in New York. In 1992, he was
appointed president and member of the board of directors of Tenneco Inc., becoming its chairman and chief
executive officer two years later. After a spin-off of Tenneco subsidiaries in 1999, he was chairman of Tenneco
Automotive and Pactiv Corporation until March 2000. He serves on the board of Pfizer Inc. He also heads the
Business Advisory Council for the United Nations Office for Project Services. He is chairman of the MIT
Corporation. Mr. Mead is president of the Royal Shakespeare Company (RSC) America and a member of the
board of RSC London. He also serves on the board of the Boys and Girls Clubs of America.

Biographies
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Armin Meyer graduated with a PhD in electrical engineering from the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology
(ETH) and joined BBC Brown Boveri Ltd in 1976 as a development engineer. In 1980, he became head of
research and development for industrial motors and in 1984, he took over as head of the international business
unit for electrical power generators. In 1988, he became president of ABB Drives Ltd. and in 1992, president
of ABB Power Generation Ltd. From 1995 until 2000, he was executive vice president of ABB Ltd. and a member
of that group’s executive committee. In 1997, he became a member of the board of directors of Ciba Specialty
Chemicals at the time of its spin-off from Novartis, and has been its chief executive officer and chairman since
2001. He is a member of the foundation board of the International Institute for Management Development,
IMD, in Lausanne, Switzerland, and of the board of the European Chemical Industry Council (Cefic) in Brussels,
Belgium.

Vernon Louis Sankey graduated with a MA degree from Oriel College, Oxford, and joined Reckitt and Colman
in the UK in 1971, subsequently working in France, Denmark and the US. He was appointed to the board
of directors in 1989 and was chief executive officer from 1991 to 1999 of that company. He was chairman of
Gala Group Holdings p.l.c. until February 5, 2003, and is chairman of The Really Effective Development Company
Ltd., and deputy chairman of Photo-Me International p.l.c. He is also a director of Pearson p.l.c., Cofra AG,
Taylor Woodrow p.l.c., a board member of the UK’s Food Standards Agency and an advisor to a number of
other companies.

Gerhard Hans Schulmeyer graduated from Frankfurt Technical College with a BSc in electronic engineering
and from the University of Frankfurt with a BSc in international business. He also holds an MSc in Management
Science from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. After holding various management positions with
Braun, Sony Wega and Motorola, he became in 1989 president and chief executive officer of ABB USA and
member of the executive board of ABB Ltd. From 1994 until 1998, he was president and CEO of Siemens Nixdorf
in Germany, and between 1999 and December 2001, he was president and CEO of Siemens Corporation in the
US. Since January 2002, he has been Professor of Practice at the Sloan School of Management of the Massa-
chusetts Institute of Technology. He is a non-executive director on the public boards of Alcan Inc., Ingram Micro
Inc. and Korn/Ferry International. He is also a member of the advisory board of Banco Santander Central Hispano,
a board member of the German Industrial Investment Council, and a member of the foundation board of the
US National Chamber Foundation.

Rolf Urs Watter graduated from the University of Zurich with a doctorate in law and holds a master of laws
degree from Georgetown University in the US. He is admitted to the bar of the Canton of Zurich. Since 1994
he has been a partner in the law firm Baer and Karrer in Zurich and is a member of its executive board. He also
teaches as a part time professor at the University of Zurich’s Law School. He is non-executive chairman of the
parent company of the Cablecom Group (and its operating entity Cablecom GmbH) and the designated chairman
of Forbo Holding AG (and its subsidiary Forbo Finanz AG) and a member of the boards of directors of Syngenta
AG, UBS Alternative Portfolio AG and A.W. Faber-Castell (Holding) AG. In addition, he serves on the board of the
Swiss Lawyers Association and is a member of the SWX Admission Board and of the Disclosure Commission of
Experts of the SWX Swiss Exchange.

The business address for each Board member is Mythenquai 2, 8002 Zurich, Switzerland.

None of the Directors had a material interest in a contract of significance with Zurich Financial Services or any
subsidiary during the year 2004 or a service contract with any member of the Group with a notice or contract
period of one year or more or with provisions for predetermining compensation on termination in amount
which equals or exceeds one year’s salary and benefit in kind.

There are no arrangements whereby any of the Directors of Zurich Financial Services serve on another company’s
board in return for Zurich Financial Services agreeing that any of that other company’s directors serve on the
Board of Zurich Financial Services.

The Articles of Incorporation require that the Board shall consist of not less than seven and not more than
13 members. The ordinary term of office is three years. On the expiration of their terms of office, Directors may
be re-elected immediately. The Articles of Incorporation require elections to be organized in such a way as to
ensure that no more than four Directors complete their term of office at any one general shareholder meeting.
The election of a member of the Board is effected on an individual basis. Directors are elected by a majority
of the votes cast. Zurich Financial Services rules provide that no individual of 70 years of age or more shall be
nominated as a Director. Exceptions may, however, be made under special circumstances. Such exception
has been duly made in the case of Mr. van Wachem and is being proposed with a view to the re-election of
Mr. Mead.

Cross-involvement

Elections and
terms of office
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At the Annual General Meeting to be held on April 19, 2005, Mr. van Wachem will retire from the Board of
Directors with effect as of the Annual General Meeting after having served the Group for 12 years.

At the same date, the term of office of Mrs. Gilmore and Messrs. Mead and Schulmeyer will expire and they
have been nominated for re-election by the nominations committee. Mrs. Gilmore and Mr. Mead will stand 
for re-election for a term of two years and Mr. Schulmeyer will stand for re-election for a term of three years.

Manfred Gentz has been nominated as a member of the Board of Directors of Zurich Financial Services with
a term of three years. Upon election, the Board intends to elect Mr. Gentz as Chairman, succeeding Mr. van
Wachem.

Manfred Gentz, 63, German, studied law at the universities of Berlin and Lausanne and graduated with a
doctorate in law from the Berlin Free University. In 1970 he joined Daimler-Benz AG where he held various
positions. In 1983, he was appointed member of the Board of Management of Daimler-Benz AG, responsible at
first for Human Resources. From 1990 to 1995 he was chief executive officer of Daimler-Benz Interservices (debis)
in Berlin and subsequently became chief financial officer of Daimler-Benz AG in 1995. In December 1998,
Mr. Gentz was appointed to the Board of Management of DaimlerChrysler AG, where he was in charge of
Finance and Controlling until December 2004. From 1987 to 1995 Mr. Gentz served on the Board of Supervisors
of Agrippina Versicherung AG and since 1996 he has been on the Board of Supervisors of Zürich Beteiligungs-
Aktiengesellschaft (Deutschland). In 1985 he was elected to the Board of Supervisors of Hannoversche
Lebensversicherung AG, which appointed him proxy chairman in 1990. He will relinquish this position as well as
the position on the Board of Supervisors of Zürich Beteiligungs-Aktiengesellschaft (Deutschland) prior to
election to the Board of Zurich Financial Services. In addition to serving on the Board of Supervisors of adidas-
Salomon, the German Stock Exchange (Deutsche Börse AG) and DWS Investment GmbH, he is chairman of
ICC (International Chamber of Commerce), Germany, the Aspen Institute Berlin and the Hanns Martin Schleyer
Foundation. He is active in a number of scientific and cultural institutions.

The Board is chaired by the Chairman, or in his absence the Vice-Chairman, and comprises only non-executive
members. It has a program of issues that is presented at its meetings throughout the year. The Board is regularly
informed of developments regarding the Group and is provided with timely information in a form and of a
quality appropriate for it to discharge its duties in accordance with the standards of care set out in Article 717
of the Swiss Code of Obligations. Board members are also subject to rules and regulations to avoid conflicts
of interest and the use of inside information. Given the separation of roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer (“CEO”) and the fact that the Board of Directors is wholly non-executive, there is no require-
ment for a “lead” director to be appointed under the Swiss Code of Best Practice. Were the roles not separated,
the Vice-Chairman would assume the role of lead director to ensure an orderly evaluation process of the
Chairman and of the Chief Executive Officer and to serve as a contact to whom concerns of the other members
of the Board could be communicated. The CEO attends the Board meetings ex officio, and, upon invitation
by the CEO, members of the Group Executive Committee (“GEC”) as well as other executives attend the Board
meetings. The Board is required to meet at least six times per year, however, during 2004 it has held 10 meetings
of which two were by teleconference.

The Board may appoint committees for specific areas from among its members and establish terms of reference
and rules with respect to delegated authority and the reporting-back. The Board has the following standing com-
mittees, which regularly report to the Board and submit proposals for resolutions to the Board.

The nominations committee, composed of five Board members, is entrusted with the succession planning with
respect to the Board and the CEO and the review of proposals by the CEO regarding appointments to the
GEC and Group Management Board (“GMB”). It proposes the principles for the nomination and the ongoing
qualification of members of the Board and makes proposals to the Board on the composition of the Board,
and the appointment of the Chairman, the Vice-Chairman and the CEO. Final decisions on nominations and
appointments are made by the Board. The nominations committee met six times (of which one was by
teleconference) during 2004 and particularly addressed the nomination and ongoing qualifications of the
members of the Board of Directors and the succession planning for members of the GEC and the GMB.
It regularly reports to the Board.

The remuneration committee comprises six members of the Board and proposes to the Board the principles of
remuneration for the Group and the level of directors’ fees. Based on the remuneration principles, it determines
the remuneration of the CEO and approves the remuneration of the members of the GEC and the GMB.
The committee is also involved in determining the metrics and reviewing performance as it relates to amounts
available for the senior management short-term and long-term incentive plans. The remuneration committee met
six times in 2004. It regularly reports to the Board. Details of the Group’s remuneration principles are given in the
Remuneration Report on page 130.

Internal
organizational
structure
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The audit committee has five members, all of whom meet relevant requirements with respect to independence
and qualification. The audit committee charter provides that the audit committee as a whole should have (i) an
understanding of IFRS and financial statements, (ii) the ability to assess the general application of such principles
in connection with the accounting for estimates, accruals and reserves, (iii) experience preparing, auditing,
analyzing or evaluating financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues
that are generally comparable to those of Zurich Financial Services, or experience actively supervising one or
more persons engaged in these activities, (iv) an understanding of internal controls and procedures for financial
reporting, and (v) an understanding of audit committee functions. The audit committee met eight times in
2004 (of which one was by teleconference). It serves as a focal point for communication and oversight regarding
financial accounting and reporting, internal control, actuarial, compliance and risk management among
Management, the internal and external auditors, group chief actuary, corporate risk management, legal and
compliance functions. The audit committee is responsible for reviewing the Group’s auditing process (including
establishing the basic principles relating to and making proposals with respect to the auditing of Zurich Financial
Services and the Group) and reviews the internal control systems. The external auditors, the internal auditors
and appropriate members of the GEC, the GMB and other executives attend such meetings in order to, among
other things, discuss the auditors’ reports, to review and assess the auditing concept and the examination
process, and to coordinate the activities of external and internal auditors. The audit committee reviews the standards
of internal control, including the activities, plans, organization and the quality of internal audit, corporate risk
management and group compliance. It also discusses on a regular basis with the external auditors the quality of
the Group’s financial and accounting function and any recommendations that the external auditors may have.
Topics considered during such discussions include strengthening internal financial controls, the selection of
accounting principles, and management reporting systems. The audit committee also reviews the annual, half
year and quarterly financial results of the Group before submission to the Board. It is responsible for making a
nomination to the Board regarding the proposal for election of the external auditors by shareholders, for
approving of the remuneration and overseeing the work of the external auditors. The audit committee reviews, at
least annually, the qualifications, performance and independence of the external auditors. It establishes guidelines
for the retention of the external auditors for any permissible non-audit services and reviews any matters that
may impair their objectivity and independence. It also annually reviews the staffing, scope and general extent of
the external auditors’ examination and suggests, if desired, areas requiring special emphasis. Statements
regarding internal control and the procedures in place regarding internal control according to the UK Turnbull
Guidance are given below. The audit committee regularly reports to the Board.

In addition to determining the overall strategy of the Group and the supervision of senior management, the
Board addresses key matters in the area of strategy, finance, structure and organization and business devel-
opment (subject to the matters reserved for the shareholder meeting by law). The Board approves the Group
strategic plan and the annual financial plans developed by Management and reviews and approves the
annual, half year and quarterly financial statements of Zurich Financial Services and of the Group. It establishes
guidelines for overall business policies and capital allocation and approves major changes in the Group’s
business activities, including major lending and borrowing transactions, and major business developments
such as acquisitions or disposals of business or assets, investments or new businesses, mergers, joint ventures
and co-operations. The Board also considers other matters of strategic importance to the Group.

Subject to the powers reserved to the Board set out above, the Board has delegated the management of the
Group to the CEO. The CEO and, under his supervision, the GEC, are responsible for the development and
execution of the strategic and financial plans approved by the Board. The CEO has specific powers and duties
relating to strategic, financial and other matters as well as to the structure and organization and manages,
supervises and coordinates the activities of the members of the GEC. The CEO develops and implements man-
agement tools for the Group and represents the overall interests of the Group as against third parties. The
CEO holds delegated authority to approve certain acquisitions and divestments of businesses and assets, invest-
ments and the establishment of new businesses, mergers, joint ventures or co-operations.

The Board supervises Management and monitors its performance through reporting and controlling processes.
Regular reporting by the CEO and other executives to the Board includes appropriate information and updates,
including key data for the core businesses, financial information, existing and threatening risks, and updates
on developments in important markets and with regard to major competitors as well as other significant events.

Furthermore, the Group has adopted a coordinated and formalized approach to risk management and control.
The process and the results of this approach are described below under “Internal Control Statement.”

The internal audit function and the external auditors also assist the Board in exercising its controlling and super-
visory duties. The audit serves, in addition to the review of the financial reporting processes, to assess the
suitability, reliability and functioning of the business organization with regard to technical and personnel matters
and to examine the efficiency of the control systems. In addition, the internal audit function also reviews the
compliance with the Group’s business and statutory requirements and regulations.

Areas of
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the Board and
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Management Board
To the extent not reserved to the Board, Management is delegated to the CEO. The CEO, and under his super-
vision, the GEC is responsible for dealing with strategic, financial and business policy issues of Group-wide
relevance, including consolidated performance, capital allocation and mergers and acquisitions.

The GEC is headed by the CEO and includes the Chief Operating Officer, the Group Finance Director, the Chief
Investment Officer and the heads of the global business segments – General Insurance and Life. In addition
the heads of the following business divisions are members of the GEC: North America Consumer, North America
Commercial, Global Corporate and Europe General Insurance.

As of January 1, 2005, a standing committee of the GEC is the GEC Finance and Balance Sheet Committee,
chaired by the CEO. This committee attends to key financial matters resulting from implementation of the
strategy, the developments of the financial environment and the financial condition of the Group and is charged
with approving specific transactions or business changes not reflected in the Group financial plan that impact
the Group’s balance sheet under delegations approved by the Board of Directors.

Further special committees, with a member of the GEC presiding, are established to facilitate the coordination
and alignment of recommendations to the CEO for approval on specific subject matters that often are of 
cross-divisional and cross-functional nature: the Group Finance Committee and the Asset Liability Management /
Investment Committee. The Group Finance Committee is chaired by the Group Finance Director and the
ALM/ Investment Committee is chaired by the Chief Investment Officer. The Group Finance Committee monitors
the implementation of finance related matters decided by the Board, the CEO and/or the GEC and gives
recommendations for future course of action, while the ALM/ Investment Committee monitors and deals with
issues relating to investment decisions.

The members of the GEC as of December 31, 2004, were as follows:

Name Nationality Age Position held

James J. Schiro American 59 Chief Executive Officer

Peter Eckert Swiss 60 Chief Operating Officer

Patrick O’Sullivan Irish 55 Group Finance Director

David Wasserman American 50 Chief Investment Officer and Head of Group Strategic Planning

John Amore American 56 Chief Executive Officer General Insurance

Paul van de Geijn Dutch 58 Chief Executive Officer Global Life Insurance

Martin Feinstein American 56 Chief Executive Officer Farmers Group, Inc.

Axel Lehmann Swiss 45 Chief Executive Officer North America Commercial

Geoff Riddell British 49 Chief Executive Officer Global Corporate

Dieter Wemmer German 48 Chief Executive Officer Europe General Insurance

With the exception of Messrs. Riddell and Wemmer, who joined the GEC on November1, 2004, all other
members of the GEC served throughout the year 2004. Mr. Feinstein will retire as Chief Executive Officer
of Farmers Group Inc. and as a member of the GEC effective March 31, 2005. He will be succeeded in his role
as Chief Executive Officer of Farmers Group Inc. and as a member of the GEC by Paul Hopkins.

All members of the GEC are employed under contracts which include a notice period of one year or less.
For further information on termination benefits, see page 127.

Group Executive
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James J. Schiro graduated from St. John’s University, New York, with a Bachelor of Business Administration
degree. He is also an honorary Doctor of Commercial Science of the same university. After qualifying as a certified
public accountant, he joined Price Waterhouse in 1967 and held various management positions before becoming
chairman and senior partner of the US firm in 1994. From 1995 to 1998, he integrated the US and European
and other global operations of Price Waterhouse and was elected chief executive officer of the new company.
After the merger of Price Waterhouse and Coopers & Lybrand in 1998, he became global chief executive officer
of PricewaterhouseCoopers. He joined Zurich in March 2002 as Chief Operating Officer-Group Finance and was
appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Group two months later. He is a member of the board of directors of
PepsiCo. He is also vice-chairman of the Swiss American Chamber of Commerce and a member of the Business
Council of the World Economic Forum, a member of the board of trustees of the Lucerne Festival in addition
to serving as vice-chairman of the American Friends of the Lucerne Festival. Furthermore, he is a member of
the Foundation Board of IMD, Lausanne, as well as a member of the boards of trustees of St John’s University,
New York, and the Institute of Advanced Study in Princeton, New Jersey.

Peter Eckert graduated with a Diploma in Business Administration and worked in various areas of both insurance
and reinsurance before joining Zurich in 1980, in charge of the Group’s Portuguese subsidiary, Companhia de
Seguros Metrópole SA, Lisbon. In 1988 he was appointed chief executive officer of Zurich’s operations in Australia.
He was consecutively appointed to the former Group Executive Board in 1991, and two years later became
CEO for Zurich Switzerland. In July 2001, he became head of the Continental Europe business division and in
March 2002, he was appointed Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Eckert is currently vice-chairman of the board
of Deutsche Bank (Suisse) S.A. He is a member of the board of “economiesuisse” and a member of the board
of the foundation “Avenir Suisse”. He was previously a member of the boards of the respective insurance
associations in Portugal, Australia and Switzerland. From 1995 to 2004, he was a member of the Presidential
Council of the European Insurance Association (CEA), being its president from 1998 to 2000.

Patrick H. O’Sullivan graduated from Trinity College, Dublin, with a degree in business studies. He qualified
with Arthur Andersen as a chartered accountant, followed by a Master of Science degree in accounting
and finance from the London School of Economics. After qualifying he joined the Bank of America, working
in London, Miami, Los Angeles and Frankfurt. In 1988 he joined the US investment bank Goldman Sachs as
financial controller for Europe, and in 1990 moved to Financial Guaranty Insurance Company, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of GE Capital. He was appointed to the FGIC board in 1993. The following year he joined BZW
(former investment banking subsidiary of Barclays Bank p.l.c.) as head of International Banking & Structured
Finance, and in 1996 he became BZW’s chief operating officer. He joined Eagle Star Insurance Company as
chief executive in 1997, and was appointed chief executive officer of Zurich’s UK general insurance business
the following year. He became Group Finance Director of Zurich Financial Services in December 2002.

David L.Wasserman graduated from Brown University, Providence (USA), with a degree in applied mathematics
and economics. He began his career as an actuary, first with Aetna Insurance Company and later with the
Insurance Services Office. In 1982 he joined KPMG Peat Marwick and was appointed Principal in 1987. He joined
Zurich in 1991 and for nine years held various positions with Centre Group, latterly as chief executive officer.
He became senior managing director of Zurich Global Assets in January 2001, and CEO of the Global Asset
business division the following year. He was appointed Chief Investment Officer of Zurich Financial Services in
April 2002 and was also appointed Head of Group Strategic Planning in July 2002.

John J. Amore graduated with a degree in management from Embry-Riddle Aeronautical University, Daytona
Beach (USA), and with an MBA in Finance from New York University. Before joining Zurich, he was vice-chairman
of the Commerce and Industry Insurance Company, a member company of American International Group (AIG).
He later became chief executive officer of the Zurich U.S. Specialties business unit and was appointed chief
executive officer of Zurich US in December 2000. He was CEO of Zurich’s North America Corporate business
division until August 31, 2004. In April 2004 he was appointed CEO of the General Insurance business segment.
Mr. Amore is vice chairman of the board of directors of the American Insurance Association.

Paul van de Geijn graduated in business law from Leiden University in the Netherlands in 1971, and joined one
of the predecessors of AEGON. He started as legal counsel and then worked in the non-life sector before moving
to a senior management position in 1978. After the merger which created AEGON in 1983, he was appointed
a member of the Management Board of AEGON the Netherlands, becoming its chairman in 1991.The following
year, he joined the Executive Board of AEGON N.V., with responsibilities for the Dutch and later Spanish and
Hungarian operations. In 2002, he handed over the Dutch operations and assumed responsibilities for AEGON
USA and the AEGON corporate responsibility program. From 2000 to 2002 he was chairman of the Dutch
Association of Insurers. He held positions in a public-private partnership in the business community and on the
Executive Committee of the Dutch Employers’ Association.

Biographies
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Martin D. Feinstein graduated from California State University, Los Angeles (USA), with a Bachelor of Science
degree, and later studied executive education at the University of Pennsylvania. He also earned several insurance
professional designations: GCA, CPCU, and CLU. He joined Farmers Group, Inc. in 1970 where he held various
management positions before he was elected its president and chief operating officer in 1995.Two years later
he was appointed to his current position as chairman and chief executive officer. Mr. Feinstein was a member of
the board of B.A.T Industries from 1997 until September1998. He is CEO of Zurich’s North America Consumer
business division. Mr. Feinstein is a member of the Society of Chartered Property Casualty Underwriters (CPCU)
and of the American Society of Chartered Life Underwriters (CLU). He is chairman of the board for the Insurance
Information Institute, vice-chairman of the board of trustees for the American Institute for CPCU and chairman
of the US Property-Casualty CEO Roundtable.

Axel P. Lehmann graduated with an MBA and PhD from the University of St Gallen in Switzerland. After several
US research studies, he wrote a post-doctorate certification at the University of St Gallen and subsequently
completed the Wharton Advanced Management Program. He was a lecturer at several universities and institutes
and became vice-president of the Institute of Insurance Economics at the University of St Gallen and the
European Center responsible for Consulting and Management Development. He was head of Corporate Planning
and Corporate Controlling for Swiss Life, before he joined Zurich in 1996 and held various executive management
and corporate development positions within Zurich Switzerland. He became a member of the Group Manage-
ment Board responsible for Group-wide Business Development functions in November 2000. In September 2001,
he was appointed Chief Executive Officer of the former Northern European region and subsequently Chief Execu-
tive Officer of the Zurich Group Germany. In March 2002, he became CEO of the Continental Europe business
division. In 2004 he was in charge of the consolidation of the former Business Divisions Continental Europe and
UKISA (United Kingdom, Ireland and Southern Africa) and assumed responsibility for the creation of the integrated
General Insurance Europe Division. In September 2004 he assumed his current role as CEO Zurich North America
Commercial. Mr. Lehmann is an honorary professor and lecturer for business administration and service manage-
ment at the University of St Gallen in Switzerland.

Geoff Riddell graduated from Queen’s College, Oxford, with a degree in chemistry, and later qualified as a
chartered accountant. He started his career with Price Waterhouse in 1978 and four years later moved to AIG,
where he held various roles, including country manager for Hong Kong, Belgium and France. He joined
Zurich in 2000, initially as Managing Director of Zurich Commercial in the UK, and then became Managing
Director of the UK Corporate and Government businesses. Two years later he became CEO of the General
Insurance business in the UK. In 2004 he became CEO Global Corporate. Mr. Riddell is a former member of
the General Insurance Council of the Association of British Insurers, and was for three years chair of its
Liability Committee. From 1990 to 1995, he was a member of the Hong Kong Federation of Insurers Council.

Dieter Wemmer holds a PhD and a Master’s degree in mathematics from the University of Cologne. From 1983
until 1986, he worked in pure mathematics at the universities of Cologne and Oxford. In 1986 he joined
Zurich Re (Cologne), at that time a reinsurance subsidiary of Zurich’s German operation Agrippina, as a pricing
actuary for life reinsurance. He became Head of Life Reinsurance and Chief Actuary five years later. From 1992
until 1996, Mr. Wemmer held various positions with Agrippina, joining the management board in 1995 respon-
sible for Controlling/Planning, Communication and Real Estate management. He was seconded to Zurich’s
Corporate Center in 1996 as project manager for the implementation of International Accounting Standards
(IAS) and US Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (US GAAP). One year later he became Head of Financial
Controlling. From 1999 until May 2003, he was Head of Mergers and Acquisitions, with additional responsibility
for capital management and General and Life Actuarial from 2002. He became Chief Operating Officer of
the Europe General Insurance business division in May 2003. Since November 2004, he has been CEO Europe
General Insurance and a member of the Group Executive Committee.
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Members of the GEC are also part of the GMB, which includes the heads of certain business divisions, business
units and Group functions. The GMB primarily focuses on communication, capability building and development of
the Group, represents the businesses and functions and serves to foster horizontal collaboration throughout the
Group.

The additional members of the GMB as at December 31, 2004, were as follows

Name Nationality Age Position held

Gastòn Aguirre1 Chilean 54 Chief Executive Officer Latin America

Hans Jürg Bernet1 Swiss 55 Chief Executive Officer Switzerland

Thomas Buess Swiss 47 Chief Operating Officer Global Life Insurance

José Cela1 Spanish 60 Chief Executive Officer Spain

Hanneke Frese1 Dutch 53 Head of Group Capabilities

Paul Hopkins 2,3 American 48 President US Personal Business

Richard Kearns American 54 Chief Administrative Officer

John Lynch 2 American 53 Chief Executive Officer US Small Business

Monica Mächler-Erne Swiss 48 General Counsel and Company Secretary

Michael Paravicini Swiss 43 Chief Information Technology Officer

Martin South 2 British 40 Chief Executive Officer International Businesses division

Franz Wipfli Swiss 53 Head of Organizational Transformation Management
1 Mrs. Frese and Messrs. Aguirre, Bernet and Cela resigned from the GMB in December 2004.
2 As of January 1, 2005.
3 Until March 31, 2005. Thereafter, Mr. Hopkins will become a member of the GEC, succeeding Mr. Feinstein.

Zurich Financial Services has not transferred key parts of management by contract to other companies (or indi-
viduals) not belonging to (or employed by) the Group.

Shareholders’ participation rights
Each registered share entered into the share register provides for one vote. There are no voting right restrictions.

A shareholder with voting rights can attend the shareholder meeting of Zurich Financial Services in person. He
or she may also authorize in writing another shareholder with voting rights or any person permitted under the
Articles of Incorporation and a more detailing directive of the Board to represent him or her at the shareholder
meeting. Based on the Articles of Incorporation, minors or wards may be represented by their legal represen-
tatives, married persons by their spouses and a legal entity may be represented by a person authorized to bind
it by his or her signature even if such persons are not shareholders. Furthermore, authority of representation
may be given to the Independent Representative of Shareholders, to a statutory representative or to represen-
tatives of bank accounts who do not need to be shareholders themselves. Zurich Financial Services may under
certain circumstances authorize the beneficial owners of the registered shares that are held by professional
persons as nominees (such as a trust company, bank, professional asset manager, clearing organization, invest-
ment fund or other entity recognized by Zurich Financial Services) to attend the shareholder meetings and
exercise votes as proxy of the relevant nominee. For further details, see page 118.

Zurich Financial Services used electronic voting for all the resolutions taken at last year’s Annual General Meeting.
In accordance with Swiss practice, Zurich Financial Services informs all shareholders at the beginning of the Annual
General Meeting of the aggregate number of proxy votes received.

Pursuant to the Articles of Incorporation, a quorum is constituted in the shareholder meeting regardless of the
number of shareholders present or the number of registered shares represented. Resolutions and elections
generally require the approval of a simple majority of the votes exercised, excluding abstentions, blank and invalid
votes, unless respective provisions in the Articles of Incorporation (of which there are none) or mandatory legal
provisions stipulate otherwise. Article 704 of the Swiss Code of Obligations provides for a two-thirds majority of
votes cast representing an absolute majority of nominal values of shares represented for certain important matters
such as the change of the company purpose and domicile, the dissolution of the company without liquidation,
and matters relating to capital increases. In the event of the votes being equally divided, the decision rests with
the Chairman.

Management
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General meetings of shareholders are convened by the Board of Directors, or, if necessary, by the auditors and
other bodies in accordance with the provisions set out in Article 699 and 700 of the Swiss Code of Obligations.
Shareholders with voting rights representing at least ten percent of the share capital may call a shareholder
meeting indicating the matters to be discussed and the corresponding proposals. The convocation period consists
of at least 20 calendar days, whereby Zurich Financial Services usually posts the invitations to shareholders
at least 20 working days before the meeting and publishes it in the Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce and
several newspapers.

The Board of Directors is responsible for developing the agenda and sending it to the shareholders. Shareholders
with voting rights who together represent shares with a nominal value of at least CHF 650,000 may request in
writing, no later than 45 days before the day of the meeting, that specific proposals be included on the agenda.

With a view to ensure an orderly process, the Board determines the record date shortly before the shareholder
meeting at which a shareholder needs to be registered in the share register in order to exercise his or her partici-
pation rights by attending the shareholder meeting. Such record date is published, together with the invitation
to the shareholder meeting, in the Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce and in several newspapers.

Changes of control and defense measures
The Articles of Incorporation of Zurich Financial Services do not provide for an opting out or opting up in the
meaning of Articles 22 and 32 of the Federal Act on Stock Exchanges and Securities Trading.Therefore, mandatory
offers have to be submitted when a shareholder or a group of shareholders acting in concert exceed 331/3% of
the issued and outstanding share capital.

Employment agreements have been entered into with the members of the GEC, setting out the terms and
conditions on which they are employed. With regard to termination benefits, the longest period of severance
for members of the GEC is two years, including the notice period, and no additional severance benefits
are provided in the case of a Change of Control. The Group’s share-based compensation programs include
regulations regarding the impact of a Change of Control. These regulations provide that in the case of a
Change of Control, the Administrator has the right to have the existing share obligations rolled over into new
share rights or to provide a consideration for such obligations that are not rolled over. In the case of those
participants who lose their employment as a result of a Change of Control, there is an automatic right to the
vesting of share obligations.

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Stampfenbachstrasse 73, in 8035 Zurich (“PwC”), is Zurich Financial Services’
external statutory auditor and Group auditor of its consolidated accounts. PwC assumes all auditing functions,
which are required by law and the Articles of Incorporation of Zurich Financial Services. They are elected
by the shareholders of Zurich Financial Services on an annual basis. At the Annual General Meeting of share-
holders on April 16, 2004, PwC was re-elected by the shareholders of Zurich Financial Services. The Board of
Directors proposes that PwC be re-elected as statutory auditors and Group auditors for the business year 2005.

PwC and its predecessor organizations, Coopers & Lybrand and Schweizerische Treuhandgesellschaft AG, have
served as external auditors of Zurich Financial Services and its predecessor organizations since May11,1983.
In 2000, a request for proposals for 2001 and subsequent years was made by inviting all major auditing firms
to submit work programs and tender offers, where the program and offer of PwC prevailed.

Mr. Roger Marshall of PricewaterhouseCoopers AG is the lead auditor, responsible since January1, 2003.

OBT AG has been elected as a special auditor to undertake the special audits for increases in share capital
required under the Articles 652f, 653f and 653i of the Swiss Code of Obligations. At the Annual General Meeting
of shareholders on May 16, 2002, OBT was re-elected by the shareholders for a three year term. OBT AG
has assumed this mandate since October 2000. The Board of Directors proposes that OBT be re-elected as special
auditor for a further three-year term.
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The total of the auditing fees (including expenses and Value Added Taxes) charged by the Group auditors in the
year 2004 amounted to USD 36.9 million (USD 29.7 million in 2003).

The total of the fees (including expenses and Value Added Taxes) charged in the year 2004 by the Group
auditors and parties associated with them for additional services performed for Zurich Financial Services or
one of the Group’s companies amounted to USD 8.0 million (USD 8.3 million in 2003).

The audit committee meets at least four times a year with the external auditors. The audit committee reviews
the qualification, performance and independence of external auditors and evaluates the cooperation received
by the external auditors during their audit examination. It further elicits the comments of management regarding
the responsiveness of the external auditors to the needs of Zurich Financial Services and the Group. The audit
committee reviews, prior to the commencement of the annual audit, the scope and general extent of the external
auditors and suggests areas requiring special emphasis.

The audit committee is responsible for making a nomination to the Board regarding the proposal for election
of the external auditors by shareholders, for approving the remuneration and overseeing the work of the external
auditors.

The audit committee has approved a written policy on the use of external auditors for non-audit services
which sets forth the rules for providing such services and related matters. Allowable non-audit services need 
pre-approval and require, among other things, an engagement letter specifying the services to be provided
and making reference to external auditor’s obligation to comply with this policy.

Information policy
Zurich Financial Services has over 128,000 shareholders registered in its share register, ranging from private
individual shareholders to large institutional investors. Each registered shareholder receives an invitation to
the Annual General Meeting. Also available to any shareholder is an annual report including the letter to the
shareholders providing an overview of the Group’s activities during the year and outlining the financial
performance. Similar reports regarding half-year and quarterly results are available for all shareholders. However,
shareholders may opt not to receive printed versions of one or all of the aforementioned reports.

Zurich Financial Services maintains a regular dialogue with investors through its Investor Relations department
and responds to questions and issues raised by either institutional or private individual shareholders. In addition,
Zurich Financial Services organizes investor days to provide comprehensive information about its businesses and
strategic direction. On April 2, 2004, an analyst day was held in London, where the future management structure
was introduced to analysts and on January 20, 2005, an investors day was held in London in order to discuss
underwriting topics. In 2005, further investors days will be held on April 7, June 30 and September 29. A wide
range of information about the Group and its businesses, including the aforementioned reports, is also accessible
on Zurich Financial Services’ Web site www.zurich.com.

Zurich Financial Services will hold its Annual General Meeting on April 19, 2005. As part of the agenda, the
Chairman and the CEO will present a review of the business of the Group for the year 2004. The meeting
will be conducted in Zurich. An invitation setting out the agenda for this meeting and an explanation of the
proposed resolutions will be issued to shareholders by Zurich Financial Services 20 working days before.

For addresses and further upcoming important dates, please refer to the financial calendar on page 143.

Employees
The Group’s employment policy includes a commitment to recruit people solely on the basis of their ability.
The Group actively encourages employee involvement via print and online publications, team briefings and
regular meetings with employees’ representatives. The Group is party to a voluntary agreement within the
scope of the European Works Council Directive. In some countries the Group has established broad-based
employee share compensation and incentive plans to encourage employees to become shareholders in the
Group (see pages 99 to 101).
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Going Concern
The Directors are satisfied that, having reviewed the performance of the Group and forecasts for the forthcoming
year, the Group has adequate resources to enable it to continue in business for the foreseeable future. For
this reason, the Directors have adopted the going concern basis for the preparation of the financial statements.

Internal Control Statement
The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s internal control systems, which are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable, and not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Group has adopted a coordinated and formalized approach to risk management and control. A risk-aware
and control-conscious environment is fostered in the Group, supported by staff education and training.

Management is responsible for the identification and evaluation of significant risks. Periodic risk assessments
are conducted using “the total risk profiling tool.” Every quarter, the operating units report key risks and
prepare action plans to mitigate these risks at the local level. These quarterly risk reports are then used to identify
significant risks and the consequent actions taken at the business unit level are reported to the Board.

Once a year the Group Executive Committee undertakes a Group-level risk assessment. The results of this
assessment and the actions arising are also presented to the audit committee.

Processes and controls in the organization are subject to regular reviews by Management, Group Audit and Group
Risk Management. The Board, through the audit committee, receives periodic reports from the Chief Risk Officer,
Group Audit and Management on the adequacy of the control structure in place to execute the Group’s strategy.

The audit committee has reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal control operated by the Group for
the period January1, 2004 up to the date of the report, and has reported to the Board accordingly.

The Board is satisfied that the review was conducted in accordance with the Turnbull Guidance. The assessment
included the consideration of the effectiveness of the Group’s ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and
managing the risks of the business and a review of the annual reports of internal control and business risks com-
pleted by the businesses. Such review was conducted by Group Audit and performed at the geographic regional
level, and by function, reflecting the level at which internal control is tactically managed in the Group.

Issues identified by this process have been communicated to the Board and are being addressed by the Group.
A follow up process to monitor these issues and associated actions has been implemented.
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To better structure the Annual Report and enable the information relating to the remuneration of Directors and
Management to be more easily available to the reader, the Remuneration Report is presented as a separate
report under its own heading. This Remuneration Report follows the recommended structure outlined in chapter
five of the Directive on Information Relating to Corporate Governance of the SWX Swiss Exchange. The
rest of the information to be disclosed according to the Directive of the SWX Swiss Exchange is included in the
“Corporate Governance Report”, preceding this Remuneration Report.

Recognizing that Zurich Financial Services is a global insurance-based financial services organization, the level of
Directors’ fees has been established to ensure the Group’s ability to attract and retain high caliber individuals.
Directors’ fees are currently paid in cash and the Directors do not participate in any of the share-based programs
established for the executive management of the Group.

The remuneration principles for the members of the Group Executive Committee (“GEC”) are structured to reflect
the global and competitive nature of the Group’s businesses and to ensure that individuals with the required
knowledge and experience can be attracted, motivated and retained to manage operations effectively. Actual
compensation levels and overall terms and conditions are established to reflect the line of business; the relevant
marketplace; and the skills, experience and contribution of the individual concerned. Significant emphasis is
placed on variable compensation to ensure linkage between the rewards of executives and the performance
achievements of the individual and the Group. Given the international mix of the members of the top
management team, an appropriate balance of the compensation elements ensures that the overall package is
competitive in their respective local marketplace.

The remuneration package for senior management, including the GEC, comprises a base salary and participation
in short and long-term incentive programs, together with pension and other employee benefits. The performance
drivers for the short and long-term incentive plans were redefined in 2003 to place a much greater emphasis
on the Group’s financial and operating results and to further increase the alignment with shareholder interests.
The size of the incentive pool under the short-term plan is directly linked to the Group’s profitability, while the
long-term program includes performance-based vesting criteria on both share and share option grants. The actual
level of performance vesting, which is assessed annually, is based on the Group’s actual Return on Equity (ROE)
performance as well as the relative positioning of the Group’s total return to shareholders compared to a global
industry peer group of insurance companies.

Further details of the performance share and share option plans are set out on pages 132 to 134.

As of December 31, 2004, all of the Directors of Zurich Financial Services are non-executives, independent of
management. The compensation for Directors and for members of the Group Executive Committee is therefore
disclosed separately in accordance with the requirements of the Directive of the SWX Swiss Exchange.

Directors’ Fees
The fees paid to the non-executive Directors of Zurich Financial Services who held office in 2004 are shown in
the table below.

All Directors, except the current Chairman and Vice-Chairman are remunerated on the basis of an annual fee
of USD 125,000 together with an additional fee of USD 25,000 in respect of each committee on which they
served. Directors who reside in the United States receive an additional fee of USD 10,000 per annum. With effect
from July1, 2003, it was agreed that the chairman of the audit committee would receive an additional fee of
USD 10,000 per annum.

The current Chairman of Zurich Financial Services received an annual fee of USD 500,000 in 2004. The current
Vice-Chairman received an annual fee of USD 250,000 in 2004. These were the same levels as received in 2003.
None of the Directors’ fees is pensionable.
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The total aggregate fees paid to the Directors of Zurich Financial Services for the year ended December 31, 2004,
were USD 1,992,500, excluding fees paid to the Directors of Zurich Insurance Company referred to below.

Fees paid Fees paid
in 2004 in 2003

USD USD

L.C. van Wachem 500,000 500,000

Ph. Pidoux 250,000 250,000

T. Escher1 112,500 –

R.E.J. Gilmore 175,000 175,000

M. Granziol 2 75,000 143,750

D. G. Mead 185,000 185,000

A. Meyer 175,000 175,000

V.L. Sankey 175,000 175,000

G. Schulmeyer 195,000 190,000

R. Watter 150,000 150,000

Total 1,992,500 1,943,750
1 Joined the Board of Directors on April 16, 2004.
2 Resigned from the Board of Directors on April 16, 2004.

Mrs. Gilmore is a member of a group health insurance plan in the UK with a benefit valued at USD 1,661
(2003: USD 1,315).There were no other benefits in kind provided to Directors of Zurich Financial Services.

In addition, fees are paid to the members of the board of directors of the Zurich Insurance Company.
The membership of the Board and the fee structure was reviewed in 2004 and with effect from April 1, 2004,
in addition to Messrs. Mead, Meyer, Pidoux, van Wachem and Watter all other members of the Board of
Zurich Financial Services became members of the board of Zurich Insurance Company. Also with effect from
this date, a fee level of CHF100,000 per annum was established, a reduction from the CHF 130,000 that
had previously applied.

Fees paid Fees paid
in 2004 in 2003

CHF CHF

L.C. van Wachem 107,500 130,000

Ph. Pidoux 107,500 130,000

Th.Escher1 75,000 –

R.E.J. Gilmore1 75,000 –

D. G. Mead 107,500 130,000

A. Meyer 107,500 130,000

V.L. Sankey1 75,000 –

G. Schulmeyer1 75,000 –

R. Watter 107,500 130,000

Total 837,500 650,000
1 Joined the board of directors in April, 2004.

Group Executive Committee Remuneration
The total aggregate remuneration paid to the members of the GEC was USD 27 million during 2004
(USD 20 million during 2003). Aggregate remuneration consists of the base salary paid, any cash awards received
under the short and long-term incentive plans and the estimated value of other compensation-related items,
for example, the value of pension benefits accruing during the year, overseas allowances, perquisites, cars and
mortgage loans. Aggregate remuneration includes the remuneration payments received during the period
that the executive is a member of the GEC. Equity based remuneration is addressed below.

The increase in aggregate remuneration arises predominantly from the increase in cash based incentive awards
paid in 2004 for the performance achievements in 2003 relative to the awards paid in 2003 for the 2002
performance year. Incentive awards for the 2002 performance year were significantly reduced following the loss
incurred in that year. Furthermore, the modest increase in the average membership and the changes in exchange
rates also impacted the aggregate remuneration over the period.
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The following table specifies the number of members whose aggregate remuneration falls within the following
bands:

2004 2003

Above USD 3,250,000 4 2

Between USD 1,625,001 and USD 3,250,000 2 4

Between USD 1,300,001 and USD 1,625,000 2 1

Between USD 975,001 and USD 1,300,000 1 –

Between USD 650,000 and USD 975,000 – 1

Below USD 650,000 2 1

Included in aggregate remuneration is approximately USD 4 million in 2004 (USD 3 million in 2003) to provide for
accrued pension, retirement and similar benefits for the GEC members. The members of the GEC participate
in various pension plans, typically providing benefits based on final salary and the number of years of service with
the Group. Normal retirement ages vary from age 60 to age 65. Accrual rates vary in line with practice in each
country and typically lead to overall pension levels of between 40% and 67% of the defined final pensionable
salary.

Termination arrangements for members of the Group Executive Committee who gave up their functions
during the year
One member of the GEC gave up his function during 2004. In line with his contractual agreements, an amount
of USD 2.6 million was available to the individual and this was predominantly used to increase the member’s
pension benefits. The payment was made subject to compliance with certain post employment obligations.
No termination arrangements were entered into with members of the Board of Directors, who left in 2004.

For former members of the GEC (including its equivalent prior to its formation), the Group paid amounts
totaling USD 2.4 million to one former member during 2004. No payments have been made to any other former
members of the Board of Directors.

Share plans for the Directors
The members of the Board of Directors of Zurich Financial Services do not participate in the Long-Term
Performance Share Plan for executive management; hence no shares have been allotted to them in the year
under review or in earlier years.

Share Plans for members of the Group Executive Committee
Under the Group’s Long Term Incentive Plan running for the period January1, 2003, to December 31, 2005, the
first tranche of shares and share options became eligible for vesting in 2004 based on the performance
achievements in 2003. Vesting was assessed in relation to the Group’s Return on Equity (ROE) in 2003 and the
position of Zurich’s total shareholder return in comparison to an international peer group of insurance companies
during 2003. The overall performance in 2003 led to a vesting percentage of 129%.

Under the Group’s Long-Term Performance Share Plan running for the period January1, 2002, to December 31,
2004, the actual number of shares to be awarded is dependent on the financial performance of the Group during
this three-year period and any awards will be made in 2005.

Under the Group’s Long-Term Performance Share Plan running for the period January1, 2001, to December 31,
2003, the actual number of shares to be awarded in 2004 was dependent on the financial performance of
the Group during the period relative to defined hurdles. Based on the financial performance of the Group over
the three-year period, no awards were made under this Group Long-Term Performance Share Plan in 2004.
However, for those members joining the GEC during the performance period, pro rata awards could be made to
such members if the business division plans in which they participated paid awards for this performance period.

Under the plans, a further condition of payment is that the individual must remain employed throughout the
performance period. One half of the shares awarded under the plans at the end of each performance period are
sales-restricted for a further period of three years. In addition, certain members of the GEC participated in an 
all-employee share plan in Switzerland and were able to receive three-year sales restricted shares under the terms
of that plan. As a result, the total number of share awards made under the various performance share plans to
members of the GEC during 2004 was as follows

Share Awards
2004 2003

Total performance share awards made 22,9481 1,0661

Relevant share price at beginning of performance cycle CHF 120 to 448 CHF 627

Market value of shares at the date of award CHF 213 CHF 161
1 To the extent that the share awards have not been deferred or sold prior to the end of 2004, these shares are included in the share interest table on

page 133.
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Conditional share allocations
The total number of performance share allocations available to be delivered in future years to members of the GEC,
if specified performance targets are met during the performance periods, was 71,851 as of December 31, 2004
(67,935 as of December 31, 2003), as set out in the table below.

Performance share Allocated price
Performance period allocation CHF Year of award

2002–2004 15,662 301.00 2005

2003–2005 29,276 120.50 2005–2006

2004–2006 26,913 213.25 2005–2007

Within the context of the long-term incentive program, the performance share allocations made in 2004 will be
considered for vesting on a uniform basis during 2005, 2006 and 2007. The actual level of vesting each
year (0 to 150% of the allocation) will depend upon the Group’s performance in relation to the ROE achievement
and the positioning of the Group’s total return to shareholders compared to a global industry peer group of
insurance companies.

In addition to the above, there were 21,137 restricted shares outstanding for members of the GEC as of
December 31, 2004. These restricted shares vest over the next three years and will be forfeited if the holders
of such shares leave voluntarily before the vesting date and the employment relationship terminates. There
were no grants of restricted shares in 2004.

Shareholdings of the Directors
The shareholdings of the Directors, who held office at the end of the year, in the shares of Zurich Financial
Services are shown below. All interests shown are beneficial, and include shares held by closely linked persons.

Ownership of Ownership of
Zurich Financial Zurich Financial
Services shares Services shares

Number of shares, as of December 31 2004 2003

L.C. van Wachem 1,666 1,666

Ph. Pidoux 1,750 1,500

Th. Escher 2,000 –

R.E.J. Gilmore 828 778

D.G. Mead 1,086 76

A. Meyer 1,124 1,124

V.L. Sankey 1,170 1,170

G. Schulmeyer 2,000 1,000

R. Watter 2,968 1,968

Total 14,592 9,300

Shareholdings of the members of the Group Executive Committee
The shareholdings of the members of the GEC, who held office at the end of the year in the shares of Zurich
Financial Services, are shown below. All holdings are beneficial, and include shares held by closely linked persons.

Ownership of Ownership of
Zurich Financial Zurich Financial
Services shares Services shares

Number of shares, as of December 31 2004 2003

J.J. Schiro 5,372 1,000

P. Eckert 8,748 6,136

P. O’Sullivan 8,337 3,638

D. Wasserman 2,952 –

P. van de Geijn 1,212 –

J. Amore 3,031 79

M.D. Feinstein 1,564 1,154

A.P. Lehmann 2,846 1,500

G. Riddell 1,402 n/a

D. Wemmer 1,382 n/a

Total 36,846 13,507

This table does not include the share interests of the members of the GEC through their participation in either the
conditional share plans or the share option plans or if they have elected to defer receipt of their share awards.

Share ownership
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Remuneration Report

Share options held by Directors
The members of the Board of Directors of Zurich Financial Services do not participate in the share option plan for
executive management; hence no share options have been allotted in the year under review or in earlier years.

Share options held by the members of the Group Executive Committee
Under the share option program for senior management, the Group can issue share options to individuals
within prescribed rules. The first share option grant was made in 1999 and regular annual grants have been made
since then. Prior to 2003, option grants were typically made on the basis of a seven-year option term, a three-
year vesting period and an exercise price set at a 10% premium to the market rate during the month prior to the
grant date. Under the rules of the plan, other parameters are allowed for option grants made under the share
option program. In connection with the re-design of the long-term incentive program in 2003, the exercise
price under the option grant made in 2004, which includes performance based vesting criteria, was set at the
market price on the day prior to the date of grant. The vesting schedule for the option grant is the same
as for the performance shares.

Under the share option program, the total number of shares under option for the GEC members as of
December 31, 2004 is set out in the table below.

Number Number Total number Exercise price
of options of options of shares per share

Year of grant vested unvested under option CHF Year of expiry

1999 6,274 6,274 885.85 2006

2000 9,800 9,800 689.95 2007

2001 23,502 23,502 492.55 2008

2001 23,899 23,889 322.30 2012

2002 78,241 78,241 331.10 2009

2003 51,258 74,105 125,363 120.50 2010

2004 85,914 85,914 213.25 2011

The performance based share options granted in 2004 will be considered for vesting on a uniform basis during
2005, 2006 and 2007. The actual level of vesting each year (0 to 150% of the allocation) will depend upon the
Group’s performance in relation to the ROE achievement and the positioning of the Group’s total return to
shareholders compared to a global industry peer group of insurance companies.

None of the Directors or members of the GEC received any other compensation as set out above from the
Group or from any of the Group’s companies.

As of December 31, 2004, the total amount of loans, including guarantee commitments, outstanding was
USD 3 million for two members of the GEC.These loans represent mortgage loans, which are available
to employees and customers in certain countries. Employees, including members of the GEC, benefit from a
reduced interest rate of up to 1% less than the prevailing market interest rates on mortgage balances up
to a maximum of USD 1 million. As of December 31, 2004 none of the Directors had loans.

No other guarantees and/or outstanding loans, advances or credits have been granted to the members of the
Board of Directors or the GEC. Except as disclosed above, the Directors and the members of the GEC of Zurich
Financial Services have no interest in any transactions which are or were unusual in the nature of their conditions
or significant to the business of the Group.

As set out in the previous section, the highest paid remuneration for the Directors was USD 587,000 for 
Mr.van Wachem.

Share options

Additional honoraria
and remuneration

Personal loans

Highest remuner-
ation for Directors
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Principal activity and review of the year
Zurich Financial Services Holding Company – Financial Statements

Zurich Financial Services is the holding company of the Group with a primary listing on the SWX Swiss Exchange and a secondary listing
on the London Stock Exchange. Zurich Financial Services was incorporated on April 26, 2000, with a share capital of CHF100,000. As of
December 31, 2004, the shareholders’ equity totaled CHF 16,267,755,044 (December 31, 2003: CHF 16,097,175,155).

Its principal activity is the holding of subsidiaries. Revenues consist mainly of dividends and interests.Net income of Zurich Financial Services
was CHF 530,597,277 for 2004 (CHF 94,351,041 for 2003).
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Statements of income
in CHF thousands, for the years ended December 31

Zurich Financial Services Holding Company – Financial Statements

Notes 2004 2003

Revenues

Interest income 207,527 111,002

Dividend income 350,000 –

Other financial income 21 115

Total revenues 557,548 111,117

Expenses

Administrative expense 3 (4,064) (5,055)

Other financial expense (178) (381)

Tax expenses 4 (22,709) (11,330)

Total expenses (26,951) (16,766)

Net income 530,597 94,351
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Balance sheets
(before appropriation of available earnings)
in CHF thousands, as of December 31

Zurich Financial Services Holding Company – Financial Statements

Assets Notes 2004 2003

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 5 10,662,917 10,662,917

Subordinated loans to subsidiaries 4,000,000 4,000,000

Total non-current assets 14,662,917 14,662,917

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 500,229 80

Loans to subsidiaries 1,015,791 1,372,193

Accrued income from third parties 4 –

Accrued income from subsidiaries 104,094 100,000

Total current assets 1,620,118 1,472,273

Total assets 16,283,035 16,135,190

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Short-term liabilities

Loans from third parties – 25,000

Other liabilities to subsidiaries 1,042 1,197

Other liabilities to third parties 13,800 11,300

Other liabilities to shareholders 389 363

Accrued liabilities 49 155

Total short-term liabilities 15,280 38,015

Shareholders’ equity (before appropriation of available earnings)

Common stock 7 936,045 1,296,063

Legal reserves:

General legal reserve 9,215,782 9,215,782

Reserve for treasury stock 8 77,235 150,814

Free reserve 5,376,597 5,303,017

Retained earnings:

Beginning of year 131,499 37,148

Net income 530,597 94,351

Retained earnings, end of year 662,096 131,499

Total shareholders’ equity (before appropriation of available earnings) 16,267,755 16,097,175

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 16,283,035 16,135,190
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Notes to the financial statements
Zurich Financial Services Holding Company – Financial Statements

1. Basis of presentation

Zurich Financial Services presents its financial statements in accordance with Swiss law.

2. Summary of accounting policies

(a) Exchange rates
Assets and liabilities expressed in currencies other than Swiss francs are translated at year-end exchange rates. Revenues and expenses
are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Unrealized exchange losses are recorded in the statement of income
and unrealized exchange gains are deferred until realized.

(b) Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are equity interests, which are held on a long-term basis for the purpose of the holding company’s business
activities.They are carried at a value no higher than their cost price less adjustments for impairment.

3. Administrative expense

Administrative expenses are primarily directors’ fees of CHF 2,455,679 (prior year CHF 2,587,289).

4. Taxes

The tax expense consists mainly of income and capital taxes.

5. Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries include a 57% interest in Zurich Group Holding with a carrying value of CHF 6,064,302,120 (prior year
CHF 6,064,302,120) and a 100% interest in Allied Zurich p.l.c., with a carrying value of CHF 4,595,865,096 (prior year CHF 4,595,865,096).
Allied Zurich p.l.c. holds a 43% interest in Zurich Group Holding. Additionally, Zurich Financial Services holds 49,000 shares of Zurich
Insurance Company with a carrying value of CHF 2,750,192 (prior year CHF 2,750,190).

6. Commitments and contingencies

Zurich Financial Services has provided an unlimited guarantee in support of various entities belonging to the Zurich Capital Markets
group of companies. In addition, Zurich Financial Services has agreed with the Superintendent of Financial Institutions, Canada, to provide
additional capital in case the applicable capital adequacy tests for the Canadian business are not met and to provide assistance in case
of liquidity issues.

Furthermore, Zurich Financial Services has entered into various guarantees and a support agreement for the benefit of its subsidiaries.
These contingencies amounted to CHF 319 million as of December 31, 2004 (CHF 413 million as of December 31, 2003).

Zurich Financial Services knows of no event that would require it to satisfy the guarantees or to take action under a support agreement.

7. Shareholders’ equity

Issued stock
At the Annual General Meeting of April 16, 2004, shareholders approved a share capital reduction in the form of a capital nominal
value reduction of each registered share from CHF 9 to CHF 6.50. As a result of this reduction, the share capital was reduced by
CHF 360,017,387.50 from CHF1,296,062,595 to a new total of CHF 936,045,207.50. In the previous year, shareholders approved,
at the Annual General Meeting of April 30, 2003, a share capital reduction in the form of a capital nominal value reduction of each
registered share from CHF10 to CHF 9. As a result of that reduction, the share capital was reduced by CHF144,006,955 from
CHF1,440,069,550 to CHF1,296,062,595.

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, Zurich Financial Services had 144,006,955 shares of CHF 6.50 par value and CHF 9 par value,
respectively, common stock issued and fully paid.

Authorized stock
Until June1, 2005, the Board of Zurich Financial Services is authorized to increase its share capital by an amount not exceeding
CHF 39,000,000 by issuing up to 6,000,000 fully paid registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 6.50 each. An increase in partial
amounts is permitted.The Board determines the date of issue of such new shares, the issue price, type of payment, conditions
for exercising pre-emptive rights, and the beginning of the dividend entitlement.The Board may issue such new shares by means of
a firm underwriting by a banking institution or syndicate with subsequent offer of those shares to the current shareholders.The
Board may allow the expiry of pre-emptive rights which have not been exercised, or it may place these rights as well as shares, the 
pre-emptive rights of which have not been exercised, at market conditions.

The Board is further authorized to restrict or withdraw the pre-emptive rights of shareholders and to allocate them to third-parties
if the shares are to be used: for the take-over of an enterprise, or parts of an enterprise or of participations or if issuing shares for the
financing including re-financing of such transactions; or for the purpose of expanding the scope of shareholders in connection with
the quotation of shares on foreign stock exchanges.
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Contingent stock
Capital market instruments and option rights to shareholders: The share capital of Zurich Financial Services may be increased by
an amount not exceeding CHF 35,631,882 by issuing up to 5,481,828 fully paid registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 6.50 each
(1) through the exercise of conversion and/or option rights which are granted in connection with the issuance of bonds or similar debt
instruments by Zurich Financial Services or one of its Group companies in national or international capital markets and/or (2) by the exercise
of option rights which are granted to the shareholders. When issuing bonds or similar debt instruments connected with conversion
and/or option rights, the pre-emptive rights of the shareholders will be excluded.The current owners of conversion and/or option rights
shall be entitled to subscribe for the new shares.The conversion and/or option conditions are to be determined by the Board.

The Board of Directors is authorized, when issuing bonds or similar debt instruments connected with conversion and/or option rights,
to restrict or withdraw the right of shareholders for advance subscription in cases where such bonds are issued for the financing or
re-financing of a takeover of an enterprise, of parts of an enterprise, or of participations. If the right for advance subscription is withdrawn
by the Board, the convertible bond or warrant issues are to be offered at market conditions (including standard dilution protection
provisions in accordance with market practice) and the new shares are issued at then current convertible bond or warrant issue conditions.
The conversion rights may be exercisable during a maximum of 10 years and option rights for a maximum of seven years from the time of the
respective issue.The conversion or option price or its calculation methodology shall be determined in accordance with market conditions,
whereby for shares of Zurich Financial Services the quoted share price is to be used as a basis.

Employee participation: The share capital may be increased by an amount not exceeding CHF 9,750,000 by issuing up to 1,500,000
fully paid registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 6.50 each to employees of Zurich Financial Services and Group companies.The pre-
emptive rights of the shareholders, as well as the right for advance subscription, are excluded.The issuance of shares or respective option
rights to employees shall be subject to one or more regulations to be issued by the Board of Directors and taking into account performance,
functions, levels of responsibility and criteria of profitability. Shares or option rights may be issued to the employees at a price lower than
that quoted on the stock exchange.

8. Reserve for treasury stock

This reserve fund corresponds to the purchase value of all Zurich Financial Services shares held by Group companies of Zurich Financial
Services as shown in the table below.

Number of Purchase Number of Purchase
shares value1 shares value1

2004 2004 2003 2003

Reserve for treasury shares

As of January1 (opening balance) 762,507 150,814 1,975,663 441,142

Additions during the year – – 163,993 28,388

Sales during the year (464,394) (72,415) (1,377,149) (316,776)

Decrease due to nominal value reduction of common stock – (1,164) – (1,940)

As of December 31 (closing balance) 298,113 77,235 762,507 150,814

Average purchase price of additions, in CHF – 173

Average selling price, in CHF 182 189
1 In CHF thousands.

9. Shareholders

The shares registered in the share ledger as of December 31, 2004, were owned by 128,655 shareholders of which 122,017 were private
individuals holding 22.0% of the registered shares (or 13.8% of all outstanding shares), 2,556 were foundations and pension funds holding
10.0% of the registered shares (or 6.3% of all outstanding shares), and 4,082 were other legal entities holding 68% of the registered
shares (or 42.6% of all outstanding shares).

According to the information available to us, Brandes Investment Partners L.P., San Diego, USA, represented an important shareholder
holding more than 5% and less than 10% of common stock as specified in article 663c of the Swiss Code of Obligations, on
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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Proposed/approved appropriation of available earnings
Zurich Financial Services Holding Company – Financial Statements

2004 2003

Registered shares eligible for dividends

Shares eligible as of February16, 2005 and February18, 2004, respectively 144,006,955 144,006,955

2004 2003
in CHF thousands (proposed) (approved)

Appropriation of available earnings as proposed by the Board of Directors

Net income 530,597 94,351

Balance brought forward 131,499 37,148

Available earnings 662,096 131,499

Dividend – –

Transfer to general legal reserve – –

Balance carried forward 662,096 131,499

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting to appropriate the available earnings in accordance with the table above.

No dividend is proposed to be paid out for 2004. For 2003, no dividend was paid either. Instead for 2003, the Board of Directors proposed
to repay CHF 2.50 of the nominal value of each registered share, as a result of a reduction of the nominal value from CHF 9 to CHF 6.50 per
registered share. This proposal was approved by the Annual General Meeting on April 16, 2004.

Proposed payout of nominal value reduction
The Board of Directors proposes to repay CHF 4.00 of the nominal value of each registered share, as a result of a reduction of the nominal
value from CHF 6.50 to CHF 2.50 per registered share. The proposed payout would reduce the share capital by CHF 576,027,820. The
proposed payout of the nominal value reduction of CHF 4.00 per each registered share is expected at the beginning of July, 2005, subject to
approval by the Annual General Meeting and subject to the fulfilment of the necessary requirements and the entry of the share capital
reduction in the Commercial Register of the Canton of Zurich.

Zurich, February16, 2005

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Zurich Financial Services

Lodewijk C. van Wachem
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Report of the statutory auditors
Zurich Financial Services Holding Company – Financial Statements

To the General Meeting of Zurich Financial Services, Zurich

As statutory auditors, we have audited the accounting records and the financial statements (statements of income, balance sheets and
notes on pages136 to139) of Zurich Financial Services for the year ended December 31, 2004.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional qualification and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards promulgated by the Swiss profession, which require that an audit be
planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. We
have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. We have also assessed the
accounting principles used, significant estimates made and the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the accounting records and financial statements and the proposed appropriation of available earnings (on page 140) comply
with Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation.

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

W Eriksen-Grundbacher C Stöckli

Zurich, February16, 2005
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Zurich Financial Services registered share data
Shareholder Information

Key indicators 12/31/04 12/31/03

Number of shares issued with a nominal value of CHF 6.501 and CHF 9.002, respectively 144,006,955 144,006,955

Number of dividend-bearing shares with a nominal value of CHF 6.501 and CHF 9.002, respectively 144,006,955 144,006,955

Market capitalization (in CHF millions at end of period) 27,304 25,633

Authorized stock, CHF 6.501 and CHF 9.002 nominal value, respectively, number of shares 6,000,000 6,000,000

Contingent stock, CHF 6.501 and CHF 9.002 nominal value, respectively, number of shares 6,981,828 6,981,828

in CHF 2004 2003

Payment of nominal value reduction per registered share 4.003 2.501

Basic earnings per share 22.34 19.00

Diluted earnings per share 22.18 18.86

Book value per share, as of December 31 167.31 154.27

Price year-end 189.60 178

Price year high 217.75 189.75

Price year low 163.50 91.50
1 Nominal value reduction of CHF 2.50 per registered share was effective as of June 30, 2004.The payment was made on July1, 2004.
2 Nominal value reduction of CHF1 per registered share was effective as of July14, 2003.
3 Proposed payment of nominal value reduction of CHF 4.00 per registered share in 2005.

Securities Custody Service

Zurich offers its shareholders the opportunity to deposit a range of Zurich Financial Services securities free of charge at SAG SIS
Aktienregister AG in Switzerland. The securities deposit regulations as well as the application form for a securities custody account can be
downloaded from SAG’s Web site: www.sag.ch.

Stock listings and security codes
Place Nature Reuters /Bloomberg Exchange

Zurich primary listing ZURN.VX/ZURN VX –

London secondary listing ZURNq.L /ZURN VX 1:1

US American Depositary Receipt (ADR) Program
Depositary Nature Reuters /Bloomberg Exchange

The Bank of New York ADR level I ZFSVY.PK/ZFSVY US 10:1

Identification numbers
Swiss Security Number (Valorennummer) 1107539

ISIN (International Securities Identification Number) CH0011075394

CUSIP 98982M107

U.S. ISIN US98982M071
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Zurich shareholders
The shares registered in the share ledger 
as of December 31, 2004, were owned by
128,655 shareholders:

In September 2002, Zurich announced a comprehensive action plan 
to improve the Group’s profitability and strengthen its balance sheet.
The figure depicts Zurich’s share price development since the launch of
the program.
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Financial calendar and contacts
Shareholder Information

Financial Calendar 2005 Investors’ Day April 7, 2005

Annual General Meeting 2005 April 19, 2005

Record Date Day before expected payment day.

Results Reporting for the
Three Months to March 31, 2005 May 19, 2005

Payout of nominal value reduction Expected to be at the beginning of July 2005, subject to approval 
by the Annual General Meeting of shareholders and subject to the
fulfilment of the necessary requirements and the entry of the share
capital reduction in the Commercial Register of the Canton of Zurich.

Investors’ Day June 30, 2005

Half Year Results Reporting 2005 August 18, 2005

Investors’ Day September29, 2005

Results Reporting for the
Nine Months to September 30, 2005 November16, 2005

Contacts Registered Office Zurich Financial Services
Mythenquai 2
8022 Zurich, Switzerland

Media Inquiries Corporate Communications, Media and Public Relations
Zurich Financial Services, Switzerland
Telephone: +41 (0)1 625 21 00
E-mail: media@zurich.com

Investor Inquiries Investor Relations, Zurich Financial Services, Switzerland
Telephone: +41 (0)1 625 22 99
E-mail: investor.relations@zurich.com

Share Register Services, Zurich Financial Services, Switzerland
Telephone: +41 (0)1 625 22 55
E-mail: shareholder.services@zurich.com

Corporate Citizenship/ Group Corporate Responsibility & Compliance
Responsibility Inquiries Zurich Financial Services, Switzerland

Telephone: +41 (0)1 625 28 74
E-mail: zurich.basics@zurich.com

Securities Custody Service Zurich Financial Services
Custody Accounts
c/o SAG SIS Aktienregister AG
P. O. Box
4601 Olten, Switzerland
Telephone: +41 (0) 62 311 61 45
Fax: +41 (0) 62 205 39 71
Web site: www.sag.ch

CDI Holder Inquiries Lloyds TSB Registrars
within the Zurich Financial The Causeway, Worthing
Services corporate nominee West Sussex, BN99 6DA, United Kingdom
service Nominee Service helpline: 0870 600 3970

Lloyds TSB share dealing helpline: 0870 242 4244
International: +44 121 415 7172
Hard of hearing (text phone, domestic): 0870 600 3915
Web site: www.shareview.co.uk

General CDI Inquiries CRESTCo Limited
33 Cannon Street
London EC4M 5SB, United Kingdom
CREST Service Desk: 0845 964 5648
International: +44 845 964 5648 or +44 20 7849 0199
Web site: www.crestco.co.uk

American Depositary Receipts Zurich Financial Services has an American Depositary Receipt program 
with The Bank of New York (BNY). 
For more information call BNY’s ADR Services Center in the USA 
+1-888-bny-adrs or outside the USA on +1-610-382-7836.
ADR holder assistance may also be obtained from BNY at 
www.adrbny.com.

The Annual Report 2004 is available on our Web site: www.zurich.com.
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Disclaimer & Cautionary Statement
Certain statements in this Annual Report are forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, statements that are predications
of or indicate future events, trends, plans or objectives. Forward-looking statements include statements regarding our targeted profit
improvement, return on equity targets, expense reductions, pricing conditions, dividend policy and underwriting claims improvements.
Undue reliance should not be placed on such statements because, by their nature, they are subject to known and unknown risks and
uncertainties and can be affected by other factors that could cause actual results and Zurich Financial Services’ plans and objectives to
differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward looking statements (or from past results). Factors such as (i) general
economic conditions and competitive factors, particularly in our key markets; (ii) performance of financial markets; (iii) levels of interest
rates and currency exchange rates; (iv) frequency, severity and development of insured claims events; (v) mortality and morbidity
experience; (vi) policy renewal and lapse rates; (vii) changes in laws and regulations and in the policies of regulators may have a direct
bearing on Zurich Financial Services’ results of operations and on whether Zurich Financial Services will achieve its targets. Zurich Financial
Services undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any of these forward-looking statements, whether to reflect new
information, future events or circumstances or otherwise.

It should be noted that past performance is not a guide to future performance.

Persons requiring advice should consult an independent adviser.

Zurich Financial Services is an insurance-based financial services provider with a global network
that focuses its activities on its key markets in North America and Europe.
Founded in 1872, Zurich is headquartered in Zurich, Switzerland. Zurich has offices in more than
50 countries and employs about 57,000 people.

The Annual Report is published in English, German and French. In the case of inconsistencies 
in the German and French translations, the English original version shall prevail.

Design by www.publicis.ch

Typesetting by NZZ Fretz AG, Switzerland

Printed end of February 2005 by St Ives Burrups Ltd., England

The paper used in this report is manufactured from pulp sourced from fully sustainable forests,
and has been produced without the use of elemental chlorine.
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Les principales positions de marché de la Zurich

2ème assureur dommages mondial pour les grandes 
entreprises1

4ème assureur dommages aux Etats-Unis 2

4ème assureur dommages en Europe 3

Amérique du Nord – positions de marché

2ème souscripteur d’assurances dommages 
multirisques pour les entreprises1

2ème assureur dans le domaine de la responsabilité 
de produits 2

3ème assureur dans les branches d'activités 
de particuliers1

Europe – positions de marché

2ème assureur dommages en Suisse1

3ème assureur vie en Suisse1

2ème assureur de produits «unit-linked» en Allemagne 2

4ème assureur dommages et vie en Allemagne 3

3ème assureur dommages au Royaume-Uni 4

4ème assureur domestique au Royaume-Uni 5

4ème assureur automobile au Royaume-Uni 5

Leader du marché dans les activités 
de programmes internationaux 6

Nous voulons devenir le principal groupe d’assurance

global sur les marchés d’assurance dommages et vie

que nous avons sélectionnés, dégageant constam-

ment des résultats de haut niveau en faveur de nos

actionnaires.

Ce faisant, nous allons créer de fortes relations avec

nos clients, nos agents et nos courtiers ainsi que des

opportunités de récompenser nos employés.

19 février

En 2003, la Zurich a dégagé un bénéfice net de

2,1 milliards de dollars (retraité depuis à 2,0 milliards

de dollars), après une perte de 3,4 milliards de

dollars (comprenant une provision spéciale de

3,5 milliards de dollars après impôts) en 2002.

11 mars

La Zurich nomme quatre banques pour diriger

une facilité de crédit renouvelable de 3 milliards de

dollars. L’intérêt du marché est élevé et la facilité

est sur-souscrite.

2 avril

La Zurich renforce sa direction stratégique en vue de

générer une croissance durable et rentable. La Zurich

se concentre principalement sur l’assurance dom-

mages et l’assurance vie et possède un portefeuille

diversifié d’activités dans les secteurs grandes entre-

prises, petites et moyennes entreprises et particuliers

ainsi que dans des régions géographiques.

16 avril

L’Assemblée générale annuelle de la Zurich approuve

une réduction de la valeur nominale de ses

actions, débouchant sur le paiement aux actionnaires

de 2,50 francs suisses par action nominative.

19 mai

La Zurich annonce un bénéfice net de 702 millions

de dollars pour les trois premiers mois de 2004

(retraité depuis à 730 millions de dollars).

26 juillet

La Zurich signe un accord pour outsourcer la totalité

de ses applications informatiques aux Etats-Unis,

au Royaume-Uni, en Suisse et en Allemagne auprès

de Computer Sciences Corporation (CSC).

13 août

L’ouragan Charley touche la Floride, déclenchant

le début de six semaines de tempêtes aux Etats-Unis

et aux Caraïbes, avec les ouragans Frances, Ivan

et Jeanne.

19 août

Au premier semestre 2004, la Zurich a pratiquement

doublé son bénéfice net à 1.448 millions de dollars.

3 septembre

La Zurich annonce son intention de lever un emprunt

prioritaire à taux fixe sur l’euromarché à des fins

de refinancement et pour des objectifs généraux d’en-

treprise. La transaction a permis de lever 1 milliard

d’euros et a été sur-souscrite plus de trois fois.

17 novembre

Une forte croissance du bénéfice net à 1.902 millions

de dollars est annoncée pour les neuf premiers

mois de 2004, en dépit de la pire saison d’ouragans

depuis plus d’un siècle.

26 décembre

Suite à un fort tremblement de terre dans l’Océan

Indien, un tsunami désastreux se répand dans le

sud de l’Asie, tuant environ 300.000 personnes. La

Zurich lance un programme de don de 1 million de

dollars en faveur des pays affectés par la catastrophe

et double les contributions charitables fournies par

des milliers de ses employés jusqu’à concurrrence de

1 million de dollars.

Agence de notation Notation de solidité financière Perspective de notation

A.M. Best A (excellent) stable

Fitch Ratings A positive

Moody’s A2 positive

Standard & Poor’s A+ stable

Pour toute information supplémentaire, veuillez consulter notre site Web www.zurich.com, lien investor relations.

Une notation de solidité financière est une évaluation
par un tiers de la sécurité financière d’une société
d’assurance, basée sur sa capacité à satisfaire aux

sinistres de ses preneurs d’assurance. Au 31 décem-
bre 2004, la Zurich avait reçu les notations suivantes:

Exercice 2004

Nos aspirations Principales positions de marché

Notations de solidité financière

Contacts

1 sur la base des primes émises brutes 2003
Source: recherches et analyses internes de la Zurich

2 y compris Farmers Exchanges*, sur la base des primes émises 
nettes 2003
Source: A.M. Best

3 sur la base des primes émises brutes 2003
Source: données provenant de compagnies similaires

1 y compris Farmers Exchanges*, sur la base des primes émises, 
affaires directes 2003
Source: A.M. Best

2 y compris Farmers Exchanges*, sur la base des primes émises 
nettes 2003
Source: A.M. Best

*“Farmers Exchanges” fait référence à trois assureurs réciproques,
à leurs succursales et à leurs filiales opérant essentiellement
sous la marque Farmers à laquelle nous fournissons des services 
de gestion mais que nous ne possédons pas.

1 sur la base des primes émises, affaires directes 2003
Source: Office fédéral des assurances privées

2 sur la base des primes des nouvelles affaires 2003
Source: Tillinghast

3 sur la base des primes émises brutes 2003
Source: Kölner Institut für Versicherungsinformation

4 sur la base des primes acquises nettes 2003 
Source: Moody’s Insurance Statistical Supplement

5 sur la base des primes acquises brutes 2003
Source: Datamonitor UK Insurance Reports 2003

6 Source: recherches et analyses internes de la Zurich
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The following table presents the summarized consolidated results of the Group for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the financial positions as of December 31, 2004 and 2003.The 2003
amounts have been restated following the adoption of a new accounting standard in 2004. Certain
prior-year balances have also been reclassified to conform to the 2004 presentation.

Consolidated operating statements
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change

Gross written premiums and policy fees 49,304 48,805 1%

Business operating profit 3,143 2,316 36%

Net income 2,587 2,009 29%

Consolidated balance sheets
in USD millions, as of December 31

Total Group investments 191,100 175,967 9%

Insurance reserves, gross 246,162 223,418 10%

Total shareholders’ equity 22,181 18,934 17%

General Insurance key performance indicators
for the years ended December 31

Business operating profit (in USD millions) 1,380 2,146 (36%)

Combined ratio 101.6% 97.9% (3.7 pts)

Life Insurance key performance indicators
for the years ended December 31

Business operating profit (in USD millions) 1,063 856 24%

New business profit margin (as % of APE) 11.4% 9.0% 2.4 pts

Embedded value operating return, after tax 10.8% 10.5% 0.3 pts

Return on common stockholder equity
for the years ended December 31

Return on equity 13.3% 12.1% 1.2 pts

Business operating profit (after tax) return on equity 11.5% 9.8% 1.7 pts

Per share data
for the years ended December 31

Diluted earnings per share (in CHF) 22.18 18.86 18%

Financial Highlights
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in USD millions, for the years ended December 31
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in %, for the years ended December 31
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